#### Washington University in St. Louis

## Washington University Open Scholarship

Arts & Sciences Electronic Theses and Dissertations

Arts & Sciences

4-3-2024

## Interleukin-1 $\alpha$ and Leukemia Inhibitory Factor Promote Cancer-Induced Extramedullary Hematopoiesis

Derek Arthur George Barisas Washington University in St. Louis

Follow this and additional works at: https://openscholarship.wustl.edu/art\_sci\_etds

#### **Recommended Citation**

Barisas, Derek Arthur George, "Interleukin-1α and Leukemia Inhibitory Factor Promote Cancer-Induced Extramedullary Hematopoiesis" (2024). *Arts & Sciences Electronic Theses and Dissertations*. 3005. https://openscholarship.wustl.edu/art\_sci\_etds/3005

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Arts & Sciences at Washington University Open Scholarship. It has been accepted for inclusion in Arts & Sciences Electronic Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Washington University Open Scholarship. For more information, please contact digital@wumail.wustl.edu.

#### WASHINGTON UNIVERSITY IN ST. LOUIS

Division of Biology and Biomedical Sciences Immunology

Dissertation Examination Committee: Kyunghee Choi, Chairperson David DeNardo Brian Edelson Daniel Link Gwendalyn Randolph

Interleukin-1a and Leukemia Inhibitory Factor Promote Cancer-Induced Extramedullary Hematopoiesis

by

Derek A. G. Barisas

A dissertation presented to Washington University in St. Louis in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

> May 2024 St. Louis, Missouri

© 2024, Derek A. G. Barisas

# **Table of Contents**

| List of F | igures  | v   |
|-----------|---|-----|
| Acknow    | ledgments   | vii |
| Abstract  |   | ix  |
| Chapter   | 1: Introduction   | 1   |
| 1.1       | Hematopoiesis   | 1   |
| 1.1.1     | History of the study of hematopoiesis                                   | 1   |
| 1.1.2     | Evolution of mammalian hematopoiesis                                    | 3   |
| 1.1.3     | Development of hematopoiesis across mammalian life stages               | 4   |
| 1.1.4     | Hematopoietic stem cell dynamics  | 5   |
| 1.1.5     | Myelopoiesis in homeostasis and disease                                 | 6   |
| 1.1.6     | Mobilization of hematopoietic stem and precursor cells                  | 7   |
| 1.1.7     | Bone marrow hematopoietic niche   | 8   |
| 1.1.8     | Extramedullary hematopoiesis  | 10  |
| 1.1.9     | Extramedullary hematopoietic niches                                     | 11  |
| 1.2       | Organs of the hematopoietic system                                      | 12  |
| 1.2.1     | Bone  | 12  |
| 1.2.2     | Spleen  | 14  |
| 1.3       | Cytokines   | 15  |
| 1.3.1     | IL-1α and the IL-1 family   | 15  |
| 1.3.2     | Tumor necrosis factor alpha   | 16  |
| 1.3.3     | Leukemia inhibitory factor  | 17  |
| 1.3.4     | KIT ligand  | 18  |
| 1.3.5     | Granulocyte colony stimulating factor                                   | 19  |
| 1.4       | Cancer  | 19  |
| 1.4.1     | Hallmarks of Cancer   | 20  |
| 1.4.2     | Immune environment of cancer  | 20  |
| 1.4.3     | MMTV-PyMT model of breast cancer  | 21  |
| 1.6       | Summary   | 22  |
| Chapter   | 2: Interleukin-1a and Leukemia Inhibitory Factor Promote Cancer-Induced |     |
| Extrame   | dullary Hematopoiesis   | 23  |

| 2   | .1             | Acknowledgements  | . 23 |
|-----|----------------|---|------|
| 2   | .2             | Abstract  | . 24 |
| 2   | .3             | Introduction  | . 25 |
| 2   | .4             | Materials and Methods   | . 27 |
|     | 2.4.1          | Animals   | 27   |
|     | 2.4.2          | Mouse tumor models  | 27   |
|     | 2.4.3          | Flow cytometry  | 28   |
|     | 2.4.4          | Colony forming assay  | 29   |
|     | 2.4.5          | Bone marrow transplant  | 29   |
|     | 2.4.6          | Splenectomy   | 30   |
|     | 2.4.7          | Single cell RNA-sequencing and analysis   | 30   |
|     | 2.4.8          | Magnetic bead isolation and quantitative reverse transcriptase analysis                     | 31   |
|     | 2.4.9          | ELISA and multiplex protein assay   | 32   |
|     | 2.4.1          | In-vivo cytokine injection  | 33   |
|     | 2.4.1          | CRISPR-Cas9 gene deletion in PyMT-B6  | 33   |
|     | 2.4.12         | 2 Splenic stromal cell isolation, culture, and co-culture with hematopoietic progenitors    | 33   |
|     | 2.4.1          | 3 Lentiviral particle production and administration   | 34   |
|     | 2.4.14         | Immunofluorescence, bright-field, and confocal Microscopy                                   | 35   |
|     | 2.4.1          | 5 Human tissue datasets and xCell analysis  | 36   |
|     | 2.4.1          | 6 Quantification and statistical analysis   | 37   |
|     | 2.4.1          | 7 Data sharing statement  | 37   |
| 2   | .5             | Results   | . 38 |
|     | 2.5.1<br>myele | Murine cancer models have expanded splenic hematopoiesis, often with bias towards oppoiesis | 38   |
|     | 2.5.2          | HSPCs conducting EMH express an inflammatory gene profile                                   | 42   |
|     | 2.5.3          | PyMT-B6-produced IL-1α acts on HSPCs to induce TNFα   | 47   |
|     | 2.5.3          | TNFα induces EMH through splenic niche cells  | 49   |
|     | 2.5.4          | Tumor-derived Leukemia Inhibitory Factor activates splenic EMH                              | 54   |
|     | 2.5.5          | Leukemia Inhibitory Factor induces splenic stromal niche cell proliferation                 | 57   |
|     | 2.5.6          | IL-1 $\alpha$ and LIF are co-expressed in human cancers and have a cooperative myelopoietic |      |
|     | respo          | nse in mice   | 61   |
| 2   | .6             | Discussion  | . 65 |
| Cha | apter          | 3: Conclusion and future directions   | . 69 |

| bliography | 89 |
|------------|----|
|------------|----|

# **List of Figures**

| Figure 2.1: Genetic PyMT tumors induce splenic hematopoiesis  |
|---|
| Figure 2.2: Heterotopic PyMT-B6 tumors induce splenic hematopoiesis40   |
| Figure 2.3: Expansion of splenic hematopoiesis is required for neutrophilia in PyMT-B641  |
| Figure 2.4: Heterotopic 1956 and LLC tumors induce splenic hematopoiesis  |
| Figure 2.5: c-Kit+Sca-1+CD34+ HSPCs can be found within the bone marrow and spleen of mice with or without PyMT-B6 tumors                           |
| Figure 2.6: HSPCs from tumor-bearing mice display an inflammatory gene signature  |
| Figure 2.7: Inflammatory gene profile in HSPCs from tumor-bearing mice can be validated by RT-qPCR and flow cytometry                               |
| Figure 2.8: PyMT-B6 tumors produce IL-1a and HSPCs express the IL-1 receptor  |
| Figure 2.9: IL-1α is sufficient to activate EMH and TNFα production in splenic HSPCs  |
| Figure 2.10: Tumor-derived IL-1α is required for increased splenic myelopoiesis<br>and TNFα production in splenic HSPCs                             |
| Figure 2.11: Tumor-derived IL-1a activates TNFa production in splenic HSPCs   |
| Figure 2.12: Expression patterns of bone marrow niche cells<br>by single cell RNA-sequencing  |
| Figure 2.13: Identification of splenic stromal cells analogous to bone marrow niche populations that can maintain hematopoietic cells in co-culture |
| Figure 2.14: Hematopoietic cells in co-culture with splenic stromal cells maintain progenitor status  |
| Figure 2.15: TNFα activates stromal cells in the spleen to induce EMH   |
| Figure 2.16: Serum cytokine profiling of MMTV-PyMT tumor bearing mice identifies LIF overexpression   |
| Figure 2.17: Tumor-produced Leukemia Inhibitory Factor induces EMH  |
| Figure 2.18: <i>Lif</i> deletion in PyMT-B6 cells reduces tumor induced EMH56   |

| Figure 2.19: LIF receptor is expressed in stromal and endothelial cells<br>and is required in stromal cells for splenic hematopoiesis |
|---|
| Figure 2.20 LIF directly expands the splenic niche by inducing niche cell proliferation60   |
| Figure 2.21 LIF also acts on locally to expand stromal cells more than endothelium61  |
| Figure 2.22 IL-1A and LIF co-expression is common in human tumor types  |
| Figure 2.23 Human tumors co-express LIF and IL-1α which synergize in mouse models to potentiate EMH                                   |

## **Acknowledgments**

Many people have a hand in helping me get to this place. To every one of you, I am grateful. Thank you.

To my family, you were there from the start and are integral to who I am today. Mom and Dad, your wisdom, love, and generosity seem to know no end. Catherine and Elizabeth, you both are my constant companions. You keep me humble and put up with my bullshit just far enough.

Christine, you are the love of my life and my chosen family. You make every part of me better, even or maybe even especially my science. Marina and Bill, you have raised a wonderful person and I am psyched to become part of your family too.

To my friends near and far, many fine memories with you so far and with many more to follow. Stefan, you have been my friend since we were knee high and have always pushed me to reach beyond my comfort zone. Jack, your effortless mystery and literary bend helped me develop a wider intellectual interest.

To KC, you are a great mentor, and I cannot express how crucial joining your lab was in making me the kind of scientist that I want to be. To my thesis committee, Drs. Link, DeNardo, Edelson, and Randolph, thank you for your insight and guidance. To Dr. Dean Metcalfe, rest in peace, though we have never met your papers on LIF biology make all of my work possible.

To all of my educators, colleagues, and mentors, thank you for challenging me to become a better learner, thinker, and doer.

Derek A. G. Barisas

Washington University in St. Louis May 2024 Dedicated to my love, Christine Horan

#### ABSTRACT OF THE DISSERTATION

#### Interleukin-1a and Leukemia Inhibitory Factor Promote Cancer-Induced Extramedullary

Hematopoiesis

by

Derek Arthur George Barisas

Doctor of Philosophy in Biology and Biomedical Sciences

Immunology

Washington University in St. Louis, 2024

Professor Kyunghee Choi, Chairperson

Hematopoiesis, the formation of blood and immune cells from stem and progenitor cells, is a central biological process that alters in response to the organismal state. Many cytokines that accompany diseases have an impact on the rate, cellular output, and underlying mechanisms of hematopoiesis. Deepening our understanding of the alterations to hematopoiesis that occur with disease may offer therapeutics that normalize hematopoiesis and promote health. One component of hematopoiesis that is often overlooked are the non-hematopoietic cells of the stem cell niche that have crucial roles in affecting the parameters of hematopoiesis. While progress in understanding the hematopoietic stem cell niche during homeostasis has been made, how niche interactions change during pathologic conditions is less well understood. A central focus of my graduate studies has been to illuminate the interaction between pathological states, in particular solid tumors, and the hematopoietic niche.

In this dissertation, I have examined the relationship between hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells (HSPCs) and their splenic niche during solid tumor-induced extramedullary hematopoiesis (EMH). In this work, I identify that multiple models of murine solid tumors expand the splenic HSPC pool. Further studies of the PyMT-B6 transplantation model of breast cancer identified an inflammatory gene signature characterized by TNF $\alpha$  expression in extramedullary HSPCs in the presence of tumor, and I show a role for IL-1 $\alpha$  derived from the tumor itself in producing this gene signature. To understand the impact of HSPC-produced TNF $\alpha$ , I developed a culture system for splenic stromal niche cells and demonstrate their activation in response to TNF $\alpha$ . Additionally, I demonstrate the expansion of the stromal EMH niche through tumor-derived Leukemia Inhibitory Factor (LIF) and its induction of proliferation within the splenic stromal niche. Using public data of human tissue RNA expression, with or without tumor, I show that multiple human cancer types share upregulation of both IL-1 $\alpha$  and LIF. Finally, I show that the presence of both IL-1 $\alpha$  and LIF has a combinatorial activation of EMH.

Together, the data presented in this dissertation centers the spleen as a hub of altered hematopoiesis during pathology and identifies two cytokine targets produced by solid tumor that modulate the state of the splenic niche to facilitate expansion of hematopoiesis to the spleen. In the future, this research may lay the groundwork for new avenues of niche-directed therapies and further exploration of EMH accompanying inflammatory pathologies.

## **Chapter 1: Introduction**

## 1.1 Hematopoiesis

Hematopoiesis is the continuous process by which cells of the blood and immune systems are produced by the actions of hematopoietic stem cells. Thought to be organized similarly to an elevated pool of water draining into a branching system of rivers, hematopoietic stem cells maintain a pool of quiescent and activated stem cells that produce more differentiated and committed progenitor cells. These progenitors can continue to self-renew and differentiate until terminally differentiated cells are produced. The list of cellular or subcellular derived from hematopoiesis is long and growing, but famously includes red blood cells, platelets, T-cell lineages, B-cell lineages, monocyte lineages, and neutrophils. Working behind this system of hematopoietic stem cells are the actions of supporting cells known as the stem cell niche. The constitutive cells of the niche are drawn from both hematopoietic and non-hematopoietic lineages and have unique but sometimes overlapping roles. An understanding of the blood, immune, and hematopoietic system is central to understanding many clinically relevant pathologies.

#### **1.1.1** History of the study of hematopoiesis

The origins of an understanding that a stem cell based system of hematopoiesis exists can be traced back to early studies on the shared blood types of co-placental fraternal twins and the potential for skin grafts between twins (1, 2). Continued study of these mechanisms led to tolerance induction in mice by hematopoietic cell infusions and the 1960 Nobel Prize in Medicine (3). Efforts to understand and treat radiation syndrome in light of potential deaths from hematopoietic failure in civilians from Nagasaki and Hiroshima drove the development of hematopoietic cell transplantation (4). This eventually drove the understanding that transplantation of bone marrow containing matching major histocompatibility complexes allowed the immune acceptance of skin grafts (5). Following the development of bone marrow chimeras was also the potentially the first report of graft-versus-host disease (5). Two scientists, Till and McCulloch, pioneered the modern study of the hematopoietic stem cells with a series of observations such as the clonal production of mixed hematopoietic progeny and selected self-renewal capacity (6). In the process of looking for the identity of hematopoietic stem cells by developing assays for different blood lineages, stromal cell co-cultures systems capable of supporting hematopoiesis were developed (7, 8). These co-culture systems develop contemporaneously with the first discussion of the hematopoietic stem cell niche (9). The expansion of monoclonal antibodies against leukocyte antigens helped define fully differentiated immune cells. When combined with assay systems for development of specific lineages, it was determined that precursors lacked some of the markers of their differentiated progeny, which in mouse cells would later be defined as the lineage panel (10). Conversely, in mice, the marker Sca-1 was able to segregate progenitor cells possessing all clonogenic potentials into the positive population (11). Defining mouse hematopoietic stem cells as Sca-1 positive was later followed by identification of c-KIT as a marker for hematopoietic stem cells (12). In humans, this was parallel by the identification of CD34+ marrows cell as capable of reconstituting the hematopoietic system of lethally irradiated baboons (13). Additionally, IL-7 receptor positive cells were found to produce all lymphoid fates while IL-7 receptor negative cells produced only myeloerythroid fates (14, 15). These historic scientific developments form the basis of study for my research and others across the field of hematopoiesis.

#### **1.1.2** Evolution of mammalian hematopoiesis

Early hematopoietic systems began with hemocytoblasts in coelomic invertebrates that were capable of producing multiple cell types. In fact, several key mammalian hematopoietic transcription factors, Gata, Fog, and Runx, share orthologues with species as distantly related as Drosophilia and co-ordinate the production of phagocytic plasmatocytes, immunometabolic granulocytes, and red blood cells (16). Invertebrates phylogenetically related to vertebrates, the cephalochordates, potentially generate their hematopoietic cells in an aorta-gonad-mesonephroslike region but lack a closed circulatory system (17). The evolution of the hematopoietic system is thought to be closely linked to the development of a closed circulatory system and endothelial cell lineages at the evolutionary boundary between invertebrate and vertebrate species (18). In some invertebrate groups, a specialized blood cell, the amoebocyte, lines myoepithelial-based, open circulatory systems (18). This cell is hypothesized to have gained a more epithelial morphology consisting of the ability to secrete basement membrane proteins and intercellular junctions to begin the transition to a true endothelial cell (18). This evolutionary linkage between the hematopoietic and endothelial system forms an important developmental connection that is indicated by identification of the bipotent hematopoietic/endothelial hemangioblast (19). Tunicates, the most closely related invertebrate to vertebrates, have myeloid cells and graft-resisting cytotoxic cells, potentially similar to NK cells (20). Jawless chordates, in particular the lamprey, begin to strongly resemble mammalian immune system with their circulating myeloid, erythroid, and lymphoid lineages and their capability to produce antibodies, develop immunologic memory, and reject allografts (21). Furthermore, the lymphoid compartment of lampreys has three antigen receptors that are individually expressed on cells resembling mammalian B-cells,  $\alpha\beta$ -T-, and  $\gamma\delta$ -T-cells (22). Cartilaginous fish, including sharks, have the first phylogenetic instance of a spleen which also

functions as the major hematopoietic organ of the adult animal (23, 24). In bony fishes, as modeled by the zebrafish, hematopoiesis begins to undergo developmental waves (21). These steps of added complexity to the process of hematopoiesis mirror the evolutionary development of the animals they are found within.

#### 1.1.3 Development of hematopoiesis across mammalian life stages

Mouse hematopoiesis reaches its mature adult state through three developmental waves. In the first wave, hematopoietic cells develop initially in the blood islands of the yolk sac around embryonic day 6.5-7 and have erythoid, macrophage, and megakaryocyte potential (25-28). Only erythroid potential is present in the yolk sac on embryonic days 7.5-8.5 (26). On embryonic day 8.5, the second wave of hematopoiesis begins with endothelial-to-hematopoietic transformation of yolk sac vascular beds into erythromyeloid progenitors (29-33). This wave gives rise to tissueresident macrophage progeny that are maintained by self-renewal throughout life (34-38). The final wave is the definitive wave of hematopoiesis beginning on embryonic day 9.5 from endothelial-to-hematopoietic transition of cells near the dorsal aorta and contains the first multipotent progenitors capable of producing lymphocytes (39-44). Concurrent with the development of the definitive hematopoietic stem cell line is the formation of a recognizable stromal niche in aorta-gonad-mesonephros (45). Some lineages of lymphoid cells are only produced during embryonic development (46-48). Following development of hematopoietic stem cells, they then migrate to the fetal liver and continue to proliferate and mature (49). Stromal cells of the fetal liver play an important role in maintaining hematopoietic stem cells in this environment (45). The fetal spleen begins to support hematopoietic progenitors as early as embryonic day 12.5 with definitive hematopoietic stem cells arriving on embryonic day 15.5 following the decline of the fetal liver (50, 51). The bone marrow is seeded by hematopoietic stem cells beginning around embryonic day 17.5 (52). Splenic hematopoiesis continues under homeostasis until 2 weeks after birth when only B-cell and erythrocyte development remains (53, 54). An important lesson from understanding developmental hematopoiesis is that the type of cells produced by and the location of hematopoiesis can undergo rapid and dramatic shifts and is accompanied by changes in the surrounding niche environment.

#### 1.1.4 Hematopoietic stem cell dynamics

My preferred model of hematopoietic stem cell differentiation is a continuous, hierarchical model whereby quiescent stem cells can activate before potentially undergoing incremental steps of differentiation with the limited self-renewal present along the way (55, 56). This model of hematopoiesis has emerged coincidentally with studies using novel single cell RNA-sequencing technology where, contrary to previous models and techniques, obvious cell type boundaries have not been identified (57). At the top of this hierarchy is the quiescent hematopoietic stem cell. Quiescence is the process by which cells can remove themselves from the cell cycle (58). For hematopoietic stem cells, this pool of quiescent cells protects the hematopoietic system from genotoxic insults, viral infections, and progressive transformation by long-term replication while providing a safe haven of cells to re-establish hematopoiesis if required (59). These quiescent cells can identified within the pool of hematopoietic progenitors by the presence or absence of surface markers. The marker EPCR is a common positive selection marker for the quiescent hematopoietic stem cell population (60, 61). Many internal regulators are important for the maintenance of quiescence (59). One recently identified factor with profound effects in controlling quiescence is Hepatic Leukemia Factor (62). The process of transitioning between states of activation and quiescence is a highly regulated process influenced by internal and external factors acting on the cells. In particular, the hematopoietic niche has been shown to influence the activation state of

hematopoietic stem cells. One niche factor involved in enforcing quiescence is CXCL12 (63). One factor that has been identified to enforce activation during recovery from chemical injury to hematopoiesis is TGF $\beta$  (64). Upon activation, hematopoietic stem cells change their surface phenotype. Previous work has shown that CD34 is an activation marker for hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells. Indeed, research shows that murine CD34- cells becomes CD34+ upon cytokine activation or culture, CD34+ cells have long-term engraftment potential, and CD34+ cells become CD34- once engraftment has completed (65, 66). Additionally, expression of CD48 is recognized as a marker of activated stem cells (67, 68). However, discussion of surface markers must be accompanied by an understanding that these states are often reactive to environmental changes (69). Understanding the dynamics of the hematopoietic stem cell provides a foundation for understanding how it can differ between states of homeostasis and pathology.

#### 1.1.5 Myelopoiesis in homeostasis and disease

The production of myeloid lineage cells, predominantly neutrophils and monocytes, from hematopoietic stem cells is a process that occurs during homeostasis but is also highly reactive to the organismal state (70, 71). The development of myeloid cells is a complex balance of select transcription factors throughout differentiation space (72). The list of transcription factors favoring myeloid differentiation include PU.1, CCAAT/enhancer binding proteins (C/EBP $\alpha$ , C/EBP $\beta$  and C/EBP $\epsilon$ ), growth-factor independent 1 (GFI1), and interferon-regulatory factor 8 (IRF8) (73-78). At the intersection of the hematopoietic stem cell and myeloid differentiation is PU.1 followed by IRF8 delineating monocyte lineage and C/EBP $\alpha$  delineating neutrophil lineage (73, 74, 78). In times of organismal stress, the nature of factors driving myelopoietic differentiation can be altered. For instance, mice lacking *Cebpb* maintain normal granulocytopoiesis at homeostasis but fail to engage emergency granulocytopoiesis during challenge (79). Cytokine factors can stimulate the

increased production of myeloid cells and include G-CSF, GM-CSF, M-CSF, IL-1, and IL-27 (80-84). Accompanying the ability of myelopoiesis to be expanded, changes to the cytokine milieu also impact the cellular products of myelopoieis. Most prominently is the production of an illdefined class of myeloid cells associated with immunosuppressive activity, the myeloid-derived suppressor cell (85). These cells have attained a central role in modulating the immune microenvironment of solid tumors through their promotion of angiogenesis, metastasis, and reduced responsiveness to immune checkpoint blockade (86-88). One major question regarding myeloid-derived suppressor cells is how they develop. Current thought implicates many factors required for stimulating emergency granulocytopoiesis along with a second factor to direct their activation state towards an immunoregulatory phenotype (89). Two particularly important activation signaling pathways are NF-kB and STAT1. Factors implicated in inducing immunosuppressive activity through NF- $\kappa$ B are TNF $\alpha$ , IL-1 $\beta$ , and Toll-like receptor ligands while IFNy is most commonly linked to STAT1 activation (90, 91). With a central role in both preventing and promoting disease, myelopoiesis is an important process with potential therapeutic implications.

#### **1.1.6** Mobilization of hematopoietic stem and precursor cells

At homeostasis, hematopoietic stem and precursor cells are mobilized into the peripheral blood in small number and following the action of certain factors, this mobilization is able to be increased dramatically (92). Clinically, the ability to mobilize stem cells has been a boon for harvesting stem cells for transplantation (93). The most prominent inducers of stem cell mobilization are G-CSF, known clinically as filgrastim, and a CXCR4 inhibitor, plerixafor. In addition to its myelopoietic effects, G-CSF is thought to mobilize stem cells from the bone marrow by attenuating adhesions to the niche through protease dependent and independent mechanisms (94-99). Plerixafor, which

inhibits CXCL12-mediated retention and quiescence, was shown to increase stem cell mobilization by 50% in combination with G-CSF when compared to G-CSF alone (*100*). Other clinically utilized stem cell mobilizers include GM-CSF and KIT ligand (*93*). Additionally, there exist several more experimental mobilization agents. CXCR2 ligands, including CXCL1 and CXCL2, have long been recognized for their mobilization capability (*101*). Combining anti-VLA4 agents with CXCR2 ligands has shown to increase efficacy in mobilizing hematopoietic stem cells (*102*). What is of particular interest regarding mobilizing hematopoietic stem cells is the ways in which counteracting the actions of the bone marrow niche are important for this process.

#### 1.1.7 Bone marrow hematopoietic niche

The bone marrow hematopoietic stem cell niche is a complex microanatomical environment that fosters the differentiation and self-renewal of hematopoietic stem cells while also directing their response to organismal changes (*103, 104*). While many cells have been implicated as possessing niche function, here we will discuss perivascular stromal cells, endothelial cells, sympathetic nerves, and macrophages. Pre-eminent within the bone marrow niche are a cell type known as perivascular stromal cells, mesenchymal stem cells, or osteoblast precursor cells. Often treated as multiple distinct cell types, here they will be treated singularly as modern techniques do not support their separation. What makes these cells stand above other constituents of the bone marrow niche is their expression of both CXCL12 and KIT ligand (*63, 105*). These mesenchymal stem cells in the bone marrow are most commonly marked by leptin receptor, nestin, Mx1, Prx1, Osx, PDGFR $\alpha$ , or CD51 (*106-108*). Initial studies also identified osteoblasts as critical components of the niche (*109, 110*). However, when CXCL12 or KIT ligand was deleted from mature osteoblasts, no significant changes to hematopoietic lineages were observed (*105, 108, 111*). This likely reflects the fact that mesenchymal stem cells of the bone are well recognized as being capable of

differentiating into osteoblasts in vitro and have been misconstrued as representing mature osteoblasts in early studies (112). In fact under the proper culture conditions, mesenchymal stem cells are capable of maintaining hematopoietic stem cells in vitro (106, 107). Endothelial cells of the bone marrow contribute multiple niche factors including E-selectin, basic FGF, DLL1, IGFBP2, angiopoietin 1, DHH, and EGF (113-118). Within the bone marrow, the vascular niche is thought to be split into an arteriolar and a sinusoidal-megakaryocyte component. The arteriolar niche was first identified as the preferential localization of quiescent hematopoietic stem cells in the endosteal region of the bone marrow (119). In addition to the endothelial cells and mesenchymal stem cells, the arteriolar niche include sympathetic neurons and nonmyelinating Schwann cells, each with their own niche contribution. Sympathetic neurons alter CXCL12, angiopoietin 1, KIT ligand, and VCAM-1 expression of mesenchymal stem cells through β3adrenergic receptor signaling and thus enhance mobilization (120, 121). Schwann cells contribute activated TGFB, a regulator of hematopoietic stem cell quiescence (122, 123). The venous sinusoidal niche, in addition to the endothelial and mesenchymal stem cell components, is also defined by the presence of megakaryocytes that dampen hematopoietic stem cell proliferation through CXCL4 and TGFβ but also promote recovery after radioablation through FGF1 (124-127). Macrophages also have a niche function through their regulation of CXCL12 expression on mesenchymal stem cells (128, 129). The bone marrow niche also responds to a variety of signals including circadian rhythms, prostaglandins, pathogen-associated molecular patterns, and hormones (120, 130-133). A cruel irony of the bone marrow niche is that in a model of primary myelofibrosis, overgrowth of mesenchymal stem cells closes the marrow space for hematopoietic cells (134). When taken together the components of the bone marrow niche supply many factors,

often in conflict with each other, that react to the organismal state to maintain continued hematopoietic function.

#### **1.1.8 Extramedullary hematopoiesis**

For this document, extramedullary hematopoiesis is the expansion of hematopoietic potential to an organ space outside of the bone marrow in a mature animal and in response to altered organismal state. For instance, this definition excludes discussion of hematopoiesis occurring in organs like the thymus at homeostasis and in any organ during development. Three general circumstances surround the development of extramedullary hematopoiesis: (1) trapping of proliferative hematopoietic progenitors in the spleen during hyposplenism; (2) impairment hematopoietic capacity in the bone marrow due to damage or myelophthisis; or (3) abnormal levels of circulating factors with extramedullary hematopoietic capabilities (135). The most common organs for extramedullary hematopoiesis are the spleen, liver, and lymph nodes, but organs as diverse as the skin, the pleura, the adrenal gland, and the pancreas have reports of internal extramedullary hematopoiesis (136-138). Clinically, the majority of non-hepatosplenic instances of extramedullary hematopoiesis present with symptoms (139). For factor-induced extramedullary hematopoiesis, hematopoiesis active cytokines and pathogen-associated molecular patterns including G-CSF, GM-CSF, IL-3, and IL-6-sIL-6R complexes, and lipopolysaccharide and Pam3CSK4, respectively, have identified roles in stimulating extramedullary hematopoiesis (140-143). Some instances of extramedullary hematopoiesis induced by these factors are remarkable. Human IL-3 injected cutaneously into cynomolgus monkeys was reported as inducing cutaneous hematopoiesis with trilineage potential at the injection site (143). A patient was reported as having trilineage cutaneous hematopoiesis following G-CSF therapy to treat myelofibrosis (144). However, one should be cautious in avoiding the assumption that extramedullary hematopoiesis

copies all aspects of bone marrow hematopoiesis. Extramedullary hematopoiesis seems to occur in humans as a result of a loss of hematopoietic capacity in the bone marrow. This comports with the fact that extramedullary hematopoiesis is most commonly secondary to hematologic malignancy (138). When discounting hepatosplenic hematopoiesis, the most common condition was myelofibrosis with myeloid metaplasia and the most common location was the thoracic vertebral column (139). Most often extramedullary hematopoiesis is associated with myeloid- or erythroid-biased differentiation. However, transgenic models have reported extrathymic T-cell development (145). Mobilization of hematopoietic stem cells often coincides with extramedullary hematopoiesis and is likely important in seeding cells for the process. Whether proliferation of local progenitors contributes to extramedullary hematopoiesis is an open question. All things considered, extramedullary hematopoiesis is a fascinating phenomenon that is relevant to clinical medicine and offers numerous opportunities to further our understanding of hematopoiesis itself.

#### 1.1.9 Extramedullary hematopoietic niches

Just as the bone marrow requires a niche to support hematopoietic stem cells, so too do extramedullary sites of hematopoiesis. Niche components representing the diversity of all sites of hematopoiesis are very poorly characterized. However, some aspects of the splenic hematopoietic niche in adult animals have been studied with even fewer studies of the liver and skin niche. Central to splenic hematopoiesis are still thought to be the mesenchymal stem cell and the endothelial cells. In the spleen, mesenchymal stem cells and endothelial cells both produce KIT ligand while only mesenchymal stem cells produce CXCL12 (146). Additionally, extramedullary hematopoiesis of the spleen has been localized to near sinusoids of the red pulp (146). In a liver model of extramedullary hematopoiesis, sinusoidal endothelium were observed upregulating CXCL12 (147). A case report of an adult patient with nodular, cutaneous extramedullary

hematopoiesis had KIT ligand and CXCL12 double positive cells within the lesion (*148*). Despite these similarities, a couple of tissue-specific differences are known about splenic mesenchymal stem cells including they are leptin receptor negative and express Tlx1 (*149*). Additionally, some supporting cell types of the spleen appear to be different. For instance, decreasing NK cells in the spleen increased myeloid progenitors, suggesting that NK cells negatively regulate splenic hematopoiesis. Whereas T-cells in the spleen can act as hematopoietic niche cells (*150, 151*). Finally, macrophages have a role in supporting erythropoiesis and hematopoiesis in the spleen (*152-155*). Together, what little is known about extramedullary hematopoiesis suggests that certain core factors are required for hematopoiesis in any organ, but that there exists organ specific factors that can modulate these core processes.

## **1.2** Organs of the hematopoietic system

The organs of the hematopoietic system vary dramatically in their structure and function yet are linked by their connection to generating and housing hematopoietic stem and precursor cells. Here, I review the two organs most relevant to my work though a complete treatment of this topic would also include discussions of the liver, lymph nodes, thymus, and peripheral blood.

#### 1.2.1 Bone

There are about 206 bones in an adult human following fusions of the 270 bones present at birth, and each bone of the human body that is not a mirror image of another bone has unique morphology (*156*). In simple terms, the tissue architecture of the bone can be split into a biomechanical, load bearing segment with reduced cellularity and an internal soft tissue segment with high cellularity (*157*). For different bones and different life stages, the relative amount of these two segments may vary as bone remodeling is a continuous process (*158*). In addition to

their roles in structural support and hematopoiesis, bones also aid in maintaining acid-base and mineral homeostasis (159). Mineralized bone has two separate structures that represent their differing functions: cortical bone and trabecular bone. Cortical bone is dense, nearly continuous, and riddled with cylindrical units of laminated bone. This section is load bearing and has differing properties depending on whether the surface faces the marrow space or the surrounding tissue. The external, periosteal, surface is important for outward growth and fracture repair due to bone formation outweighing resorption while the internal, endosteal, surface is larger and expands the marrow space as bone resorption outweighs bone deposition. Trabecular bone is positioned within the marrow space and formed from a meshwork of bone. The bone marrow is located around the trabecular bone. Bone homeostasis is maintained by the opposing actions of two cell types: osteoclasts, a specialized macrophage, that resorbs bone; and osteoblasts, a differentiated stromal cell, that deposits collagen and minerals to form bone (158). Bones have a complicated network of vascularization that matches the morphology and function of the individual bone. 10 to 15% of resting cardiac output is directed to the bone (160). For smaller and flatter bones, nutrients and oxygen may be supplied by arteries on the periosteal surface, but larger bones may have multiple arties that pierce the cortex to provide vascular support to different areas of the bone. Smaller caliber vessel of the marrow cavity are dense branching networks of fenestrated sinusoids (160). Oxygen tension in the bone marrow varies based on the distance from arteriolar vessels with a mean pO2 of 6.6%, comparable to 3 to 9% pO2 in healthy tissues, to a mathematically predicted value of 1% in distal capillary beds (161, 162). Together, the anatomy of bone is a heterogenous structure filled with hard and soft tissue that balances the needs of highly metabolically active cell types with competing functions.

#### 1.2.2 Spleen

The spleen is a peritoneal organ located on the left side between the diaphragm and upper stomach that serves a plethora of functions, primarily hematologic. The spleen begins development in the mouse on embryonic day 10.5-11 as a condensation of mesenchyme underlying the splanchnic mesodermal plate that directs spleno-pancreatic development (163-167). Several splenic developmental transcription factor are known including *Bapx1*, *Nkx2-5*, Tlx1, Pod1, Wt1, and Pbx1 (164, 167-170). Though not considered a vital organ, failure to a develop a spleen is known as asplenia and increases the risk of sepsis 10- to 20-fold which can be life threatening in children (166). Structurally, the adult spleen is given its shape by a fibrous capsule with internal trabeculae (166). Internally, the spleen is split broadly into a white and red pulp with further functionally distinct regions. The organ is vascularized by the splenic artery that enters the spleen before branching into progressively smaller vessels before terminal arterioles release their contents into the open vasculature of the red pulp. The white pulp are lymph node like accumulations of white blood cells that ensheath the central arteriole before it release blood into marginal zone separating the white and red pulp. Though these white pulp structures have defined T-cell and B-cell zones like a lymph node, the fluid surveyed by these structures comes only from the blood. To enter back into circulation, red blood cells and other cell types must travel back into venous sinusoids. Red blood cells that cannot pass through the walls of the sinusoids due to age, damage, infection, complement deposition, or antibody deposition are phagocytosed by specialized macrophages (171). Speaking generally, the immune function of the red and white pulp match the functions of innate and adaptive immunity, respectively. During systemic infections, macrophages of the red pulp can phagocytose circulating pathogens and present the resulting antigens to the adaptive immune cells of the white pulp (*166*). Additionally, the red pulp is considered to be the site of extramedullary hematopoiesis and a reserve for blood and immune cells to be recruited during emergencies (*171, 172*). One important physiologic feature of the spleen is slowness of the blood flow that allows for the immunologic and hematologic actions of the organ (*166*). All told, the spleen is a highly dynamic organ whose role in immunologic and hematologic processes adapt to meet the needs of the organism.

## **1.3** Cytokines

Instances of cytokines that possess hematopoietic activity are many and ever growing. For this review, I will focus on those that play a central role in understanding my data presented in the next chapter.

#### **1.3.1** IL-1α and the IL-1 family

The IL-1 cytokine family has 11 members corresponding to 10 different receptors. Within this cytokine family are three subfamilies: IL-1, IL-18, and IL-36. The unifying features of cytokines in this family are their lack of a signal peptide for secretion, cytoplasmic distribution as precursor molecules, and the aliphatic amino acid – any amino acid – aspartic acid tripeptide consensus amino acid sequence nine amino acids from the optimal N-terminus for beta-barrel formation after cleavage and receptor binding (*173, 174*). Only the IL-1 receptor antagonist differs from other family members regarding these shared features as it lacks all of them. IL-1 family receptors signal through a trimeric complex of the specific IL-1 receptor, the IL-1 family cytokine, and a co-receptor. Binding of the cytokine with the primary receptor recruits the co-receptor and signaling can occur on the cytoplasmic side. For receptors with Toll-IL-1 receptor domains, this activates MyD88 and downstream NF- $\kappa$ B signaling. Additionally, the co-receptor

can present a soluble form, either cleaved from the cell surface or produced by the liver. IL-1 $\alpha$  is considered a classic damage associated molecular pattern whose sensation can begin immune responses and its biology reflects that (*175, 176*). IL-1 $\alpha$  signals through the IL-1R1 receptor and the co-receptor IL-1R3, both of which have Toll-IL-1 receptor domains. IL-1 $\alpha$  is an unusual member of the IL-1 family as it is constitutively present in epithelial and mesenchymal cell types and does not require proteolysis to signal (*173*). However, IL-1 $\alpha$  has a nuclear localization signal, and when apoptosis occurs, IL-1 $\alpha$  traffics to the nucleus, bind chromatin and becomes immunologically silent. In contrast, when necrosis happens, IL-1 $\alpha$  traffics to the cytoplasm where it will be immunologically active after the cell dies (*177*). With its unique biologic activity, it is no surprise that IL-1 $\alpha$  has been reported to contribute to auto-immune disease, microbial infections, and cancer (*176*).

#### **1.3.2** Tumor necrosis factor alpha

Tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF $\alpha$ ) is a quintessential cytotine with wide-ranging and pleiotropic functions and effects (*178*). TNF $\alpha$  is a trimeric member of the TNF family of cytokines. TNF $\alpha$  can signal through two receptors, TNFR1 and TNFR2. Downstream of signaling of TNF $\alpha$  is complicated and involves a menagerie of signaling mediators. Outcomes of TNF $\alpha$  signaling are highly context dependent but can include NF- $\kappa$ B activation, MAPK activation, or cell death. In the context of cancer, TNF $\alpha$  has roles at nearly every stage including tumorigenesis, tumor growth, angiogenesis, and metastasis but also includes anti-oncogenic effects and usage as an anti-cancer treatment (*178*). At the intersection of cancer and hematopoiesis, TNF $\alpha$  has been implicated in inducing myelopoiesis in the context of cancer (*179*).

#### **1.3.3** Leukemia inhibitory factor

Leukemia inhibitory factor (LIF) is an IL-6 family member that signals through gp130 and the LIF receptor (180, 181). Signaling through LIF receptor is also shared with other IL-6 family members including OSM, CTNF, CT-1, and CLC, though all of these cytokines have additional receptors or co-receptors for signaling (180, 182). Signaling downstream of LIFR:gp130 is thought to be most prominent through JAK1, though JAK2 and TYK2 can bind as well (183-186). JAK1 activation lead to activation of STAT3, MAP kinase pathways, and PI3 kinase in amounts that appear to be cell type specific (187-189). The activity for which LIF is best known is maintaining mouse embryonic stem cells in vitro (180). Of these pathways, STAT3 and PI3 kinase both lead to enhanced self-renewal and inhibition of differentiation in mouse embryonic stem cells while MAP kinase activity activates differentiation (190-193). LIF has a number of interesting functions outside of embryonic stem cells. Mutations in LIF have been reported in infertile women that concurs with failure of LIF knock out dams to successful implant blastocysts and the high expression of LIF in endometrial glands (194-196). In neuronal and stromal cell types, LIF also seems to increase growth while altering differentiation. Overexpression of LIF by an injected cell line led to bone marrow fibrosis and elevated osteoblast numbers (197). Similarly, osteoblasts express LIF receptor and LIF enhances osteoblast differentiation while inhibiting adipocyte differentiation (198). LIF enhances neural stem cell self-renewal when overexpressed by adenovirus, induces astrocyte differentiation in culture, and stimulated proliferation of oligodendrocyte precursor cells when overexpressed by adenovirus (199-201). Myoblasts stimulated by LIF in vitro had increased proliferation but were inhibited in differentiating into myotubes while LIF enhanced recovery from muscle injury in vivo (202, 203). In cancer, LIF expression has been reported in many solid tumors such as colorectal, nasopharyngeal, skin, and

breast as well as supporting a variety of tumor functions (*180*, *204*). Even though exploration of the role of LIF is ongoing, several lines of evidence suggest that it is a potent cytokines with impact on proliferation and differentiation of stromal cells across the body.

#### 1.3.4 KIT ligand

KIT ligand is a fundamental hematopoietic growth factor and ligand of the receptor c-KIT (205). KIT ligand has a soluble and transmembrane form (206). Mice that lack function in both forms have severe and fatal anemia due to hematopoietic failure along with pigment and germ cell deficiencies (207). Mice lacking only the transmembrane form are still anemic, lack pigmentation in the coat, and are sterile (206). Furthermore, the low body weight, anemia, and bone marrow cellularity in mice lacking transmembrane KIT ligand cannot be rescued by overexpression of soluble KIT ligand but can be with membrane-restricted KIT ligand (208). Conversely, enforcing membrane-restricted KIT ligand could not rescue reduced bone marrow myeloid progenitors in mice lacking transmembrane KIT ligand but overexpression of soluble KIT could (208). Total peripheral blood leukocytes were rescued by both (208). Finally, compared to wild-type mice, mice expressing KIT ligand missing the main cleavage site, and therefore lacking the majority of soluble KIT ligand, did not have differences in the number of hematopoietic progenitors in the bone marrow or in mature cells in the blood (209). Binding of KIT ligand to c-KIT dimerizes the receptor and activates its intrinsic tyrosine kinase activity (210-212). The different forms of KIT ligand also signal differently. Soluble KIT ligand signals rapidly and transiently followed by receptor degradation while the membrane-associated form has sustained signaling (212). Downstream this difference leads to membrane-associated KIT ligand inducing longer lasting ERK1/2 and MAP kinase activity (213). Potentially the inability of c-KIT to be internalized when bound to membrane-associated KIT ligand sustains signaling as agonism by immobilized anti-cKIT antibodies produce similarly sustained signaling (214). These data indicate that both forms of KIT ligand forms are functionally important but also are unique and that the transmembrane form may be the more important of the two. Despite the importance of c-KIT/KIT ligand for maintaining hematopoiesis, c-KIT signaling is also implicated in supporting quiescence of hematopoietic stem cells (215). Additionally, c-KIT is recognized as enhancing the signaling of the EPO receptor and IL-7 receptor, two important hematopoietic cytokines, as well as PDGFR $\alpha$  (216-218). KIT ligand and its receptor c-KIT clearly play a crucial role in hematopoiesis and have biology befitting their centrality.

#### **1.3.5** Granulocyte colony stimulating factor

Granulocyte colony stimulating factor (G-CSF) is a cytokine with potent activity on hematopoiesis (*219*). G-CSF signals through a private homodimeric receptor G-CSFR (*220*). G-CSF levels are low during homeostasis but can rise during an immune response and then fall back to baseline (*221, 222*). Mice lacking either G-CSF or its receptor have severe neutropenia but do still produce a small amounts of neutrophils (*80, 223*). G-CSF is also able to mobilize hematopoietic stem cells into circulation and establish extramedullary hematopoiesis (*144, 224*).

### 1.4 Cancer

Cancer is a major health concern in the United States of America and globally. In the U.S.A., cancer is the second leading cause of death and costs more to treat than any other disease (225). Yet, this broad definition of cancer belies the deep complexities lying beneath the moniker. Any tissue type can undergo the highly individualized process of transformation into cancer. It is because of this vastness that cancer remains one of the most scientifically studied disease and has

been for many years. Here I but dip toes into the ocean of research surrounding cancer to illuminate the broad and the very narrow topics important to my work.

#### **1.4.1 Hallmarks of Cancer**

At the heart of cancer is the activation of continued proliferation in spite of normal checks to this process. Foremost to this process is sustained growth signaling. This may be due to autocrine signaling, induced paracrine signaling, or constitutive activation of internal signaling mechanisms. Conversely, cancers must also suppress pathways that would inhibit proliferation such as apoptosis or quiescence. Driving these changes to proliferative and anti-proliferative pathways are genetic changes that can mutate proteins directly or express normally repressed genes. In pursuit of continued growth, cancers must manipulate itself and their environment to allow growth such as by recruiting vasculature to supply nutrients or changing nutrient pathways as well as gaining or utilizing motility and invasion pathways to seek out and cultivate new sites for growth. Finally, cancers must manipulate the local and systemic immune environment to avoid recognition of its transformation and to promote immunologic states that enhance growth (226). Together these features simplifies and categorizes the intricacies governing cancer initiation and progression.

#### **1.4.2 Immune environment of cancer**

Cancer and the immune system exist in a dynamic tension with competing interests where tipping towards either extreme can be detrimental to organismal health. Still, manipulation of the immune system toward anti-cancer immunity has been the most exciting development in modern cancer therapy. Central to a modern understanding of anti-cancer immune activation is that mutations to the cancer genome can produce novel antigens recognized by the adaptive immune

20

system and that reduced expression of immune surveillance genes lead to NK cell activation (227, 228). Pro-cancer immune suppression is mediated by intrinsic mechanisms preventing chronic immune activation and cancer-induced immune cell phenotypic skewing away from activation (227). These competing signals set a balance that is now being manipulate by therapeutics such as immune checkpoint inhibitor, recombinant cytokine therapy, and chimeric antigen receptor T- and NK-cell therapies (227, 229-231). However, care must be taken as over-activation of the immune system from these therapies can lead to severe side effects (232, 233). Therapeutics developed with an understanding of cancer-immune interactions are undergoing a revolution but progress still remains in terms of efficacy and side-effects.

#### 1.4.3 MMTV-PyMT model of breast cancer

Breast cancer is the most common cancer in people who are biologically female and leads to the second highest number of deaths from cancer (*234*). Mouse models of breast cancer have been developed to study this important disease process. The MMTV-PyMT mouse models of cancer is a genetic model where the mouse mammary tumor virus long terminal repeat promoter driving expression primarily in mammary epithelial cells is placed ahead of the polyomavirus middle T antigen oncogene leading to continuous growth signaling from this receptor tyrosine kinase analogue (*235*). Mice with this construct will develop hyperplasias followed by carcinoma *in situ* before progressing to carcinoma with a timeline dependent on the mouse strain and sex with female FVB/N being the most rapid (*236*). Tumors produced in this model have gene expression that resembles the human luminal B subtype (*237*). The MMTV-PyMT model has been used to understand how breast cancer and the immune system interact, in particular how the immune system restricts tumor growth while the tumor tries to shift the immune environment in its favor. For instance, RAG1 knockout mice, and thus mice lacking mature T- and B-cells, expressing

MMTV-PyMT have accelerated tumor onset (238). Additionally, IL-15 knockout mice with the MMTV-PyMT transgene experience accelerated tumor growth (239). On the other side of the coin, the MMTV-PyMT model has been shown to use G-CSF to foster development of immunosuppressive neutrophils at the expense of dendritic cells capable of cancer immunosurveillance (240, 241).

## 1.6 Summary

Hematopoiesis is a dynamic process in science history, in evolution, and in biology. The production of the cells from hematopoietic stem cells touch organismal physiology in nearly every regard, and to compete this herculean task, the hematopoietic stem cell relies on the continuous support of cells throughout the body, in particular its stromal companion – a friend since time immemorial. To us today, alterations and manipulations of hematopoiesis intertwine with the diseases that continue to scourge humanity despite the lifelong efforts of generations. In this document are described the effort of someone to grab hold of history and endeavor to lift the veil of ignorance and glimpse a tiny, blurry reflection of truth.

# <u>Chapter 2: Interleukin-1a and Leukemia</u> <u>Inhibitory Factor Promote Cancer-Induced</u> <u>Extramedullary Hematopoiesis</u>

Derek A.G. Barisas, Minseo Kim, Madhav Subramanian, Ashraf Ul Kabir, Karen Krchma, Jun Wu, Bernd H. Zinselmeyer, Colin L. Stewart, and Kyunghee Choi

### 2.1 Acknowledgements

This chapter contains a modification of an article submitted to the Journal of Experimental Medicine in 2022 with the following contributions:

D.A.G.B. and K.C. conceived the study, analyzed the data, and wrote the paper. D.A.G.B. and J.W. performed the *in vivo* experiments. D.A.G.B. analyzed the scRNA-seq experiments. D.A.G.B., M.K., and A.K. conducted *in vitro* experiments. D.A.G.B. and M.S. analyzed human RNA-seq data. D.A.G.B. and K.K. created and purified lentivirus. D.A.G.B. and B.H. Z. imaged the spleen by confocal microscopy. C.L.S. provided the Lifr-flox mice.

We thank Drs. M. Egeblad and David DeNardo for the gift of the MMTV-PyMT-B6 mice and PyMT-B6 cell line, respectively. We thank Dr. Gwendalyn Randolph for the use of her instruments and laboratory space for confocal imaging. We also thank the TCGA Research Network for providing data used in this publication.

This work was supported by the NIH T32 AI007163 (D.A.G.B), the NIH grants R01HL149954 (K.C.), R01HL55337 (K.C.), R37AI049653 (B.H.Z.), and Siteman Investment Program Research Development Awards (K.C.).

## 2.2 Abstract

The interaction between hematopoietic stem cells and their niche determines the outcome of hematopoiesis. While progress in understanding the hematopoietic stem cell niche during homeostasis has been made, how niche interactions change during pathologic conditions is less well understood. Here, we examined the relationship between hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells (HSPCs) and their splenic niche in tumor-induced extramedullary hematopoiesis (EMH). We identify an inflammatory gene signature characterized by TNF $\alpha$  in extramedullary HSPCs associated with cancer-induced EMH. We show a role for IL-1 $\alpha$  in producing this gene signature and for HSPC-produced TNF $\alpha$  in activating EMH niche activity. We also demonstrate the expansion of the EMH niche through tumor-derived Leukemia Inhibitory Factor (LIF) inducing the proliferation of splenic stromal niche. Finally, we show that both IL-1 $\alpha$  and LIF are upregulated in a subset of human cancers and have synergistic effects in activating EMH. Together, these data expand avenues for developing niche-directed therapies and further exploring EMH accompanying cancerous pathology.
## 2.3 Introduction

Hematopoiesis produces differentiated cell types of the blood and immune systems from hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells (HSPCs). Organismal changes such as disease can modulate the location and cellular output of hematopoiesis (242, 243). Expansion of hematopoiesis outside of the bone marrow (BM), known as extramedullary hematopoiesis (EMH), accompanies pathologic states and occurs mainly within the spleen and liver. Long underappreciated in human disease, EMH is now beginning to be recognized as important component to multiple hematologic and non-hematologic disease (138, 244). The induction of EMH requires mobilization of HSPCs from the BM by cytokines, such as ligands for CXCR2 including CXCL1 and CXCL2 (101, 102, 245). Clinically, EMH presents in a diverse set of solid tumors, including breast, lung, renal, colon, gastric, pancreatic, and prostate cancer (246, 247). Of particular interest is EMH in the spleen due to the organ's role in supplying myeloid cells during multiple injury and disease states (172, 248)

Myeloid-biased differentiation is a response of hematopoiesis to inflammatory signals, including IL-1 $\beta$ , TNF $\alpha$ , and G-CSF (*249-251*). Enhanced myelopoiesis, characteristic of EMH, can exacerbate diseases like solid tumors, arthritis, and myocardial infarction by increasing the number of cells that drive pathology (*247, 252, 253*). Clinically, increased myeloid cell production can be measured by an increased ratio of neutrophils (PMNs) to lymphocytes in the peripheral blood (PB). Across multiple tumor types, including breast, colon, pancreatic, and gastric cancer, as well as a systematic review of all cancer types, a high neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio is a poor prognostic factor for survival (*254-257*).

Like other stem cells, hematopoietic stem cells rely on supporting cell types known as the niche (258, 259). Essential to hematopoietic niche function is the production of membrane-bound KIT

ligand, a key growth factor for HSPCs (260-262). Additionally, the niche must produce factors to attract and adhere HSPCs. CXCL12 is a critical chemotactic factor for HSPCs within the BM niche while VCAM-1 is central to adherence through interactions with VLA-4 and other integrins on HSPCs (63, 263). Among hematopoietic niche cell types, perivascular stromal cells play a central role through their production of KIT ligand and CXCL12 (105, 111). Mesenchymal stem cells have been shown to exert niche function in both mice and humans (106, 264). Despite their importance to the niche, demarcating cells as perivascular stromal cells has been tricky. However, several schemas have recognized PDGFR $\alpha$  as an important marker and noted their co-expression of PDGFR $\beta$  (107, 265, 266). This PDGFR $\alpha$ +/ $\beta$ + surface phenotype matches mesenchymal stem cells as identified by single-cell RNA-sequencing of limb muscles (267, 268).

Significant advances have been made in delineating the BM niche and HSPC interaction at homeostasis (258, 259). However, although perivascular stromal cells have been appreciated as contributing to the splenic niche at homeostasis (146, 269), HSPC niches outside of the BM that support EMH are less well-understood. Here we demonstrate the importance of splenic EMH in producing PMNs during a mouse model of breast cancer and identify a novel inflammatory phenotype for HSPCs conducting EMH. We delineate cytokine communication between IL-1 $\alpha$ -inflamed, splenic HSPCs producing TNF $\alpha$  and their splenic niche. We also investigate a parallel mode of cytokine communication between tumor cells and the splenic niche through Leukemia Inhibitory Factor (LIF). Both pathways may increase the myelopoietic capacity of the spleen during cancerous pathologies.

## 2.4 Materials and Methods

#### 2.4.1 Animals

Wild-type C57BL/6J mice (#000664), B6N.Cg-Tg(PDGFRa-cre/ERT)467Dbe/J (#018280), B6.SJL-Ptprca Pepcb/BoyJ (#002014), and B6.FVB-Tg(Cdh5-cre)7Mlia/J mice (#006137) were obtained from The Jackson Lab. MMTV-PyMT mice on a C57BL/6J background were a gift from Dr. M. Egeblad. *Lifr*-flox mice were obtained courtesy of Dr. Colin Steward (*270*). All mice used in experimentation were female between the ages of 8 and 16 weeks unless otherwise stated. Animal husbandry, handling, and experimentation were approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee of Washington University School of Medicine.

#### 2.4.2 Mouse tumor models

MMTV-PyMT transgenic mice were used as a spontaneous model of breast cancer and were analyzed when evidence of peripheral neutrophilia was present which was between 3 to 6 months. For tumor transplantation studies, 5x10<sup>5</sup> PyMT-B6 tumor cells, 5x10<sup>5</sup> LLC tumor cells, 2x10<sup>6</sup> 1956, or 2.5x10<sup>5</sup> PyMT-B6 gene knockout tumors cells were injected subcutaneously in a slurry of 1:1 EHS ECM growth factor-reduced gel (Corning, # 354230; Sigma, #E6909) to PBS into the flank of the mouse and harvested after 21 days for PyMT-B6, 16 days for LLC, 17 days for 1956, and 28 days for PyMT-B6 gene knockout experiments. PyMT-B6, wild-type and knockout, cells and LLC cells were grown in DMEM with penicillin/streptomycin, 10% fetal bovine serum, and 10mM HEPES buffer. 1956 cells were grown in RPMI-1640 with penicillin/streptomycin, 10% fetal bovine serum, 100mM sodium pyruvate, 7.5% v/v sodium bicarbonate, and 50µM beta-mercaptoethanol. Supernatants were collected after 24 hours of incubation in culture starting 2 days after passage.

#### 2.4.3 Flow cytometry

Spleens were homogenized through a 100-µm filter. BM from femur and tibias was ejected by centrifugation at 3,200g for 2min at 4C. Peripheral blood was collected by cheek bleed. RBCs were lysed when needed using ACK lysis buffer (ThermoFisher, A10492-01). Cells were counted on an automated Nexcelom cell counter.

Cells were blocked with TruStain FcX PLUS anti-CD16/32 antibody (Biolegend, 156603) or anti-CD16/32 BV421 (Biolegend, clone 93) where appropriate before staining with antibodies followed by flow cytometry on a Gallios (Beckman Coulter) or a FACScan II (BD). When staining for intracellular cytokines, Cytofix/Cytoperm (BD, 554714) was used according to manufacturer's instruction and 1µg/mL brefeldin A was maintained in the FACS buffer until fixation. Viability staining was added according to manufacturer's instructions before beginning flow cytometry. Analysis was performed with FlowJo v10 software (Tree Star).

The following antibodies and reagents were purchased from BioLegend: anti-CD45.2 APC (clone 104), anti-CD11b APC-Cy7 (clone M1/70), anti-CD11b PE (clone M1/70), anti-Gr1 FITC (clone RB6-8C5), anti-Gr1 APC (clone RB6-8C5), anti-B220 PerCP/Cy5.5 (clone RA3-6B2), anti-B220 PerCP-Cy5.5 (clone RA3-6B2), anti-CD3e FITC (clone 145-2C11), anti-CD3e PE-Cy7 (clone 145-2C11), anti-Sca-1 APC (clone D7), anti-Sca-1 PerCP-Cy5.5 (clone D7), anti-CD45 AF700 (clone 30-F11), anti-CD45 BV421 (clone 30-F11), anti-c-Kit PE-Cy7 (clone 2B8), anti-c-Kit PE (clone 2B8), anti-VCAM-1 APC (clone 429), anti-PDGFRβ APC (clone APB5), anti-PDGFRα (clone APA5), 7-AAD dye (#420404), anti-IL-7R PE-Cy7 (clone A7R34), streptavidin PerCP-Cy5.5 (#405214), streptavidin BV421 (#405225), streptavidin APC (#405207), and biotin anti-lineage (#133307). Anti-CD34 FITC (clone RAM34) was purchased

from Thermo. Anti-CD45.1 PE (clone A20) was purchased from BD Biosciences. Anti-KITL biotin (#102501) and biotinylated goat IgG control (#105601) were purchased from R&D Systems.

Cell type delineations were made as follows: KSL cells were gated as CD45<sup>+</sup>/Lineage<sup>-</sup>/c-Kit<sup>+</sup>/Sca-1<sup>+</sup>; granulocyte-monocyte precursor (GMP) cells were gated as CD45<sup>+</sup>/Lineage<sup>-</sup>/c-Kit<sup>+</sup>/Sca-1<sup>-</sup>/CD16/32<sup>+</sup>/CD34<sup>+</sup>; common lymphoid progenitor (CLP) cells were gated as CD45<sup>+</sup>/Lineage<sup>-</sup>/c-Kit<sup>-</sup>/Sca-1<sup>+</sup>/IL-7R<sup>+</sup>.

#### 2.4.4 Colony forming assay

Peripheral blood or the full contents of ABS:hematopoietic progenitor co-culture 24-wells were plated into complete methylcellulose media (Stem Cell Technologies, M3434). Colonies were scored 7-14 days after plating.

#### **2.4.5** Bone marrow transplant

For splenocyte transplantation, CD45.2 mice were irradiated with 9.5 Gy and 1x10<sup>6</sup> splenocytes from CD45.1 control or CD45.1 tumor-bearing animals were injected intravenously by the retroorbital route 24 hours after irradiation. For niche function studies, CD45.2 mice were irradiated with 9.5 Gy and CD45.1 hematopoietic cells were isolated from cell culture with or without ABS cells and injected intravenously by the retroorbital route 24 hours after irradiation Mice were monitored daily for mortality or signs of severe morbidity up to 28 days. Mice were maintained until mortality to evaluate the long-term reconstitution potential.

## 2.4.6 Splenectomy

Splenectomies and sham surgeries were conducted courtesy of the Hope Center Animal Surgery Core, Washington University School of Medicine. After a week recovery period, mice were injected with PyMT-B6 tumor cells as detailed above.

## 2.4.7 Single cell RNA-sequencing and analysis

Spleens were minced and digested in 1mg/mL Collagenase Type IV + 0.25mg/mL DNase I. Bone marrow was removed by centrifugation as detailed above and digested. Digestion was quenched then filtered through a 100µm filter. Cells were pelleted, counted, and aliquoted. TruStain FcX<sup>TM</sup> PLUS was used to block samples then biotin anti-lineage antibodies were used to stain lineage cells. After washing, strepavidin magnetic beads (NEB, S1420S) were used to deplete lineage positive cells. Remaining cells were pelleted and then stained with streptavidin BV605 (Biolegend, #405229), anti-CD45 AF700, anti-PDGFRα APC, anti-CD51 PE (Biolegend, clone RMV-7), anti-CD31 PE-Cy7 (Biolegend, clone 390), anti-Sca-1 PerCP-Cy5.5 (Biolegend, clone D7), and anti-c-Kit FITC (Biolegend, clone 2B8). Cells were then washed into holding buffer (0.04% BSA in PBS), stained with DAPI, and sorted on a high modified MoFlo into five populations: Live/Lin-/CD45+/c-Kit+/Sca-1+, Live/Lin-/CD45+/c-Kit+/Sca-1-, Live/Lin-/CD45-/CD31+, Live/Lin-/CD45-/CD31-, Live/Lin-/CD45-/CD31-, Live/Lin-/CD45-/CD31-, Live/Lin-/CD45-/CD31-, Live/Lin-/CD45-/CD31-, CD51+, Live/Lin-/CD45-/CD31-/CD51-. These populations were combined at equal ratios and submitted for 10X Genomics 3' v3.1 Chemistry sample preparation and sequencing on a NovaSeq6000 at the Genome Technology Access Center.

Cell Ranger (10x Genomics, Pleasanton, CA) with default settings de-multiplexed, aligned, filtered, and counted barcodes and UMIs. SoupX preprocessing was used to remove ambient RNA contamination at a contamination fraction of 10% (*271*). Filtered outputs were imported into R

v4.0.5 using Seurat v3.2.3 and barcodes with fewer than 350 unique genes were excluded. Seurat objects from the four experiment groups were merged and an SCT transformation with a variable feature count of 20,000 was performed on the resulting object (*272, 273*). The dimensions of the object were reduced using RunPCA with principal coordinates equal to 50. UMAP coordinates were calculated using all 50 PCA dimensions and a minimum distance of 0.05. FindNeighbors function was used to compute nearest neighbors using all 50 PCA dimensions and FindClusters function at a resolution of 1.2 was used to compute cell clusters. Markers for each cluster were calculated using FindAllMarkers function with a minimum percentage of 0.1.

For reanalysis of a publically available single cell RNA-sequencing dataset of bone marrow niche cells (274), data was downloaded from GSE108891 on Gene Expression Omnibus. Raw counts files for GSM2915575, GSM2915576, GSM2915577, and GSM3330917 were imported into R using Seurat 3.2.3 and barcodes with fewer than 500 unique genes were excluded. Seurat objects from the four experiment groups were merged and an SCT transformation with a variable feature count of 8,000 was performed on the resulting object (272, 273). The dimensions of the object were reduced using RunPCA with principal coordinates equal to 20. UMAP coordinates were calculated using all 20 PCA dimensions and a minimum distance of 0.05. FindNeighbors function was used to compute nearest neighbors using all 20 PCA dimensions and FindClusters function at a resolution of 0.2 was used to compute cell clusters. Markers for each cluster were calculated using FindAllMarkers function on default settings.

#### 2.4.8 Magnetic bead isolation and quantitative reverse transcriptase analysis

TruStain FcX<sup>™</sup> PLUS antibody was used to block samples then biotin anti-lineage antibodes and biotin anti-Flk1 (Biolegend, clone 89B3A5) antibody were used to stain cells. After washing,

strepavidin magnetic beads were used to bind the stained cells. Positive cells were depleted by two rounds of magnetic selection. Depleted cells were pelleted and stained with anti-CD34 FITC and anti-FITC biotin (Biolegend, clone FIT-22). Cells were washed, pelleted, and resuspended before adding streptavidin magnetic beads. After incubation, the tubes were placed on the magnet and the supernatant removed. Using an RNeasy Kit Micro (Qiagen, #74004), RLT buffer was used to lyse the cells before proceeding with RNA isolation according to manufacturer's instructions. qScript<sup>™</sup> cDNA SuperMix (QuantaBio, 95048-100) was used to produce cDNA before running RT-qPCR with 2x SYBR Green qPCR Master Mix (BiMake, B21203) according to manufacturer instructions. Primers follows: Tnf forward sequences were as CCCTCACACTCAGATCATCTTCT, reverse - GCTACGACGTGGGCTACAG; Cxcl2 forward - CCAACCACCAGGCTACAGG, reverse - GCGTCACACTCAAGCTCTG; Nfkbia forward -TGAAGGACGAGGAGTACGAGC, reverse - TTCGTGGATGATTGCCAAGTG; Nfkbiz forward - GCTCCGACTCCTCCGATTTC, reverse - GAGTTCTTCACGCGAACACC; Mki67 forward – ATCATTGACCGCTCCTTTAGGT, reverse – GCTCGCCTTGATGGTTCCT; Illr1 forward - GTGCTACTGGGGCTCATTTGT, reverse - GGAGTAAGAGGACACTTGCGAAT; Hprt forward TCAGTCAACGGGGGGACATAAA, reverse GGGGCTGTACTGCTTAACCAG.

## 2.4.9 ELISA and multiplex protein assay

ELISA kits for IL-1α (Abcam, ab199076), CXCL1 (R&D, DY453-05), and CXCL12 (Abcam, ab100741) were used according to manufacturers' instructions. LIF serum samples were analyzed using the Abcam, ab238261, while all other sample types were analyzed using R&D, DY449. Serum samples from MMTV-PyMT mice and littermate controls were sent to Eve Technologies

(Calgary, AB, Canada) and assayed using the 44-plex Mouse Discovery assay. Results from Eve Technologies were imported into R, log10 normalized, and plotted using the heatmap.2 function in the gplots package.

#### 2.4.10In-vivo cytokine injection

TNF $\alpha$  (Peprotech, 315-01A) and IL-1 $\alpha$  (Peprotech, 211-11A) was purchased, resuspended according to manufacturer's instructions. For TNF $\alpha$  and IL-1 $\alpha$  experiment, 2 $\mu$ g and 0.5 $\mu$ g or 0.2 $\mu$ g per mouse were injected retroorbitally, respectively. Mice were analyzed 24 hours later.

## 2.4.11 CRISPR-Cas9 gene deletion in PyMT-B6

PyMT-B6 cells were seeded and then grown overnight to around 70% confluence before adding TrueCut<sup>TM</sup> Cas9 Protein v2 (Thermo, A36497), Lipofectamine<sup>TM</sup> CRISPRMAX<sup>TM</sup> Cas9 Transfection Reagent, and TrueGuide<sup>TM</sup> Synthetic sgRNA (Thermo, #A35533) according to manufacturer's instructions. Guide RNAs from the manufacturers catalog were selected to be positioned in the earliest exon shared by all known isoforms and to minimize the distance between the two cut sites. Both guides were incubated with the cells during lipofection. After lipofection, cells with single cell cloned. Each clone was tested for deletion of the gene by ELISA, Sanger sequencing, and gel electrophoresis when applicable. *Csf3* was deleted initially then a successful clone was used as the parental line for subsequent deletion of *Lif* or *Il1a*. These knockout cell lines were injected in vivo as described above.

# 2.4.12Splenic stromal cell isolation, culture, and co-culture with hematopoietic progenitors

Spleens were minced and plated on gelatin coated plates. Growth media for cells was alpha-MEM with 10% FBS, 1x Glutamax, 10mM HEPES buffer, 100µg/mL Primocin (InVivogen, ant-pm),

and 5ng/mL heat stable FGF2 (Gibco, PHG0368). After 72 hours, non-adherent tissue was gently removed. Media was changed every 2-3 days thereafter until the culture was 100% confluent. Cells were passaged using CellStripper and plated without gelatin coating. For flow cytometry experiments involving membrane KITL staining, cells were lifted using CellStripper and stained. For other flow cytometry experiments and cytokine stimulation, cells were lifted with Trypsin-EDTA. For LIF stimulation experiments, cells were plated at 5,000 cells/cm2, grown overnight in growth media, then changed to growth media without heat-stable FGF2 with or without 20ng/mL LIF (Peprotech, 250-02). Media was changed after two days and the RNA was harvested on the third day. For TNF $\alpha$  stimulation experiments, cells were plated at 10,000 cell per cm2, grown over night in growth media, then changed to growth media with or without 2.5ng/mL of TNF $\alpha$ (Peprotech, 315-01A). Cells or supernatant were harvested after 24 hours for flow cytometry or ELISA, respectively.

For co-culture with hematopoietic stem and precursor cells, splenic stromal cells were plated and grown until confluence before 5,000 live c-Kit<sup>+</sup> Lineage<sup>-</sup> cells were sorted and transferred into individual 24-wells with or without a stromal monolayer. Co-cultures were then grown for 7 days before passage or usage in an experiment as specified. The same media was used for co-culturing as was used for monoculture of splenic stromal cells.

#### **2.4.13Lentiviral particle production and administration**

Murine LIF ORF (NM\_008501.2) was purchased from GenScript and cloned into the pCSII-EF1α-IRES2-bsr lentiviral backbone. Lentiviral packaging plasmid psPAX2 (Addgene, plasmid #12260) and VSV-G envelope expressing plasmid PMD2.G (Addgene, plasmid #12259) were gifts from Didier Trono. 293FT cells were transfected with lentiviral DNA using the calcium phosphate method. Virus was concentrated from media using PEG Virus Precipitation Kit (Sigma). Viral titer was determined by QuickTiter<sup>TM</sup> Lentivirus Associated HIV p24 Titer Kit (Cell Biolabs, INC). Mice were infected by tail vein injection with 4x10<sup>9</sup> viral particles before sacrifice on day 7 for immunofluorescence experiments or on day 10 for all other experiments.

#### 2.4.14 Immunofluorescence, bright-field, and confocal Microscopy

For immunofluorescence, spleens were removed from animals and directly embedded by freezing into NEG-50 media. 6µm sections were fixed using 4% PFA in PBS then permeabilized in 0.5% Triton-X100 in PBS before blocking with 1% BSA/ 5% donkey serum in PBS. Sections were stained with primary antibodies overnight and then stained with secondary antibodies for 1 hour. Primary antibodies, anti-PDGFRa (AB Online, # ABIN726620) and anti-Ki67 (Biolegend, clone 16A8), were diluted 1:200 for staining. Secondary antibodies were donkey anti-rabbit AF488+ (ThermoFisher, # A32790) and donkey anti-rat AF594+ (ThermoFisher, #A21209). Sections were quenched using ReadyProbes<sup>™</sup> Tissue Autofluorescence Quenching Kit (ThermoFisher, R37630) according to manufacturers' instructions before staining with DAPI and mounting with ProLong<sup>™</sup> Diamond Antifade Mountant (ThermoFisher, P36970). Slides were sealed and imaged using a Zeiss AxioImager Z2 at the Washington University Center for Cellular Imaging using Zen Blue v.3 for image acquisition and processing. Images were counted manually.

For bright-field microscopy, day 7 stromal:hematopoietic co-cultures were imaged live on an ACCU-SCOPE EXI-600 inverted microscope. Images were processed using ImageJ (275).

For confocal microscopy, spleens were removed from animals and fixed in 4% PFA (Electron Microscope Sciences, #15710-S) with PBS for 72hrs. Spleens were washed overnight in PBS and

then sectioned by Vibratome to 300µm. Sections were then cleared using 10% w/v CHAPS and 25% v/v N-Methyldiethanoamine in PBS for 48hrs before washing with PBS followed by 72hrs of blocking 5% donkey serum (Sigma, #D9663) in PBS. Primary antibodies, anti-PDGFRa (AB Online, # ABIN726620), anti-Kitl (R&D, #AB-455-NA) and anti-c-Kit (Biolegend, clone 2B8) were then stained at a 1:200 dilution for 72hrs. Sections were washed with PBS overnight before staining at 1:250 with secondary antibodies, donkey anti-rat AF647+ (Thermo, # A48272), donkey anti-rabbit AF555 (Thermo, A-31572), and donkey anti-Goat AF405+ (Thermo, # A48259). After secondary staining, sections were washed overnight with PBS before dehydration with increasing concentrations of ethanol - 50%, 70%, 95%, and 95% - for at least 2 hours each before incubation with a methyl salicylate solution (Sigma-Aldrich, M6752) for 30-60 minutes in a custom metal chamber with 0.2mm coverslip glass bottom. Tissue sections were then imaged at 1.5µm optical sections using a seven-laser inverted Leica SP8 microscope with full spectral hybrid detectors. All image collection was performed using Leica LAS X software, and analysis was performed using Leica LAS X or Imaris (Bitplane) v8 and v9 software. Images shown are maximum intensity projections of 8 sections representing 10.5µm in depth.

#### **2.4.15Human tissue datasets and xCell analysis**

Transcriptomic data of tumor and normal samples were downloaded from The Cancer Genome Atlas (TCGA), Therapeutically Applicable Research To Generate Effective Treatments (TARGET), and Genotype-Tissue Expression (GTEx) consortiums were downloaded using the UCSC Xena portal (https://xena.ucsc.edu/). Normalized RSEM expected counts were logged for visualization and statistical purposes.

A signature based deconvolution pipeline, xCell (276), was used to identify enrichment of stromal populations in the tumor microenvironment. Gene length normalized TPM data from TCGA was downloaded from the UCSC Xena portal was used as an input into xCell for stromal cell deconvolution. Patients were grouped into quartiles by LIF expression and compared across subgroups.

#### **2.4.16** Quantification and statistical analysis

Statistical analyses were performed using GraphPad Prism 9 software (GraphPad Software, San Diego, CA). P values were calculated using unpaired t tests (two-tailed) unless otherwise indicated in the figure legends. P values less than 0.05 was considered statistically significant and displayed above the comparison bars in figures. Each figure represents at least two independent experiments and are presented together unless otherwise specified. Error bars show the standard error of the mean for each sample.

#### **2.4.17Data sharing statement**

The single cell RNA-sequencing data reported in this paper will be uploaded to GEO, and the accession number will be given before time of publication. All data from raw sequencing reads to analyzed data along with the accompanying code where applicable is available to reviewers upon request.

## 2.5 Results

# 2.5.1 Murine cancer models have expanded splenic hematopoiesis, often with bias towards myelopoiesis

The MMTV-PyMT mouse is a genetic model of breast cancer where tumors develop in situ due to an oncogene under the control of a promoter expressed primarily in mammary epithelium (235). Mice with tumors experience neutrophilia and a drastic increase in spleen weight, spleen cellularity, and splenic HSPCs as measured by c-Kit+/Sca-1+/Lineage- (KSL) and granulocytemonocyte precursor (GMP) amounts (Fig. 2.1A-E). These changes occur with minimal effects to the splenic common lymphoid progenitors (CLP) (Fig. 2.1F) or the BM compartment (Fig. 2.1G-I). To provide more experimental control than the genetic model, we developed a heterotopic tumor model using a PyMT-B6 cell line derived from tumors of a B6/J syngeneic MMTV-PyMT mouse (240). PyMT-B6 tumors in female mice aged 8 to 16 weeks, a gender and age range used in further experimentation unless otherwise stated, produced neutrophilia in animals 21 days post-injection (Fig. 2.2A). Similarly, these mice have increased spleen weight, spleen cellularity, and KSL and GMP amounts, in total and as a percent of CD45+ cells (Fig. 2.2B-G). This effect was not mirrored in the BM compartment or the splenic common lymphoid progenitors (Fig. 2.2H-K). Additionally, increased CFU-GEMM colony numbers were identified in the PB of PyMT-B6 bearing animals compared to controls (Fig. 2.3A). Together, data from both a genetic and transplantation model identify the spleen as a site of profound HSPC expansion coincident with increased granulocytes and primitive hematopoietic precursors in the PB.

Enhanced survival of irradiated Ly5.2 mice transplanted with Ly5.1 splenocytes of PyMT-B6 bearing animals compared to mice receiving control splenocytes validated the stem cell functional

of these splenic HSPCs (Fig. 2.3B). Furthermore, animals that survived the initial 28 days continued to live after four months, had reconstitution of PB myeloid and lymphoid lineages, and < 1% contribution from recipient HPSCs in the PB. Splenectomized animals had reduced PMN percentages in their PB after 21 days of PyMT-B6 tumor compared to sham surgery controls (Fig. 2.3C). To generalize our findings about expanded splenic hematopoiesis to other cancer models, heterotopic models of 1956 sarcoma and LLC lung carcinoma were investigated and found to significantly expand HSPC and GMP populations with a variable response to peripheral neutrophilia (Fig. 2.4A-F). Together, these data indicate that breast cancer induces expansion of splenic hematopoiesis that is necessary for neutrophilia and this expanded capacity is generalizable to other murine cancer models.



РуМТ- РуМТ+

#### Figure 2.1: Genetic PyMT tumors induce splenic hematopoiesis

(A) PMNs in the peripheral blood as percent of CD45<sup>+</sup> cells in female mice between the ages of 3 to 6 months with spontaneous mammary tumors in the MMTV-PyMT tumor model compared with non-tumor bearing, littermate controls (n = 9). (B – I) In mice with MMTV-PyMT mammary tumors compared with littermate controls, splenic weight (n = 11-12), splenic cellularity (C, n = 11-12), KSL cells per spleen (D, n = 4-5), GMP cells as a fraction of total splenic CD45<sup>+</sup> (E, n = 4-5), CLP cells as a fraction of total splenic CD45<sup>+</sup> cells (F, n = 4-5), BM cellularity per leg (G, n = 11-12), KSL cells per BM of a leg (H, n = 4-5), GMP cells as a fraction of total BM CD45+ cells (I, n = 4-5).



#### Figure 2.2: Heterotopic PyMT-B6 tumors induce splenic hematopoiesis

(A - K) 21 days after injection of 5 x  $10^5$  PyMT-B6 tumor cells injected subcutaneously compared to control animals injected with phosphate buffered saline, PMNs in the PB as a percent of total leukocytes (A, n = 8), splenic weight (B, n = 15), splenic cellularity (C, n = 15), KSL cells per spleen (D, n = 7-8), GMP cells per spleen (E, n = 7-8), KSL cells as a fraction of total splenic CD45<sup>+</sup> cells (F, n = 7-8), GMP cells as a fraction of total splenic CD45<sup>+</sup> cells (G, n = 7-8), BM cellularity per leg (H, n = 15), KSL cells per BM of a leg (I, n = 7-8), BM GMP cells per BM of a leg (J, n = 7-8), CLP cells as a fraction of total splenic CD45<sup>+</sup> cells (K, n = 7-8).



Figure 2.3: Expansion of splenic hematopoiesis is required for neutrophilia in PyMT-B6

(A) CFU-GEMM colonies within 10µL of PB, 21 days of PyMT-B6 tumor compared to PBS injected controls (n = 7-8). (B) Survival of 9.5 Gy irradiated mice receiving splenocytes from mice with 21 days of PyMT-B6 tumor or control mice injected with PBS (n = 20, significance assigned by Mantel-Cox test). (C) PMNs in the PB as a percent of total leukocytes with 21 days of PyMT-B6 tumor following splenectomy or sham surgery (n = 7-8).



Figure 2.4: Heterotopic 1956 and LLC tumors induce splenic hematopoiesis

(A - C) 17 days after injection of 2 x 10<sup>6</sup> 1956 tumor cells injected subcutaneously compared to control animals injected with phosphate buffered saline, PMNs in the PB as a percent of total leukocytes (J, n = 8), KSL cells per spleen (B, n = 8), GMP cells per spleen (K, n = 8). (D – F) 16 days after injection of 5 x 10<sup>5</sup> LLC tumor cells injected subcutaneously compared to control animals injected with phosphate buffered saline, PMNs in the PB as a percent of total leukocytes (D, n = 6-7), KSL cells per spleen (E, n = 6-7), GMP cells per spleen (F, n = 6-7).

#### 2.5.2 HSPCs conducting EMH express an inflammatory gene profile

To characterize the transcriptional and cell composition changes induced by the PyMT-B6 tumor, we performed single-cell RNA-sequencing (scRNA-seq) of splenic and BM cells enriched for HSPCs in mice with or without PyMT-B6 tumor. The Lin<sup>-</sup>/c-Kit<sup>+</sup>/Sca-1<sup>+</sup>/CD34<sup>+</sup> cells representing the hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells (Fig. 2.5A-H, Fig. 2.6A-C), while rarely present in the control spleen, were well-represented in the spleen of the tumor-bearing mice (Fig. 2.6D). The Lin<sup>-</sup>/c-Kit<sup>+</sup>/Sca-1<sup>+</sup>/CD34<sup>+</sup> cells from the spleen of tumor-bearing animals expressed a unique gene

signature, including *Tnf*, *Cxcl2*, *Nfkbiz*, *Nfkbia*, compared to control BM (CBM) cells or tumorbearing BM (TBM) cells (Fig. 2.6E-H). We chose to focus on the comparison between control bone marrow and HPSCs associated with EMH in the spleen to address questions about the functional differences between homeostatic HSPCs and those associated with pathology and residing in extramedullary sites. The up-regulation of these four genes in tumor-bearing, spleen (TS) Lin<sup>-/</sup>CD34<sup>+</sup> HSPC compared to the same population in the homeostatic BM was confirmed by RT-qPCR (Fig. 2.7A-D). Increased TNF $\alpha$  protein expression was identified within the HSPC fraction of TS relative to CBM by flow cytometry (Fig. 2.7E-G). Together, these data demonstrate that PyMT-B6 tumor presence activates an inflammatory gene signature within splenic HSPCs that induces TNF $\alpha$  production by these cells.







Slamf1

F



2 1 0













## Figure 2.5: c-Kit<sup>+</sup>Sca-1<sup>+</sup>CD34<sup>+</sup> HSPCs can be found within the bone marrow and spleen of mice with or without PyMT-B6 tumors.

(A – H) UMAP projection of the total scRNA-seq data colored by cluster identity (A), expression of *Kit* (B), *Ly6a* (C), *Cd34* (D), *Cd48* (E), Slamfl (F), *Tnf* (G), *Il1r1* (H)



Figure 2.6: HSPCs from tumor-bearing mice display an inflammatory gene signature

(A - D) UMAP projection of the HSPC population in scRNA-seq data colored by expression of *Kit* (A), *Ly6a* (B), *Cd34* (C) and by experimental origin (D, CBM – Control BM, CS – Control Spleen, TBM – Tumor-bearing BM, TS – Tumor-bearing spleen). (E – H) Violin plot of expression of *Tnf* (E), *Cxcl2* (F), *Nfkbia* (G), and *Nfkbiz* (H) in the HSPC population in scRNA-seq data from CBM, TBM, or TS.



Figure 2.7: Inflammatory gene profile in HSPCs from tumor-bearing mice can be validated by RT-qPCR and flow cytometry

(A - D) RT-qPCR expression data of *Tnf* (A), *Cxcl2* (B), *Nfkbia* (C), *Nfkbiz* (D) from Lin<sup>-</sup>/Flk1<sup>-</sup> /CD34<sup>+</sup> cells from CBM or TS. (E) Representative histogram of TNF $\alpha$  expression in KSL cells from CBM or TS. (F) Fraction of KSL cells from CBM or TS that are TNF $\alpha^+$  (n = 8). (G) Mean fluorescent intensity of TNF $\alpha$  staining in KSL cells from CBM and TS (n = 8).

#### 2.5.3 PyMT-B6-produced IL-1a acts on HSPCs to induce TNFa

TNF $\alpha$  expression in splenic HSPCs of PyMT-B6 bearing mice hints at the presence of tumorderived upstream mediators. One often reported cytokine subfamily upstream of TNFa is IL-1a and IL-1 $\beta$  (277); of which, IL-1 $\alpha$ , but not IL-1 $\beta$ , is produced during MMTV-PyMT tumor pathology (278). We confirmed that mice bearing PyMT-B6 tumors have elevated circulating levels of IL-1 $\alpha$  (Fig. 2.8A) and that PyMT-B6 cells release IL-1 $\alpha$  in vitro (Fig. 2.8B). Correspondingly, IL-1 receptor was identified as being expressed in HSPCs by scRNA-seq and RT-qPCR (Fig. 2.8C-D). Injection of IL-1a into mice was sufficient to induce neutrophilia, increase splenic HSPC fraction, and increase TNFa production in splenic HSPCs compared to control BM HSPCs (Fig. 2.9A-C). Reciprocally, deletion of Illa from PyMT-B6 cells led to decreased expression of TNFa in HSPCs and decreased total splenic GMP cells compared the parental line (Fig. 2.10A-D). The parental line includes deletion of G-CSF due to the cytokines recognized prominence in producing myeloid-biased hematopoiesis and EMH (279). Removing this cytokine was designed to uncover effects of other cytokines produced by the tumor, such as IL-1 $\alpha$ . Together, these data indicate that PyMT-B6 IL-1 $\alpha$  induces a novel inflammatory phenotype in HSPCs associated with tumor-induced EMH.



Figure 2.8: PyMT-B6 tumors produce IL-1a and HSPCs express the IL-1 receptor

(A) IL-1 $\alpha$  concentration from serum of mice with or without 21 days of PyMT-B6 tumor (n = 8). (B) IL-1 $\alpha$  concentration from PyMT-B6 base or conditioned media (n = 3). (C) UMAP projection of HSPCs in scRNA-seq data colored by *ll1r1* expression. (D) RT-qPCR expression data of *ll1r1* from Lin<sup>-</sup>/Flk1<sup>-</sup>/CD34<sup>+</sup> cells from control bone marrow (CBM) or PyMT-B6 tumor bearing spleen (TS).



Figure 2.9: IL-1a is sufficient to activate EMH and TNFa production in splenic HSPCs

(A - B) In mice 24 hours after intravenous (i.v.) injection of 500ng IL-1 $\alpha$  or vehicle, PMNs in the PB as a percent of total leukocytes in mice (A, n = 7), KSL cells per spleen, (B, n = 7). (C) Average mean fluorescent intensity of TNF $\alpha$  staining in KSL cells from vehicle injected BM or 500ng IL-1 $\alpha$  injected spleen. (n = 7-8).



Figure 2.10: Tumor-derived IL-1α is required for increased splenic myelopoiesis and TNFα production in splenic HSPCs

(A - D) 28 days after subcutaneous injection of 2.5 x 10<sup>5</sup> PyMT-B6  $\Delta$ G-CSF parental cells or  $\Delta$ G-CSF  $\Delta$ IL-1 $\alpha$  cells, PMNs in the PB as a percent of total leukocytes in mice (A, n = 7-13), KSL cells per spleen, (B, n = 7-13), GMP cells per spleen (C, n = 7-13), average mean fluorescent intensity of TNF $\alpha$  staining in KSL cells (D, n = 7-13).

## 2.5.3 TNFa induces EMH through splenic niche cells

Due to the concurrent TNFa production by splenic HSPCs and splenic EMH accompanying PyMT-B6 tumors, we hypothesized that TNFα from HSPCs could induce EMH by activating local niche cells. Administration of a single dose of TNF $\alpha$  was sufficient to increase HSPC and GMP fractions in the spleen within 24 hours and to produce neutrophilia (Fig. 2.11A-C). To test whether niche cells respond to TNFa, we needed to identify potential niche cells within the spleen. Reanalysis of a BM niche cell scRNA-seq dataset (274) identified Pdgfra+/Pdgfrb+ stromal (ABS) cells as being the most strongly KIT ligand positive cell population and expressing a TNFa receptor (cluster 3, Fig. 2.12A-L). Using a novel method of cell isolation and culture, we cultured ABS cells from the spleen and validated their expression of membrane KIT ligand by flow cytometry (Fig. 2.13A-B). To investigate the niche functionality of these ABS cells, 5,000 live BM Lin-/c-Kit+ (KL) cells, of which around 20% were also Sca-1+, were sorted into 24-wells with or without confluent ABS cell cultures. After 7 days of co-culture, a large population of small, spherical cells grew on top of the ABS monolayer (Fig. 2.13C-D). Upon flow cytometric evaluation, these co-cultures contained a population of CD45<sup>+</sup>/Lin<sup>-</sup>/c-Kit<sup>+</sup>/Sca-1<sup>+</sup> cells (Fig. 2.13E). To test whether the hematopoietic component of these co-cultures maintained stem cell capacity, first, CD45.1 KL cells were sorted into plates and grown for 7 days with or without ABS stromal before transplanting them into irradiated CD45.2 recipient mice. Compared to mice receiving KL cells grown without ABS cells, mice that received KL cells grown with ABS cells

had significantly improved survival, indicating the maintenance of repopulating units in vitro (Fig. 2.14A). Analysis of the peripheral blood from surviving transplant mice indicated recipient derived hematopoietic cells constituted less than 10% of all CD45+ cells after one month. Second, colony forming unit activity was compared between KL cells grown with or without ABS cells for 7 days. After 7 days, more primitive precursor activity, as measured by CFU-GEMM colony formation, was nearly absent from cells without co-culture but preserved in cells grown in co-culture (Fig. 2.14B). Additionally, CFU-GEMM colonies were observed until at least 21 days in co-culture. Next, we wanted to understand how ABS cells might change phenotypically in response to HSPC cytokines. Following TNF $\alpha$  addition to culture medium, splenic ABS cells increased HSPC-adherent VCAM-1 expression and released the HSPC active cytokine CXCL1 while maintaining baseline CXCL12 release (Fig. 2.15A-C). Together, these data suggest that TNF $\alpha$  produced by HSPCs during tumor presence can act locally on ABS niche cells to increase the capacity of the splenic niche to support hematopoiesis.



Figure 2.11: Tumor-derived IL-1a activates TNFa production in splenic HSPCs

(A - C) In mice 24 hours after i.v. injection of 2µg TNF $\alpha$  or vehicle, KSL cells per spleen (A, n = 7), GMP cells per spleen (B, n = 7), PMNs in the PB as a percent of total leukocytes (C, n = 7).



Figure 2.12: Expression patterns of bone marrow niche cells by single cell RNA-sequencing (A - L) Violin plot of expression of *Kitl* (A), *Pdgfra* (B), *Pdgfrb* (C), *Cxcl12* (D), *Lepr* (E), *Cdh5* (F), *Ptprc* (G), *Kit* (H), *Ly6a* (I), *Bglap* (J), *Tnfrsf1a* (K), *Tnfrsf1b* (L), in reanalyzed scRNA-seq data from Tikhonova *et al.* 2019 of bone marrow niche cell types (0 - HSC, 1 - endothelium (EC), 2 - Proliferating CD45<sup>+</sup>, 3 - ABS cell, 4 - GMP, 5 - CLP, 6 - Sca-1<sup>+</sup>EC, 7 - B-cell progenitor, 8 - Osteoblast, 9 - RBC Progenitor) (274).



Figure 2.13: Identification of splenic stromal cells analogous to bone marrow niche populations that can maintain hematopoietic cells in co-culture

(A) Representative dot plot comparing splenic ABS cells stained solely for viability, a PDGFR $\beta$  fluorescence minus one sample, and a fully stained sample. (B) Representative histogram of membrane KITL expression in splenic ABS cells. (C – E) Hematopoietic and stromal co-cultures after 7 days, representative bright-field image of co-culture at 4x magnification (C), representative bright-field image of co-culture at 20x magnification (D), representative flow cytometric plot of Live/CD45<sup>+</sup>/Lin<sup>-</sup> cells (E).



Figure 2.14: Hematopoietic cells in co-culture with splenic stromal cells maintain progenitor status

(A) Representative histogram of membrane KITL expression in splenic ABS cells. (B) Survival of 9.5 Gy irradiated mice receiving the cell products of c-Kit<sup>+</sup>Lin<sup>-</sup> cells grown with or without ABS cell co-culture for 7 days (n = 19-20, significance assigned by Mantel-Cox test).



Figure 2.15: TNFa activates stromal cells in the spleen to induce EMH

(A - C) In splenic ABS cells treated for 24 hours with or without 2.5ng/mL TNF $\alpha$ , representative mean fluorescent intensity of VCAM-1 (A, n = 6), representative CXCL1 concentration (B, n = 6), representative CXCL12 concentration (C, n = 6).

#### 2.5.4 Tumor-derived Leukemia Inhibitory Factor activates splenic EMH

Given the indirect interaction between tumor cells and splenic niche cells through inflamed HSPCs, we were interested in the potential of a direct interaction between tumor and splenic niche cells. Preliminary analysis of a 44-member cytokine array on serum from MMTV-PyMT tumorbearing animal compared to littermates identified Leukemia Inhibitory Factor (LIF), an IL-6 family member, as being significantly and consistently upregulated by the presence of tumors (Fig. 2.16). The presence of LIF in the serum of PyMT-B6 bearing animals and the production of LIF by PyMT-B6 cells in culture was independently confirmed (Fig. 2.17A-B). Previous work has identified LIF as having an active role in promoting and maintaining hematopoiesis in the spleen (180, 280). We tested whether LIF might have a role in cancer-induced EMH by generating a lentiviral expression vector for murine LIF and injecting mice intravenously to induce systemic LIF overexpression. Compared to empty lentiviral vectors, LIF overexpression induced neutrophilia and a robust expansion of HSPC and GMP cells in the spleen (Fig. 2.17C-E). Correspondingly, deletion of Lif from PyMT-B6 cells lead to decreased levels of splenic HSPCs and GMPs compared to the G-CSF deleted parental line (Fig. 2.18A-C). These data identify LIF as a tumor-secreted factor which is sufficient to induce myeloid-biased expansion of hematopoiesis within the spleen.



## Figure 2.16: Serum cytokine profiling of MMTV-PyMT tumor bearing mice identifies LIF overexpression

Heatmap showing z-scores of log normalized expression of 44 cytokines from the serum of  $MMTV-PyMT^+$ , tumor-bearing animals (PyMT) or age-matched, non-tumor-bearing littermates (WT) (n = 2).



Figure 2.17: Tumor-produced Leukemia Inhibitory Factor induces EMH

(A) LIF concentration from serum of mice with or without 21 days of PyMT-B6 tumor (n = 11). (B) LIF concentration from base media or PyMT-B6 conditioned media (n = 3). (C – E) In mice with 10 days of LIF overexpression or empty vector control, fraction of PMNs in the PB as a percent of total leukocytes (C, n = 11-12), KSL cells per spleen (D, n = 7-8), GMP cells per spleen (E, n = 7-8)



Figure 2.18: Lif deletion in PyMT-B6 cells reduces tumor induced EMH

(A - C) 28 days after subcutaneous injection of 2.5 x 10<sup>5</sup> PyMT-B6  $\Delta$ G-CSF parental cells or  $\Delta$ G-CSF  $\Delta$ LIF cells, PMNs in the PB as a percent of total leukocytes in mice (A, n = 12), KSL cells per spleen (B, n = 12), GMP cells per spleen (C, n = 12).

# 2.5.5 Leukemia Inhibitory Factor induces splenic stromal niche cell proliferation

Having identified the capability of LIF to expand splenic hematopoietic capacity, we sought to define a cellular mechanism for its effect. Re-examination of niche scRNA-seq data (274) identified both Kitl expressing clusters, Cdh5+/Ly6a+ endothelial and Pdgfra+/Pdgfrb+ stromal cells, as expressing LIF receptor (LIFR) (Fig. 2.19A, cluster 6 vs 3, respectively). By inducing LIF overexpression by lentivirus in Cdh5-Cre<sup>+</sup>/Lifr<sup>fl/fl</sup> mice and littermate controls, we could exclude endothelial cell contribution to LIF-induced EMH (Fig. 2.19B). We were unable to directly test the involvement of splenic ABS cells in response to LIF because mice with LIFR deletion within the PDGFR $\alpha$ + population were born at normal frequencies but died before weaning due to a failure to thrive, a similar but less severe phenotype than the constitutive knock out mouse (Fig. 2.19C-D) (281). At days 12 post-partum, when most conditional knockouts are still alive and the spleen still shows active hematopoiesis (282), we assessed whether deletion of LIFR with PDGFR $\alpha$ + cells affected hematopoietic capacity of the spleen. We found that mice with LIFR deletion in PDGFR $\alpha$ + had reduced HSPCs specifically within the spleen compared to the bone marrow and littermate controls (Fig. 2.19E-F). This suggests that the LIF-LIFR axis in PDGFR $\alpha$ + cells is indispensable for maintenance of hematopoiesis specifically within the spleen, and therefore we were interested in potential mechanisms. Previous studies showed that LIF induces proliferation of PDGFRa+ oligodendrocyte precursor cells and osteoblast precursors (199, 283). We added LIF to splenic ABS cultures and found increased markers of proliferation (Fig. 2.20A). To confirm this

finding in vivo, we quantified the fraction of Ki67+ nuclei of PDGFR $\alpha$ + cells in the spleen with or without lentiviral LIF overexpression using immunofluorescence and found an increase in Ki67+ PDGFR $\alpha$ + cells with LIF overexpression (Fig. 2.20B-C). Additionally, we used confocal imaging to visualize the close association of PDGFR $\alpha$ + cells with Kit+ progenitors in the spleen after LIF overexpression (Fig. 2.20D).

To investigate whether this expansion of stromal cells might operate within human cancers, we analyzed RNA-sequencing data from a collection of sources to assess whether LIF expression in human cancer correlates with local stromal cell populations (*284*). Consistent with our mouse data, tumors in the highest quartile of LIF expression had significantly higher amounts of MSCs, fibroblasts, and stromal scores compared to the lowest quartile with only a modest increase in the endothelial fraction between the two groups (Fig. 2.21A-D). Together, these data suggest that ABS cells from the spleen form an expandable niche in the spleen in direct response to tumor-derived LIF and that this cancer-stromal interaction may operate in human tumors as well.



Figure 2.19: LIF receptor is expressed in stromal and endothelial cells and is required in stromal cells for splenic hematopoiesis

(A) Violin plot of expression of *Lifr* in reanalyzed scRNA-seq data from Tikhonova *et al.* 2019 of bone marrow niche cell types (0 – HSC, 1 – endothelium (EC), 2 – Proliferating CD45<sup>+</sup>, 3 – ABS cell, 4 – GMP, 5 – CLP, 6 – Sca-1<sup>+</sup> EC, 7 – B-cell progenitor, 8 – Osteoblast, 9 – RBC Progenitor) (*274*). (B) In LIFR<sup>flox</sup> mice with LIF overexpression and Cdh-Cre<sup>+</sup> or Cdh5-Cre<sup>-</sup>, KSL cells per spleen (n = 10-11, contains male mice). (B – F) In day 12 post-partum LIFR<sup>flox</sup> mice with PDGFR $\alpha$ -Cre<sup>+</sup> or PDGFR $\alpha$ -Cre<sup>-</sup> littermates, body weight (B, n = 6-9, contains male mice), splenic weight as a fraction of total body weight (C, n = 6-9, contains male mice), KSL cells as a fraction of total splenic CD45<sup>+</sup> cells (E, n = 6-9, contains male mice), KSL cells as a fraction of total bone marrow CD45<sup>+</sup> cells (F, n = 6-9, contains male mice).

(D - E) In day 12 post-partum LIFR<sup>flox</sup> mice with PDGFR $\alpha$ -Cre<sup>+</sup> or PDGFR $\alpha$ -Cre<sup>-</sup> littermates, body weight (D, n = 6-9, contains male mice), splenic weight as a fraction of total body weight (E, n = 6-9, contains male mice).



Figure 2.20: LIF directly expands the splenic niche by inducing niche cell proliferation
(A) Representative RT-qPCR expression data of *Mki67* from splenic ABS cells treated for 72 hours with 20ng/mL LIF (n = 6). (B) Fraction of splenic PDGFR $\alpha$ + cell that are Ki67+ by immunofluorescence with 7 days of LIF overexpression or empty vector lentivirus control (n = 8). (C) Representative immunofluorescence image of the speen after LIF overexpression with PDGFRa<sup>+</sup> cells in green, Ki67<sup>+</sup> nuclei in red, and DAPI<sup>+</sup> nuclei in blue. (D) Representative confocal image of spleen after LIF overexpression with PDGFRa<sup>+</sup> cells in green after LIF overexpression with PDGFRa<sup>+</sup> cells in green after LIF overexpression with PDGFRa<sup>+</sup> cells in green and c-Kit<sup>+</sup> cells in blue.



Figure 2.21: LIF also acts on locally to expand stromal cells more than endothelium

(A - D) Enrichment of MSCs (A), stromal scoring (B), fibroblasts (C), and endothelial cells (D) as calculated by xCell from RNA-seq data of human tumors split by top and bottom quartile of LIF expression (n = 416-417).

## 2.5.6 IL-1α and LIF are co-expressed in human cancers and have a cooperative myelopoietic response in mice

Re-examination of human tumor RNA-sequencing datasets identified that human breast cancer does not have the same cytokine profile as the murine PyMT model with respect to IL-1 $\alpha$ , LIF, and G-CSF (Fig. 2.22A). However, human colon cancer does (Fig. 2.22B). Interestingly, human

pancreatic, stomach, brain, and bile duct cancer all have overexpression of both IL-1 $\alpha$  and LIF relative to normal tissue while having only minor changes in G-CSF (Fig. 2.22C-F). These data suggest that the co-occurrence of IL-1 $\alpha$  and LIF is potentially clinically relevant for a diverse set of human cancers. Due to their independent mechanisms in activating the splenic niche, we hypothesized that the interaction of these cytokines would increase myelopoietic output. To test this, we first injected mice with lentiviral constructs that were either empty or expressed LIF, followed by IL-1 $\alpha$ . Mice that had previously received LIF had increased peripheral PMNs and splenic HSPCs and GMPs upon IL-1 $\alpha$  injection compared to empty vector controls (Fig. 2.23A-C). This data suggests that LIF exerts a functional impact on hematopoietic capacity that can potentiate the myelopoietic impact of IL-1 $\alpha$ . When combined with the identification of IL-1 $\alpha$  and LIF overexpression in multiple human cancers, this illuminates a novel, potential mechanism by which cancers may generate a myeloid-biased immune environment by initiating EMH within the spleen (Fig. 2.23D).



Figure 2.22: IL-1A and LIF co-expression is common in human tumor types

(A - F) RNA-seq expression of *IL1A*, *LIF*, and *CSF3* expression in tumor compared to normal tissue for breast (A, 292-1099), colonic (B, n = 288-349), and pancreatic (C, n = 171-178), bile duct (D, n = 9-36), brain (E, n = 689-1146), and gastric (F, n = 210-414) tumors.



Figure 2.23: Human tumors co-express LIF and IL-1α which synergize in mouse models to potentiate EMH

(A - C) In mice with 10 days of LIF overexpression lentivirus or empty vector control lentivirus and 24 hours after treatment with 200ng IL-1 $\alpha$  i.v., PMNs in the PB as a percent of total leukocytes (A, n = 7-8), KSL cells as a fraction of total splenic CD45<sup>+</sup> cells (B, n = 7-8), GMP cells as a fraction of total splenic CD45<sup>+</sup> cells (C, n = 7-8). (D) Our proposed model of parallel mechanisms for tumor induced EMH mediated by indirect inflammatory changes to HSPCs through IL-1 $\alpha$  and direct proliferative effects on splenic ABS cells through LIF.

## 2.6 Discussion

Extramedullary hematopoiesis (EMH) can be viewed as a process undertaken to meet the immense demand for myeloid cells during pathology that exceeds the capacity for existing bone marrow progenitors. While EMH has been shown in a wide range of human inflammatory conditions and diseases (138, 244, 246), the mechanisms regulating EMH have not been clearly elucidated. Here, we show the spleen as a critical site of EMH during solid tumor pathology that drives increases in peripheral blood neutrophilia. Consistent with this is recasting the spleen as a primary lymphoid organ involved in sensing systemic inflammation and activating by expanding total hematopoietic capacity, often with a myeloid bias. This framing of splenic function is concordant with data demonstrating an origin for myeloid cells within the spleen during various inflammatory and non-inflammatory pathologic states in both humans and mice (172, 248). Previous work in a hepatocellular carcinoma mouse model has demonstrated that the absence of the spleen is sufficient to positively impact immune checkpoint blockade therapy (247). Additional work has suggested that absence of the spleen leads to significantly fewer tumors developing in an inducible model of lung cancer (248). We also show the reduction in the magnitude of tumor-induced neutrophil bias in the periphery following splenectomy. Interestingly, our paper finds less profound alterations to the bone marrow compartment when compared to other investigations of solid tumor induced effects on hematopoiesis. In particular, when compared to Casbon et al. 2015, although we find a trend towards increased BM cellularity and progenitor numbers, our results are less dramatic than their findings (241). Potentially, these discrepancies are the result of several differences between our experimentation and theirs including mouse genotypes, a genetic versus a cell line tumor model, and a longer timeframe in the genetic models. Additionally, we also speculate that increases to BM HSPCs seen in the

previously mentioned paper and others may contribute to increased splenic HSPCs through migration as observed in our model. These subtle differences and their impact on stem cell phenotypes highlight the nuance and limited understanding still present in the field of hematopoietic modulation by solid tumors.

While tumor manipulation of local immune cells within the tumor microenvironment has received significant attention, how tumor cells manage the immune system distally is less wellunderstood. In this paper, we demonstrate that profound expansion of hematopoiesis into the spleen occurs with breast cancer. We then identify two cytokines produced by tumor cells that have distinct but overlapping interactions with splenic HSPCs and stromal cells to expand the size and functional capacity of the splenic niche to accommodate increased myelopoiesis. We present novel findings that support this conclusion. First, splenic HSPCs accompanying tumor presence express a gene profile characterized by TNF $\alpha$ . Second, IL-1 $\alpha$  released by the tumor cells acts distally to induce TNF $\alpha$  expression in HSPCs. Third, tumors indirectly activate splenic niche capacity in PDGFR $\alpha$ +/ $\beta$ + stromal cells through local TNF $\alpha$  produced by inflammatory HSPCs. Fourth, tumors directly expand the splenic niche through LIF by inducing proliferation in splenic PDGFR $\alpha$ +/ $\beta$ + stromal cell populations. Moreover, LIF receptor deletion in PDGFR $\alpha$ + cells significantly reduced hematopoietic niche capacity within the spleen. These data extend the role of this underappreciated cell type by centering it as the activatable niche cell within the spleen. Importantly, identifying LIF as expanding this cell type adds to our appreciation of stromal cells as active members of inflammatory pathology. Our analysis of human tumor data hints that LIF may also have local effects supporting cancer-associated fibroblasts, a cell-type which has recently drawn attention as key member of the tumor immune environment (285).

Finally, the parallel mechanisms of IL-1 $\alpha$  and LIF present in our model and in some human cancers can synergize to increase PMN production (Figure 7G).

Our data add depth and scope to the mechanisms by which cancers manipulate the host to generate a favorable immune environment for their growth, stretching as far up the differentiation hierarchy as primitive hematopoietic stem cells and their associated niche. One avenue that our paper focuses on is the cytokine axis established by tumor cells themselves. This focus uses an emerging classification of tumors by their functional effects that helps overcome heterogeneity both within and between tumor types and also makes comparisons of tumor pathology more congruous across species boundaries (286). Studying tumor-derived cytokines also dovetails with the recent developments in understanding the reaction of HSPCs to inflammation (250, 287-290). Our data also adds to the growing evidence supporting an active role in pathology played by HSPCs through inflammatory cytokine production (247, 291). Many cases of cytokine-induced changes to HSPCs result in myeloid lineage bias. This shift towards the production of myeloid cells benefits tumor growth while tending to harm cancer patients. Across multiple tumor types, including breast, colon, pancreatic, and gastric cancer, as well as a systematic review of all cancer types, a high neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio is an independent prognostic factor for survival (254-257). In addition to increased quantity, myeloid cells produced in communication with cancer cells have unique qualities that help drive cancer pathology, such as myeloid-derived suppressor cells (247). Our data expand the function of inflammatory cytokines produced by HSPCs beyond myeloid lineage biasing. Particularly, we provide data showing that  $TNF\alpha$  produced by HSPCs can regulate the function of their own niche. In concert with tumor-produced LIF that expands the quantity of splenic HSPC niche cells, tumor-derived IL-1 $\alpha$  induces TNF $\alpha$  production by HSPCs to alter niche function into

favoring increased EMH. This data warrants future studies addressing whether disruption of the local IL- $1\alpha$ /TNF $\alpha$  axis can impede EMH and how cell products of EMH induced by IL- $1\alpha$  and LIF impact the tumor microenvironment and cancer outcomes.

## **Chapter 3: Conclusion and future directions**

Hematopoiesis touches every facet of vertebrate biology. Yet, a complete scientific understanding of it is still developing. Many open questions still remain in understanding how hematopoiesis develops into its adult form, the nature of self-renewal and differentiation, to what types of injury does it respond, how these responses occur and their impacts, whether these responses leave a permanent impact on the process, and through what effects can hematopoiesis transform into malignancy. These questions focus specifically on hematopoiesis itself and do not begin to address the impact of hematopoiesis on organ or organismal biology, let alone disease processes such as cancers of other organ systems. Still, as scientific techniques continue to advance, the questions that are able to be answered grows and further questions become uncovered while old questions become set for reexamination.

As the immune system begins to be appreciated as a major contributor to nearly every pathologic condition, hematopoiesis begins to be appreciated alongside it as one contributor to the phenotypic outcome of the blood and immune cells involved. As myeloid cells are known to be an important facet of pathologies whose functional contribution can vary based on the immune environment, the production of myeloid cells and their phenotype has been a focus of study for hematopoiesis during pathology. Since cancer is a major killer of people across the world (225) and is a pathology where myeloid cells play a central role in response to emerging immune directed treatments (292, 293), it is therefore sensible for studies of myelopoiesis to occur. While many potential avenues exist for additional therapeutics targeting aberrant myelopoiesis in the context of solid tumor pathology, investigations into the hematopoietic niche were a novel angle.

As with stem cell systems across the body, stem cells of the hematopoietic system are accompanied by a microanatomical environment known as the stem cell niche that supports and directs the function of the hematopoietic stem cells (45, 258, 259). While studies of the niche are even further in their infancy than studies of hematopoiesis more broadly, nonetheless information about the niche is nearing the cusp of being useful therapeutically. Additionally, in recent years, the ability of the hematopoietic system to expand outside of its quiescent niche within the bone marrow and conduct hematopoiesis at distal sites has become to be appreciated as a common response to pathology in both mice and humans (136, 138, 242, 244, 246, 294). Finally, stromal cells of the body are beginning to be understood as playing an important in immune responses more generally (295-297). These facts combined beg the question of how the stromal cells that comprise the hematopoietic niche of extramedullary sites respond to the inflammation generated during the presence of solid tumors and how those changes impact hematopoiesis at these sites.

In this body of work, my colleagues and I have identified a population of stromal cells in the red pulp of the spleen that is analogous to the stromal population of bone marrow that performs vital hemtatopoietic niche functions. Additionally, these cells are arrayed closely with hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells during extramedullary hematopoiesis. Finally, these cells respond to inflammatory cytokines produced as a result of tumor presence by expanding their capacity to support local hematopoiesis.

In the future, my work could be improved upon technically in several ways. First, though my work focuses on the spleen, other important secondary hematopoietic organs like the liver were not studied in detail. The liver is an interesting possibility because it is often cited as a companion to the spleen as sites of extramedullary hematopoiesis though it differs dramatically in tissue organization from the spleen. In particular, it has a paucity of fibroblastic stromal cells when compared to the spleen and the bone marrow. In contrast, endothelial cells are also a potential stromal niche cell that are highly numerous in the liver and have been implicated as the niche forming cell (147). That all being said, the liver is well-understood to increase its hematopoietic capacity in response to cytokines like G-CSF and therefore it may similarly respond to cytokines like IL-1 $\alpha$  and LIF. Together, this makes the liver an attractive target for expanding the number of organs capable of responding to cytokine stimulated extramedullary hematopoiesis. Though, just as there were technical hurdles that needed to be surmounted to study extramedullary hematopoiesis in the spleen, other hurdles would need to be addressed in the liver, some of which may be unsolvable. In particular, unlike the spleen, the liver is a vital organ and therefore testing its contribution to myelopoiesis would be daunting. Additionally, the liver has an immune cell compartment that is smaller and more difficult to access compared to the spleen.

Second, though my work did expand the tumor models investigated to include a lung carcinoma and a sarcoma, these did not fully capture the diversity of models present within tumor biology and the diversity of experimental conditions that could influence extramedullary hematopoiesis as a phenotype. Initially, one issue that is of interest is whether the location of the tumors, either *in situ* or in a heterologous location, impacts the development of extramedullary hematopoiesis. Our model system used heterotopic injections for cell line based tumors. However, PyMT-B6 and LLC carcinomas both have a primary location that could modulate the impact of tumor presence on EMH. This presents an experimental set-up that might yield interesting information when the effect on extramedullary hematopoiesis of identical tumors is compared between implantation in the orthotopic site or the heterotopic site. This would isolate the stromal environments impact which has been shown to be important for other aspects of cancer biology. Additionally, genetic or inducible models could be further explored that have the added benefits

of being potentially better models of human disease and of occurring over a longer time period. Potentially, these changes to the tumor model would also alter the development of extramedullary hematopoiesis in the spleen or other organs and ideally make findings more relevant to human disease.

Third, in response to reviewers' comments, confocal imaging was performed on the spleen in the context of LIF expanded hematopoiesis. This technical modality offered a unique insight into the splenic niche that was not fully utilized in my paper. Specifically, the shape of stromal cells is not conducive to easy study by flow cytometry or thin section immunofluorescence. Because these cells tend to have large, irregular shapes and intimate connection with the extracellular matrix, they are difficult isolate for single cell suspension directly out of the spleen. Given the proper time to set-up the technique more thoroughly, aspects of the niche such as the spatial relationship of the hematopoietic progenitors and the stromal cells could have been assessed in complementary ways to the existing data. Also, this technique could have been used to validate single cell RNA-seq data and the *in vitro* data regarding aspects of the stromal cells. In particular, it would have been beneficial to see the co-expression of the PDGFR $\alpha$  and PDGFR $\beta$  markers on cells in the spleen and to see expression of KIT ligand or other niche associated factors. With a basic understanding of the 3-dimensional layout of the splenic niche, quantitative experiments could be designed such as enumeration of the stromal niche cells or of hematopoietic/niche clusters with or without tumor. This additional experimental readout would bolster claims made using other techniques and complement the inherently spatial organization of the hematopoietic niche.

Fourth, though single cell RNA-sequencing was successful at capturing changes to the hematopoietic precursor compartment within the bone marrow and spleen following tumor transplantation, it did not capture much information regarding changes to the stroma. Specifically,

though a small number of stromal cells were captured, they did not match our expectation for the number or diversity of stromal cells within either organ. Potential causes of this technical issue are numerous, and our current information on how this occurred is incomplete. However, existence of papers which successfully profile stromal cells in the bone marrow and other locations exist. Therefore, we can largely rule out a technical incompatibility existing between the sequencing modality and the cell types. However, though they are able to be sequenced, that does not mean that whole cell single sequencing is the ideal platform. For instance, neurons, another cell type with complicated morphologies, are not well samples by whole cell sequencing and have more successfully been captured by single nucleus RNA-sequencing (298). This may be especially true when stromal cells directly compete for capture with hematopoietic cells that are generally excellently sequenced by whole cell modalities. It is possible that changes to analysis during flow cytometry could improve capture of stromal cells by, for instance, expanding the singlet and SSC/FSC gates to allow for larger and more irregular cells. However, perhaps following technical innovation in the neuronal field such as single nuclear sequencing would provide better capture. This would be helped by novel genetic labeling markers specifically designed for nuclear capture and flow cytometry, such as the NuTRAP mouse (299). Once the technical barriers to capture stromal cells using single cell RNA-sequencing is overcome, this opens the possibility for comparisons of the gene expression between stromal populations in the bone marrow and spleen with or without tumor presence. This data could shed further light on the genetic mechanisms that are allowing for the expansion of hematopoiesis and enhanced myelopoiesis within our tumor models.

Finally, certain experiments that would have answered interesting questions about the stromal niche cells were hindered by poor reagents. In particular, I found antibodies against surface

markers for stromal cells to be very lacking. Though I was able to get useful data from antibodies against surface KIT ligand, this was polyclonal antibody with high background. The development of a monoclonal antibody against this target would have expanded my experimental capabilities, particularly from the perspective of imaging. Additionally, there were several surface proteins that were identified as being marker genes for these stromal niche cells that no antibodies whatsoever. In contrast to studying hematopoietic cells, I was surprised by the dearth of commercial, functional antibodies against stromal antigens.

Though there are areas where experimentation is possible to further solidify my findings, our current data still presents a powerful and useful picture from which one could build. With my data as a foundation, we can begin to speculate about the further areas of exploration that follow from both my research and from existing pieces of literature and public data.

An obvious next step to bridge the translational impact of my work would be to use human cells and tissue samples to begin to understand the potential relevance of my work to clinical medicine. Human mesenchymal stem cells are phenotypically very similar to the splenic stromal cells I identified in my work (*107*). Importantly, they have been demonstrated to possess the capacity to maintain human hematopoietic stem cells *in vitro* (*107*). This begs the question whether the effects we have seen with mouse splenic stromal cells would be replicated by these human mesenchymal stem cells as well. As TNF $\alpha$  has broadly distributed receptors, it is reasonable to assume that these cells do respond to this cytokine. However, the CXCR2 ligands of human differ slightly from mice and includes an important cytokine IL-8/CXCL8 (*300*). It is possible that the chemokines released by MSCs in response to inflammatory cytokines like TNF $\alpha$  might not match the mouse data. Additionally, CD34+ human hematopoietic progenitors are readily available, and it would be relatively trivial to assess whether these cells respond to IL-1 $\alpha$  similarly to their mouse

counter parts. As for being able to study organismal physiology in the context of the solid tumors, the acquisition of samples is a clear hindrance in this case. In particular, spleens are rarely biopsied while the patient is alive or without a secondary injury and therefore studies of hematopoiesis within this context would prove difficult. However, post-mortem samples may provide an interesting source of samples though they would be limited to histologic studies. Additionally, liver biopsies are more commonly performed and may offer insight into extramedullary hematopoiesis, though at a different site than the spleen.

While this work focuses on the expansion of myeloid-biased hematopoietic capacity in the spleen, the potential exists for there to be conditions in which lymphoid biased hematopoiesis occurs at extramedullary sites. One disease state that seems plausible for the presence of lymphoid biased hematopoiesis if it exists are during viral infection. In particular, Epstein-Barr virus is wellknown to cause splenomegaly which throughout the course of my work has been a strong indicator of ongoing splenic hematopoiesis (301). However, unlike solid tumors, the predominant phenotype in the peripheral blood is not neutrophilia but instead is lymphocytosis (301). Additionally, there is a potential reasoning for the extra production of lymphocytes during viral infection because they can produce antibody to neutralize the virus through B-cell production and recognize virally infected cells through CD8+ T-cells. B-cells in particular would likely be the target of enhanced lymphopoiesis as the germinal center reaction leads to large scale B-cell death and may need additional input from progenitor cells to maintain the reaction (302). The lymphocytic response from Epstein-Barr virus also contains gamma-delta T-cells and NK cells that may also be a target of enhanced lymphopoiesis because they do not require as in-depth educational steps during development compared to B- or T-cells but are still important aspects of the immune response (301). Additionally, enhanced lymphopoiesis could be a mechanism by which non-self-tolerant T-

cell clones are produced if for instance the mechanisms of increased T-cell generation leads to decreased selective pressure and clones surviving that would normally be deleted by tolerance mechanisms in the thymus. Despite this logic for the existence of enhanced lymphopoiesis, evidence for its existence is sparse. One tantalizing article describes overexpression of IL-21 as being able to dramatically increase the number of Lin-/c-Kit+/Sca-1+ cells within the spleen (303). Unlike many cytokines implicated in myeloid-biased hematopoiesis, the function of IL-21 has generally been described in relation to germinal center reactions and its role in modulating B-cells (304). This opens the possibility that it could be acting on stem or progenitor cells to increase Bcell production for use in the germinal center reaction. This indicates that just as there exist cytokines like G-CSF, which act on mature myeloid cells as well as having an effect of hematopoietic progenitors, there are cytokines, while whose predominant function is on mature lymphocytes, that have effects also on the progenitor level. Together, I think that there are compelling first principle reasons to search for evidence of enhanced lymphopoiesis in the context of pathology. However, there are also compelling reasons to believe that the scope of pathologies that have this property and that the degree to which it is enacted are more limited compared to emergency myelopoiesis.

Further extramedullary sites in mice and humans are deserving of study outside of the spleen. In the context of solid tumors, many organs and locations were identified as containing cases of extramedullary hematopoiesis (*136, 138*). While sites that would be expected were identified such as the spleen and liver, several unexpected places were also found such as the paraspinal region, peritoneum, bronchia, adrenal gland, endometrium, pancreas, and ureter (*135, 136, 138*). The breadth of the sites capable of conducting hematopoiesis is astonishing and hints at a broader relevance of this phenomenon than is commonly appreciated. Additionally, as has

been discussed in the literature, extramedullary hematopoiesis is likely to be underreported for a couple of reasons (294). First, extramedullary hematopoiesis does not produce distinguishing features on imaging and requires biopsy to confirm, which may not be desirable in many cases. Second, clinicians are not often aware of the possibility for hematopoiesis to occur outside of the bone marrow and may not be looking for it to occur when treating patients. That being said, of the sites of extramedullary hematopoiesis, two in particular standout to me: the skin and lymph nodes.

The skin is of interest for study because cutaneous hematopoiesis, the 'blueberry muffin rash', is a hallmark of pre-natal TORCH infections (137). Cutaneous hematopoiesis is odd because unlike extramedullary hematopoiesis in the spleen or liver, it is never a predominant site of developmental hematopoiesis. Indeed, the skin would seem at first glance to be an inadequate site for hematopoiesis because it does not offer the security of the bone marrow nor the vascular access of the spleen or liver. Perhaps its appearance in response to overwhelming pre-natal infection belies drastically expanded hematopoiesis in other sites throughout the body that is still unable to match the scope of the infection.

Lymph node hematopoiesis is of interest because evidence suggests they form the predominant site of extramedullary hematopoiesis in the presence of solid tumors. Conceptually, lymph nodes and spleen share a function as organs of immune surveillance for different fluid compartments in the body, the lymph and blood, respectively. Additionally, on a finer level, the microanatomical organization of the two organs also rhymes. However, one key difference in the context of solid tumors is that the lymph node will be experiencing an increased load of cytokines from the tumor mass. Assuming that the lymph node stroma is as equally reactive as the spleen, one would expect that lymph node hematopoiesis would be more dramatic than in the spleen itself.

However, draining lymph nodes are also common sites of first metastasis and therefore tumor growth in the lymph node may obscure any ongoing hematopoiesis if it is occurring.

The diversity but also the hierarchical nature of locations for extramedullary hematopoiesis indicates that not all stromal cells that form the niche are equally functional or potentially require additional signals to activate. One potential line of investigation that is opened due to my work is to profile the tissue specific differences between PDGFR $\alpha/\beta$  cells across tissues to understand how their niche functions may be regulated by the tissue environment. Current literature suggests that mesenchymal stem cells across tissue types do have important phenotypic differences (*149, 305*). Comparative studies across organs may lead us to a better understanding of what drives niche activity and why it does predominantly occur in only a few organs and only have a large permanent activity in the bone marrow. One location that has many cells with this phenotype but does not appear to have a large capacity for extramedullary hematopoiesis is muscle tissue (*267*). Potentially, there is a specific differentiation or genetic profile required to active niche potential in these cells that is not present in the muscle.

Following from this idea is the nature of these splenic stromal cells themselves and whether they possess stemness of their own. One of the defining features of mesenchymal stem cells is their stemness (*112, 306*). For instance, bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells are consistently reported as being capable of differentiating into osteoblasts, chondrocytes, and adipocytes (*112, 306*). However, as central as this characteristic may appear, there is debate about the degree of stemness in these cells. Returning to the example of the bone marrow mesenchymal stem cell, those cell types that are reported to be downstream of the stem cells themselves are all normal components of the bone stromal environment. In contrast, none of those cell types are reported under homeostasis within the splenic environment. Furthermore, mesenchymal stem cells from the skeletal muscle possess myogenic capabilities (*307*). Potentially stemness of mesenchymal stem cells and the breadth of their differentiation potential is also tissue dependent along with their niche potential.

Another set of open questions under the heading of mesenchymal stem cell identity is their in vivo identity and specifically their association with vasculature (308). Several publications have identified mesenchymal stem cells as having a close spatial relationship with vasculature (308). Some have even claimed that pericytes are the true origin of mesenchymal stem cells (308). However, pericytes are identified as being PDGFR $\beta$  single positive as compared to mesenchymal stem cells as having expression of both PDGFR $\alpha$  and PDGFR $\beta$  (309). Whether this represents a true distinction of cell type or a change to the culture environment is an interesting question. One alternative question of relevance to cellular therapy modalities involving mesenchymal stem cells is what is the identity of these cells after injection. Potentially splenic mesenchymal stem cells may offer a useful experimental system for studying this. For instance, it would be reasonable to assume that cells with minimal mobility such as mesenchymal stem cells would be caught within the spleen when injected systemically. Studies of the fate of these cells in the spleen may shed light onto the identity of mesenchymal stem cells. Furthermore, if mesenchymal stem cells are able to successfully colonize the spleen after injection, experiments involving genetic manipulation of these cells could be a useful tool for studying extramedullary hematopoiesis. One could imagine removing a potentially critical factor from these injected cells and then investigating whether their niche function is preserved. Either way, this close stromal/endothelial relationship may be informative when deciphering the existing literature and designing future experiments. Many studies identify endothelial cells as contributing to the hematopoietic niche. However, care must be taken in interpreting these data because it is not always straightforward to fully dissociate these two cell types.

While my experiments have focused on the myelopoietic of the splenic stromal cells, there exists evidence to suspect that they also possess lymphopoietic activity as well. Most importantly these cells according to ImmGen and single cell RNA-sequencing of the bone marrow are the strongest producers of IL-7, a factor required for lymphopoiesis, and a strong producer of Flt3 ligand, another lymphopoeitic factor. This may be relevant to the exploration of enhanced lymphopoiesis discussed earlier. One could imagine a chain of events similar to those described in my work leading to expanded lymphopoesis instead of myelopoiesis. Of particular interest is the ability of activated T-cells to express LIF (310). There than exists a direct circuit from activated T-cells in the spleen releasing LIF onto splenic stromal cells and activating them for increased hematopoiesis. With the proper cytokine milieu, this could directly stimulate the production of more T-cells to continue the immune response. Taken from another angle, this T-cell/mesenchymal stem cell interaction may also be important in the thymus where T-cell progenitors are directly produced and thymic mesenchymal stem cells are present.

On the flip side of the coin from what factors mesenchymal stem cells produce is what factors mesenchymal stem cells can respond to. In particular two factors related to our study might be of interest to future studies: oncostatin M and IL-1 family members.

Oncostatin M is an IL-6 family cytokine but more importantly it also can signal through the LIF receptor and its own private oncostatin M receptor (*311*). Like we have shown for its family member LIF, oncostatin M has activities on the hematopoietic system such as driving myelopoiesis (*312*). Oncostatin M also has a well-recognized effects on stromal cells (*310*). Oncostatin M was also used a part of the cell culture media for human mesenchymal stem cells in a paper where they demonstrated that these cells have niche capability (106). Additionally, oncostatin M receptor is expressed by PDGFRa/ß cells both by ImmGen and single cell RNAsequencing. However, oncostatin M differs from LIF in important ways. Most importantly, oncostatin M can signal through STAT1 in addition to STAT3 (311). This changes what genes oncostatin M activates. Additionally, oncostatin M has different cellular sources than LIF. Though both LIF and oncostatin M are expressed by mast cells in our single cell dataset of the spleen, oncostatin M expression is also reported across numerous immune cell subset including T-cells, monocytes, macrophages, and neutrophils (311). Given the breadth of cell types and increased representation of immune cell types, the disease that oncostatin M has been recognized in are distinct from LIF. In particular, oncostatin M has been widely associated with joint disease. Importantly, oncostatin M is found in the synovial fluid of patients with rheumatoid arthritis (313-315). Additionally, oncostatin M was recently identified as being a biomarker of failure to respond to anti-TNFa therapy in inflammatory bowel disease (316). Together, these data indicate that oncostatin M is an important cytokine associated with pathology and expanded hematopoiesis that has overlapping yet distinct effects compared with LIF.

Another receptor for a stromal active cytokine that is expressed on PDGFR $\alpha/\beta$  cells that might have broader implications for pathology is IL-1 receptor. In addition to its expression on hematopoietic stem cells, IL-1 receptor also has strong expression on PDGFR $\alpha/\beta$  cells. Indeed a couple of papers have identified the importance of stromal cells in responding to IL-1 inflammation (*317, 318*). However, the effects of ligands to this receptor on these cells is poorly understood. Additionally, IL-1 family has two cytokines with different expression patterns and biology: IL-1 $\alpha$  and IL-1 $\beta$  (*173*). In model of Kawasaki disease vasculitis, both IL-1 $\alpha$  and IL-1 $\beta$  were both required in the hematopoietic compartment while IL-1 receptor was required in the stromal compartment for disease (*317*). In another paper, IL-1 receptor signaling in intestinal stroma was identified as a being an important driver of neutrophil recruitment (*318*). Together, both oncostatin M and IL-1 represent interesting avenues to continue studying the response of stromal niche cell to systemic inflammation during disease.

Another aspect of stromal response to cytokines that begs to be addressed is the necessity of LIF receptor expression in stromal cells. Though we were able to identify hematopoietic defects in mice with conditional deletion of LIF receptor in PDGFR $\alpha$ + cells, we not able to identify a mode of death for these animals. However, several potential mechanisms are possible. Given the well-established role of LIF in stimulating growth of stromal cells, we hypothesize that death in these animals occurs where there is a need for cells that is required for life. In particular, we believe the intestinal tract and neural system present the most likely mechanisms. Mice lacking PDGFRa develop abnormal intestinal tracts characterized by the loss of pericryptal mesenchymal cells and misshapen villi (319). Additionally, these PDGFR $\alpha$  cells make up the intestinal epithelial stem cell niche and when critical stemness factors are deleted from this population, epithelial response to injury is negatively affected (320). These data suggest that the population of PDGFR $\alpha$  expressing cells within the intestinal stroma play an important role in intestinal development and homeostasis. It is therefore reasonable to assume that disrupting the growth of these cells might lead to impaired nutrient uptake and anti-bacterial mucosal defenses that could lead to a failure to thrive phenotype akin to what we observe. On the other hand, oligodendrocyte precursor cells are an important cell type of the nervous system that is capable of generating new oligodendrocytes to myelinate neuron axons. These cells are well-recognized as being PDGFRa+ (321). Furthermore, LIF signaling has been identified as being able to induce proliferation within the oligodendrocyte precursor

population (199). Loss of this cell population may have stunted neuronal development necessary to cause the early death of these animals. Together, the striking phenotype of animals with LIF receptor signaling loss in PDGFR $\alpha$ + cell highlights how these cells represent an important constituent of many organs and that LIF signaling is vital to their homeostasis.

Although our system did not require LIF receptor in the endothelial compartment, its high expression presents an interesting question as to its utility in this cell type. However, research on this topic presents a confusing picture. One study of LIF knockout animals found that LIF inhibited VEGF expression (322). Another study found that LIF inhibits bovine angiogenesis *in vitro* (323). Finally, LIF has been shown to lead to differentiation of cardiac stem cells into endothelium (324). In contrast, another study found that LIF preserves stemness in endothelial progenitor cells (325) and yet another paper found that LIF was mitogenic to choroidal endothelium within the bovine retina but inhibitory to aortic endothelium (326). Together these papers present a muddied picture of what the function of LIF receptor signaling might be to endothelium. However, perhaps further experimentation and use of modern techniques might be able to add clarity to this field. One potential avenue for exploration would be to see whether LIF helps endothelium from the bone marrow or spleen act as niche cells for hematopoietic progenitors in a co-culture system.

On the topic of co-cultures, our paper delineates a novel method for study of extramedullary hematopoiesis by co-culture bone marrow hematopoietic progenitors with splenic stromal cells. When grown together, this system is able to continually produce hematopoietic progenitors for at least 21 days. This is a remarkable system that can potentially offer further insight into the mechanisms of niche activation during extramedullary hematopoiesis while also still able to be improved technically. First, further characterization of the hematopoietic cells generated in co-culture could be undertaken. This might be potentially fruitful because the flow

cytometry plots of the Lin- compartment show an odd phenotype of cells compared to either the bone marrow or spleen. A more in-depth panel could illuminate what these cells are becoming. From IL-7 and Flt3 ligand expression data discussed earlier it seems likely that the majority of cells produced in this system are of lymphoid or dendritic cell lineages. Second, experiments could be conducted to see how cytokine perturbations to the co-culture system affect hematopoiesis. Cytokines that might be of particular interest include IL-1 $\alpha$ , LIF, OSM, and IL-1 $\beta$ . Readouts could include number and differentiation state of the hematopoietic cells derived from progenitors in co-culture. Third, genetic knockouts could be made to either component of the co-culture and the outcomes of hematopoiesis could be assessed. Of particular interest might be IL-7 expression in the mesenchymal stem cell fraction or IL-1 receptor expression in either fraction. Finally, this system is amenable to imaging modalities such as live-cell imaging. This could be used to interrogate with increased precision the inter-cellular signaling occurring between hematopoietic progenitors and their niche. With these tools, further understanding of the extramedullary hematopoietic niche could be acquired.

In contrast with some implications of my work on pathology-associated splenic hematopoiesis, the spleen is not completely hematologically quiescent in the mouse during homeostasis. While splenic erythropoiesis is understood to occur both in the liver and spleen during development and continue until week 7 post-partum in the spleen (*327*), the erythropoietic role of the spleen during adulthood is still being determined. Multiple papers have identified the spleen as an important site of stress erythropoiesis during pathology. For instance, the spleen in a mouse model of atherosclerosis has increased levels of erythroid progenitors in the spleen (*328*). In particular, multiple lines of evidence suggest that G-CSF can induce the shift of erythropoiesis from the bone marrow to the spleen (*153, 329*). Contrary to the assertions of these papers, some

of my data suggests that the mouse spleen conducts erythropoiesis at baseline. In particular, when scRNA-seq of splenic progenitors at homeostasis were analyzed alone, my single cell RNA-sequencing data suggests that most prominent c-Kit+ progenitors of the spleen at homeostasis are erythroid progenitors. Accompanying this, flow cytometry data from the homeostatic spleen does include a small population of Lin-/Sca-1-/c-Kit+/CD34-/CD16/32- cells consistent with megakaryocyte and erythrocyte progenitors. Together these data open the possibility for understanding the degree to which the spleen can conduct erythropoiesis at homeostasis as well as during disease.

The implications of baseline hematopoiesis in the spleen skewed towards erythropoiesis bring up another potential line of inquiry: the unique properties of tissue hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells. As has been discussed previously, more and more sites around the body are capable of conducting hematopoiesis given the correct pathologic or developmental state. Recent years have seen a growth in experimentation supporting the importance and unique characteristics of immune cells that take residence in different tissues. Taken together, this implies that hematopoietic stem cells may also have unique properties depending on their site of residence. In fact, a recent paper shows that there exists a reservoir of megakaryocyte progenitors within the lungs that contributes significantly to platelet biogenesis (330). One could even make the case that the thymus is also a site where tissue specific effects lead to the preferential production of T-cells. For instance, double negative thymocytes, the most primitive T-cell progenitor are known to have multipotency and possess a Lin-/c-Kit+/Sca-1+ surface phenotype (331). Looking further afield, the bursa of Fabricius, a primary lymphoid organ in avian animals, and the ileal Peyer's patch of ruminants are sites of B-cell specific hematopoiesis (332). When considered in the light of tissue specific hematopoeisis, my own data supports this by suggesting that the spleen may be a

permanent site of erythropoiesis that can be expanded during stressors. Taking cues from other immunologic fields, one is tempted to ask whether tissue resident hematopoietic progenitors of tissues like the spleen vary qualitatively from those that migrate there transiently and to ask what tissue specific signals push differentiation towards specific lineages. At the confluence of both solid tumor pathology and tissue specific hematopoiesis is the question of whether hematopoiesis can occur within tumors themselves. While outwardly slightly outlandish, a recent paper published on the identification of hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells within human glioblastomas (*333*). These observations reveal that we may be on the cusp of the developing field of tissue specific hematopoiesis.

A contrasting idea to tissue specific hematopoiesis is to ask why the bone marrow is the predominant site of homeostatic hematopoiesis in adults and why it does not respond as vigorously to stress as other sites such as the liver and spleen. One potential idea is that bone marrow is already filled with stromal progenitors tasked with producing bone and cartilage and thus has a large supply of potential niche cells to direct hematopoiesis. During stress and due to the inelasticity of the marrow space, this site cannot expand further to accommodate increased hematopoietic capacity. This restriction might make the two most prominent vascular organs of the abdominal cavity a natural site for expanded hematopoiesis.

One significant point of interest that my data does not address is the potential for different tumor types to impact extramedullary hematopoiesis or interact with stem cell niches in different ways. Some mechanisms might be more obvious like the potential for different hematopoietic active cytokines to be produced by different tumor types and have activity systemically. However, it is also of interest how different stages or capabilities of similar tumor types might interact with the hematopoietic system. For instance, one could imagine that metastases might have stronger impacts on extramedullary hematopoiesis because their cytokine products might have better vascular access. Additionally, c-KIT is also known to be expressed by certain solid tumor types (334, 335). One fascinating aspect is that gastrointestinal stromal tumors are likely to harbor mutations in c-Kit. This is utilized in treatment strategies as c-Kit is targeted by the drug imatinib, and tumors generally have impressive responses to the treatment (336). This also hints at the potential for these cells to require KIT ligand. Taken further, it is possible that successful metastasis of these tumors requires the presence of KIT ligand expressing niche cells in the metastatic site to support growth. Speculating on the impact hematopoietic niche cells in solid tumors also opens the doors for speculating on the importance of hematopoietic niches for the growth of hematopoietic tumors (337). While the hematopoietic niche is certainly important for liquid tumors, a couple of second-order aspects interest me in particular: mechanisms of bone marrow failure and the potential for tissue specific niches to favor certain cancer types. One aspect of the stem cell niche is maintaining quiescent stem cells. One way that bone marrow failure has been hypothesized to occur with acute myeloid leukemia is through enforced quiescence of nonleukemia stem cells (338). This may be a result of signaling from the leukemic cells through the stem cell niche. Of the most likely places for metastasis, the spleen and lymph nodes were the most likely metastatic organ in acute lymphoblastic, chronic lymphocytic, acute myeloblastic, and chronic myelocytic leukemias (339). While later developmental stages must be taken into account, the presence of the lymph nodes and spleen as sites of metastasis may in part be due to their receptivity for hematopoietic progenitors. Interestingly, cancers such as acute lymphoblastic leukemia are accompanied by production of cytokines associated with extramedullary hematopoiesis in the spleen such as TNF $\alpha$  and IL-1 $\beta$  (340).

Accompanying the idea of developed leukemia interacting with the stem cell niche is the potential for the development of leukemias. Therapy-related myeloid leukemia are class of myelodysplastic or acute myeloid leukemia that occur as a complication to cytotoxic therapy given for other diseases (*341*). While hematopoietic malignancies are highly likely to develop therapy-related leukemia, non-hematopoietic tumors such as breast cancer also develop therapy-related leukemias. One study identified that the presence of G-CSF in therapeutic modalities increased the risk for developing therapy-related leukemias even when controlled for other chemotherapeutics (*342*). This potentially indicates that the expansion of hematopoiesis by G-CSF may provide increased selective pressure for the development of pre-leukemic clones by increasing the pool of clones before it is reduced by chemotherapeutics. Additionally, different sites of hematopoiesis may lead to the development of T-cell acute lymphocytic leukemia is dependent not on the thymus but the spleen (*343*). Together, these data indicate that extramedullary stem cell niches and the process of expanding hematopoiesis potentially play important roles in leukemogenesis.

The results of my graduate work demonstrate interesting biology regarding extramedullary stem cell niches and cancer. However, as is hopefully demonstrated in the above discussion, these results, when interpreted in light of existing scientific knowledge, offer increased opportunities to understand biologic questions plaguing a diverse array of disease relevant fields.

## **Bibliography**

- 1. R. D. Owen, Immunogenetic consequences of vascular anastomoses between bovine twins. *Science (New York, NY)* **102**, 400-401 (1945).
- 2. R. E. Billingham, G. Lampkin, P. B. Medawar, H. L. Williams, Tolerance to homografts, twin diagnosis, and the freemartin condition in cattle. *Heredity* **6**, 201-212 (1952).
- 3. R. E. Billingham, L. Brent, P. B. Medawar, 'Actively acquired tolerance' of foreign cells. *Nature* **172**, 603-606 (1953).
- 4. E. D. Thomas, K. G. Blume, S. J. Forman, *Hematopoietic cell transplantation*. (Blackwell Science Malden, MA, 1999).
- 5. J. M. Main, R. T. Prehn, Successful skin homografts after the administration of high dosage X radiation and homologous bone marrow. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute* **15**, 1023-1029 (1955).
- 6. I. L. Weissman, J. A. Shizuru, The origins of the identification and isolation of hematopoietic stem cells, and their capability to induce donor-specific transplantation tolerance and treat autoimmune diseases. *Blood, The Journal of the American Society of Hematology* **112**, 3543-3553 (2008).
- 7. C. A. Whitlock, O. N. Witte, Long-term culture of B lymphocytes and their precursors from murine bone marrow. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* **79**, 3608-3612 (1982).
- 8. T. M. Dexter, T. D. Allen, L. Lajtha, Conditions controlling the proliferation of haemopoietic stem cells in vitro. *Journal of cellular physiology* **91**, 335-344 (1977).
- 9. R. Schofield, The relationship between the spleen colony-forming cell and the haemopoietic stem cell. *Blood cells* **4**, 7-25 (1978).
- 10. C. E. Muller-Sieburg, C. A. Whitlock, I. L. Weissman, Isolation of two early B lymphocyte progenitors from mouse marrow: a committed pre-pre-B cell and a clonogenic Thy-1lo hematopoietic stem cell. *Cell* **44**, 653-662 (1986).
- 11. G. J. Spangrude, S. Heimfeld, I. L. Weissman, Purification and characterization of mouse hematopoietic stem cells. *Science* **241**, 58-62 (1988).
- 12. K. Ikuta, I. L. Weissman, Evidence that hematopoietic stem cells express mouse c-kit but do not depend on steel factor for their generation. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* **89**, 1502-1506 (1992).
- 13. R. Berenson *et al.*, Antigen CD34+ marrow cells engraft lethally irradiated baboons. *The Journal of clinical investigation* **81**, 951-955 (1988).
- 14. K. Akashi, D. Traver, T. Miyamoto, I. L. Weissman, A clonogenic common myeloid progenitor that gives rise to all myeloid lineages. *Nature* **404**, 193-197 (2000).
- 15. M. Kondo, I. L. Weissman, K. Akashi, Identification of clonogenic common lymphoid progenitors in mouse bone marrow. *Cell* **91**, 661-672 (1997).
- 16. C. J. Evans, V. Hartenstein, U. Banerjee, Thicker than blood: conserved mechanisms in Drosophila and vertebrate hematopoiesis. *Developmental cell* **5**, 673-690 (2003).
- 17. J. Pascual-Anaya *et al.*, The evolutionary origins of chordate hematopoiesis and vertebrate endothelia. *Developmental Biology* **375**, 182-192 (2013).

- 18. R. Muñoz-Chápuli, R. Carmona, J. Guadix, D. Macías, J. Pérez-Pomares, The origin of the endothelial cells: an evo-devo approach for the invertebrate/vertebrate transition of the circulatory system. *Evolution & development* **7**, 351-358 (2005).
- 19. K. Choi, M. Kennedy, A. Kazarov, J. C. Papadimitriou, G. Keller, A common precursor for hematopoietic and endothelial cells. *Development* **125**, 725-732 (1998).
- 20. B. Rosental *et al.*, Complex mammalian-like haematopoietic system found in a colonial chordate. *Nature* **564**, 425-429 (2018).
- 21. R. Elsaid *et al.*, Hematopoiesis: a layered organization across chordate species. *Frontiers in Cell and Developmental Biology* **8**, 1557 (2020).
- 22. T. Boehm *et al.*, Evolution of alternative adaptive immune systems in vertebrates. *Annual review of immunology* **36**, 19-42 (2018).
- 23. R. Manca, C. A. Glomski, A. Pica, Evolutionary intraembryonic origin of vertebrate hematopoietic stem cells in the elasmobranch spleen. *European Journal of Histochemistry: EJH* **62**, (2018).
- 24. R. Manca, C. A. Glomski, A. Pica, Hematopoietic stem cells debut in embryonic lymphomyeloid tissues of elasmobranchs. *European Journal of Histochemistry: EJH* 63, (2019).
- 25. M. A. Moore, D. Metcalf, Ontogeny of the haemopoietic system: yolk sac origin of in vivo and in vitro colony forming cells in the developing mouse embryo. *British journal of haematology* **18**, 279-296 (1970).
- 26. J. Palis, S. Robertson, M. Kennedy, C. Wall, G. Keller, Development of erythroid and myeloid progenitors in the yolk sac and embryo proper of the mouse. *Development* **126**, 5073-5084 (1999).
- 27. J. Tober *et al.*, The megakaryocyte lineage originates from hemangioblast precursors and is an integral component both of primitive and of definitive hematopoiesis. *Blood* **109**, 1433-1441 (2007).
- 28. M.-j. Xu *et al.*, Evidence for the presence of murine primitive megakarycytopoiesis in the early yolk sac. *Blood, The Journal of the American Society of Hematology* **97**, 2016-2022 (2001).
- 29. J. Y. Bertrand *et al.*, Haematopoietic stem cells derive directly from aortic endothelium during development. *Nature* **464**, 108-111 (2010).
- 30. J. M. Frame, K. H. Fegan, S. J. Conway, K. E. McGrath, J. Palis, Definitive hematopoiesis in the yolk sac emerges from Wnt-responsive hemogenic endothelium independently of circulation and arterial identity. *Stem cells* **34**, 431-444 (2016).
- 31. L. C. Goldie, J. L. Lucitti, M. E. Dickinson, K. K. Hirschi, Cell signaling directing the formation and function of hemogenic endothelium during murine embryogenesis. *Blood*, *The Journal of the American Society of Hematology* **112**, 3194-3204 (2008).
- 32. B. Kasaai *et al.*, Erythro-myeloid progenitors can differentiate from endothelial cells and modulate embryonic vascular remodeling. *Scientific reports* **7**, 1-12 (2017).
- 33. K. E. McGrath *et al.*, Distinct sources of hematopoietic progenitors emerge before HSCs and provide functional blood cells in the mammalian embryo. *Cell reports* **11**, 1892-1904 (2015).
- 34. B. Ajami, J. L. Bennett, C. Krieger, W. Tetzlaff, F. Rossi, Local self-renewal can sustain CNS microglia maintenance and function throughout adult life. *Nature neuroscience* **10**, 1538-1543 (2007).

- 35. E. Gomez Perdiguero *et al.*, Tissue-resident macrophages originate from yolk-sac-derived erythro-myeloid progenitors. *Nature* **518**, 547-551 (2015).
- 36. G. Hoeffel *et al.*, C-Myb+ erythro-myeloid progenitor-derived fetal monocytes give rise to adult tissue-resident macrophages. *Immunity* **42**, 665-678 (2015).
- 37. S. J. Jenkins *et al.*, Local macrophage proliferation, rather than recruitment from the blood, is a signature of TH2 inflammation. *science* **332**, 1284-1288 (2011).
- 38. M. Merad *et al.*, Langerhans cells renew in the skin throughout life under steady-state conditions. *Nature immunology* **3**, 1135-1141 (2002).
- 39. J.-C. Boisset *et al.*, In vivo imaging of haematopoietic cells emerging from the mouse aortic endothelium. *Nature* **464**, 116-120 (2010).
- 40. A. Cumano, F. Dieterlen-Lievre, I. Godin, Lymphoid potential, probed before circulation in mouse, is restricted to caudal intraembryonic splanchnopleura. *Cell* **86**, 907-916 (1996).
- 41. M. F. de Bruijn, N. A. Speck, M. C. Peeters, E. Dzierzak, Definitive hematopoietic stem cells first develop within the major arterial regions of the mouse embryo. *The EMBO journal* **19**, 2465-2474 (2000).
- 42. A. Medvinsky, E. Dzierzak, Definitive hematopoiesis is autonomously initiated by the AGM region. *Cell* **86**, 897-906 (1996).
- 43. A. D. Yzaguirre, N. A. Speck, Extravascular endothelial and hematopoietic islands form through multiple pathways in midgestation mouse embryos. *Developmental biology* **415**, 111-121 (2016).
- 44. A. C. Zovein *et al.*, Fate tracing reveals the endothelial origin of hematopoietic stem cells. *Cell stem cell* **3**, 625-636 (2008).
- 45. X. Gao, C. Xu, N. Asada, P. S. Frenette, The hematopoietic stem cell niche: from embryo to adult. *Development* **145**, dev139691 (2018).
- 46. G. Eberl *et al.*, An essential function for the nuclear receptor RORγt in the generation of fetal lymphoid tissue inducer cells. *Nature immunology* **5**, 64-73 (2004).
- 47. J. D. Haas *et al.*, Development of interleukin-17-producing γδ T cells is restricted to a functional embryonic wave. *Immunity* **37**, 48-59 (2012).
- 48. K. Ikuta *et al.*, A developmental switch in thymic lymphocyte maturation potential occurs at the level of hematopoietic stem cells. *Cell* **62**, 863-874 (1990).
- 49. H. Ema, H. Nakauchi, Expansion of hematopoietic stem cells in the developing liver of a mouse embryo. *Blood, The Journal of the American Society of Hematology* **95**, 2284-2288 (2000).
- 50. G. E. Desanti, A. Cumano, R. Golub, Identification of CD4int progenitors in mouse fetal spleen, a source of resident lymphoid cells. *Journal of leukocyte biology* **83**, 1145-1154 (2008).
- 51. I. Godin, J. A. Garcia-Porrero, F. Dieterlen-Lièvre, A. Cumano, Stem cell emergence and hemopoietic activity are incompatible in mouse intraembryonic sites. *The Journal of experimental medicine* **190**, 43-52 (1999).
- 52. J. L. Christensen, D. E. Wright, A. J. Wagers, I. L. Weissman, D. Melton, Circulation and chemotaxis of fetal hematopoietic stem cells. *PLoS biology* **2**, e75 (2004).
- 53. R. Golub, A. Cumano, Embryonic hematopoiesis. *Blood Cells, Molecules, and Diseases* **51**, 226-231 (2013).

- 54. V. D. Myneni, I. Szalayova, E. Mezey, Differences in Steady-State Erythropoiesis in Different Mouse Bones and Postnatal Spleen. *Frontiers in Cell and Developmental Biology* **9**, 1237 (2021).
- 55. H. Cheng, Z. Zheng, T. Cheng, New paradigms on hematopoietic stem cell differentiation. *Protein & cell* **11**, 34-44 (2020).
- 56. E. Laurenti, B. Göttgens, From haematopoietic stem cells to complex differentiation landscapes. *Nature* **553**, 418-426 (2018).
- 57. L. Velten *et al.*, Human haematopoietic stem cell lineage commitment is a continuous process. *Nature cell biology* **19**, 271-281 (2017).
- 58. A. B. Pardee, A restriction point for control of normal animal cell proliferation. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* **71**, 1286-1290 (1974).
- 59. A. Nakamura-Ishizu, H. Takizawa, T. Suda, The analysis, roles and regulation of quiescence in hematopoietic stem cells. *Development* **141**, 4656-4666 (2014).
- 60. D. G. Kent *et al.*, Prospective isolation and molecular characterization of hematopoietic stem cells with durable self-renewal potential. *Blood, The Journal of the American Society of Hematology* **113**, 6342-6350 (2009).
- A. B. Balazs, A. J. Fabian, C. T. Esmon, R. C. Mulligan, Endothelial protein C receptor (CD201) explicitly identifies hematopoietic stem cells in murine bone marrow. *Blood* 107, 2317-2321 (2006).
- 62. K. Komorowska *et al.*, Hepatic leukemia factor maintains quiescence of hematopoietic stem cells and protects the stem cell pool during regeneration. *Cell reports* **21**, 3514-3523 (2017).
- 63. T. Sugiyama, H. Kohara, M. Noda, T. Nagasawa, Maintenance of the hematopoietic stem cell pool by CXCL12-CXCR4 chemokine signaling in bone marrow stromal cell niches. *Immunity* **25**, 977-988 (2006).
- 64. F. Brenet, P. Kermani, R. Spektor, S. Rafii, J. M. Scandura, TGFβ restores hematopoietic homeostasis after myelosuppressive chemotherapy. *Journal of Experimental Medicine* 210, 623-639 (2013).
- 65. T. Sato, J. H. Laver, M. Ogawa, Reversible expression of CD34 by murine hematopoietic stem cells. *Blood, The Journal of the American Society of Hematology* **94**, 2548-2554 (1999).
- 66. F. Tajima, T. Sato, J. H. Laver, M. Ogawa, CD34 expression by murine hematopoietic stem cells mobilized by granulocyte colony-stimulating factor. *Blood, The Journal of the American Society of Hematology* **96**, 1989-1993 (2000).
- H. Oguro, L. Ding, S. J. Morrison, SLAM family markers resolve functionally distinct subpopulations of hematopoietic stem cells and multipotent progenitors. *Cell stem cell* 13, 102-116 (2013).
- 68. M. J. Kiel *et al.*, SLAM family receptors distinguish hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells and reveal endothelial niches for stem cells. *cell* **121**, 1109-1121 (2005).
- 69. K. Y. King, M. A. Goodell, Inflammatory modulation of HSCs: viewing the HSC as a foundation for the immune response. *Nature Reviews Immunology* **11**, 685-692 (2011).
- 70. I. Mitroulis, L. Kalafati, G. Hajishengallis, T. Chavakis, Myelopoiesis in the context of innate immunity. *Journal of innate immunity* **10**, 365-372 (2018).
- 71. Y. Chiba *et al.*, Regulation of myelopoiesis by proinflammatory cytokines in infectious diseases. *Cellular and molecular life sciences* **75**, 1363-1376 (2018).

- 72. F. Rosenbauer, D. G. Tenen, Transcription factors in myeloid development: balancing differentiation with transformation. *Nature Reviews Immunology* **7**, 105-117 (2007).
- 73. M. J. Klemsz, S. R. McKercher, A. Celada, C. Van Beveren, R. A. Maki, The macrophage and B cell-specific transcription factor PU. 1 is related to the ets oncogene. *Cell* **61**, 113-124 (1990).
- 74. D.-E. Zhang *et al.*, Absence of granulocyte colony-stimulating factor signaling and neutrophil development in CCAAT enhancer binding protein α-deficient mice. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* **94**, 569-574 (1997).
- 75. T. Tanaka *et al.*, Targeted disruption of the NF-IL6 gene discloses its essential role in bacteria killing and tumor cytotoxicity by macrophages. *Cell* **80**, 353-361 (1995).
- 76. R. Yamanaka *et al.*, Impaired granulopoiesis, myelodysplasia, and early lethality in CCAAT/enhancer binding protein ε-deficient mice. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* **94**, 13187-13192 (1997).
- 77. H. Hock *et al.*, Intrinsic requirement for zinc finger transcription factor Gfi-1 in neutrophil differentiation. *Immunity* **18**, 109-120 (2003).
- 78. T. Holtschke *et al.*, Immunodeficiency and chronic myelogenous leukemia-like syndrome in mice with a targeted mutation of the ICSBP gene. *Cell* **87**, 307-317 (1996).
- H. Hirai *et al.*, C/EBPβ is required for'emergency'granulopoiesis. *Nature immunology* 7, 732-739 (2006).
- 80. G. J. Lieschke *et al.*, Mice lacking granulocyte colony-stimulating factor have chronic neutropenia, granulocyte and macrophage progenitor cell deficiency, and impaired neutrophil mobilization. (1994).
- 81. S. Basu *et al.*, "Emergency" granulopoiesis in G-CSF–deficient mice in response to Candida albicans infection. *Blood, The Journal of the American Society of Hematology* **95**, 3725-3733 (2000).
- 82. E. M. Pietras *et al.*, Chronic interleukin-1 exposure drives haematopoietic stem cells towards precocious myeloid differentiation at the expense of self-renewal. *Nature cell biology* **18**, 607-618 (2016).
- 83. Y. Zhan, C. Cheers, Haemopoiesis in mice genetically lacking granulocyte–macrophage colony stimulating factor during chronic infection with Mycobacterium avium. *Immunology and cell biology* **78**, 118-123 (2000).
- 84. J. Seita *et al.*, Interleukin-27 directly induces differentiation in hematopoietic stem cells. *Blood, The Journal of the American Society of Hematology* **111**, 1903-1912 (2008).
- 85. F. Veglia, E. Sanseviero, D. I. Gabrilovich, Myeloid-derived suppressor cells in the era of increasing myeloid cell diversity. *Nature reviews Immunology* **21**, 485-498 (2021).
- 86. Y. Wang, Y. Ding, N. Guo, S. Wang, MDSCs: key criminals of tumor pre-metastatic niche formation. *Frontiers in immunology*, 172 (2019).
- 87. K. A. Schalper *et al.*, Elevated serum interleukin-8 is associated with enhanced intratumor neutrophils and reduced clinical benefit of immune-checkpoint inhibitors. *Nature medicine* **26**, 688-692 (2020).
- 88. P. Li *et al.*, Lung mesenchymal cells elicit lipid storage in neutrophils that fuel breast cancer lung metastasis. *Nature immunology* **21**, 1444-1455 (2020).
- 89. T. Condamine, J. Mastio, D. I. Gabrilovich, Transcriptional regulation of myeloidderived suppressor cells. *Journal of leukocyte biology* **98**, 913-922 (2015).
- 90. T. Condamine, D. I. Gabrilovich, Molecular mechanisms regulating myeloid-derived suppressor cell differentiation and function. *Trends in immunology* **32**, 19-25 (2011).

- 91. K. Movahedi *et al.*, Identification of discrete tumor-induced myeloid-derived suppressor cell subpopulations with distinct T cell–suppressive activity. *Blood, The Journal of the American Society of Hematology* **111**, 4233-4244 (2008).
- 92. M. Z. Ratajczak, M. Adamiak, M. Plonka, A. Abdel-Latif, J. Ratajczak, Mobilization of hematopoietic stem cells as a result of innate immunity-mediated sterile inflammation in the bone marrow microenvironment—the involvement of extracellular nucleotides and purinergic signaling. *Leukemia* **32**, 1116-1123 (2018).
- 93. R. K. Hopman, J. F. DiPersio, Advances in stem cell mobilization. *Blood reviews* **28**, 31-40 (2014).
- 94. B. Heissig *et al.*, Recruitment of stem and progenitor cells from the bone marrow niche requires MMP-9 mediated release of kit-ligand. *Cell* **109**, 625-637 (2002).
- 95. J.-P. Lévesque, Y. Takamatsu, S. K. Nilsson, D. N. Haylock, P. J. Simmons, Vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 (CD106) is cleaved by neutrophil proteases in the bone marrow following hematopoietic progenitor cell mobilization by granulocyte colony-stimulating factor. *Blood, The Journal of the American Society of Hematology* **98**, 1289-1297 (2001).
- 96. I. Petit *et al.*, G-CSF induces stem cell mobilization by decreasing bone marrow SDF-1 and up-regulating CXCR4. *Nature immunology* **3**, 687-694 (2002).
- 97. L. M. Pelus, H. Bian, A. G. King, S. Fukuda, Neutrophil-derived MMP-9 mediates synergistic mobilization of hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells by the combination of G-CSF and the chemokines GROβ/CXCL2 and GROβT/CXCL284. *Blood* 103, 110-119 (2004).
- 98. J.-P. Lévesque *et al.*, Mobilization by either cyclophosphamide or granulocyte colonystimulating factor transforms the bone marrow into a highly proteolytic environment. *Experimental hematology* **30**, 440-449 (2002).
- 99. J.-P. Levesque *et al.*, Characterization of hematopoietic progenitor mobilization in protease-deficient mice. *Blood* **104**, 65-72 (2004).
- 100. N. Flomenberg *et al.*, The use of AMD3100 plus G-CSF for autologous hematopoietic progenitor cell mobilization is superior to G-CSF alone. *Blood* **106**, 1867-1874 (2005).
- L. M. Pelus, S. Fukuda, Peripheral blood stem cell mobilization: the CXCR2 ligand GROβ rapidly mobilizes hematopoietic stem cells with enhanced engraftment properties. *Experimental hematology* 34, 1010-1020 (2006).
- 102. D. Karpova *et al.*, Targeting VLA4 integrin and CXCR2 mobilizes serially repopulating hematopoietic stem cells. *The Journal of clinical investigation* **129**, 2745-2759 (2019).
- 103. A. Mendelson, P. S. Frenette, Hematopoietic stem cell niche maintenance during homeostasis and regeneration. *Nature medicine* **20**, 833-846 (2014).
- 104. L. M. Calvi, D. C. Link, The hematopoietic stem cell niche in homeostasis and disease. *Blood, The Journal of the American Society of Hematology* **126**, 2443-2451 (2015).
- 105. L. Ding, T. L. Saunders, G. Enikolopov, S. J. Morrison, Endothelial and perivascular cells maintain haematopoietic stem cells. *Nature* **481**, 457-462 (2012).
- 106. S. Méndez-Ferrer *et al.*, Mesenchymal and haematopoietic stem cells form a unique bone marrow niche. *nature* **466**, 829-834 (2010).
- 107. S. Pinho *et al.*, PDGFRα and CD51 mark human nestin+ sphere-forming mesenchymal stem cells capable of hematopoietic progenitor cell expansion. *Journal of Experimental Medicine* **210**, 1351-1367 (2013).
- 108. A. Greenbaum *et al.*, CXCL12 in early mesenchymal progenitors is required for haematopoietic stem-cell maintenance. *Nature* **495**, 227-230 (2013).

- 109. J. Zhang *et al.*, Identification of the haematopoietic stem cell niche and control of the niche size. *Nature* **425**, 836-841 (2003).
- 110. L. Calvi *et al.*, Osteoblastic cells regulate the haematopoietic stem cell niche. *Nature* **425**, 841-846 (2003).
- 111. L. Ding, S. J. Morrison, Haematopoietic stem cells and early lymphoid progenitors occupy distinct bone marrow niches. *Nature* **495**, 231-235 (2013).
- 112. D.-C. Ding, W.-C. Shyu, S.-Z. Lin, Mesenchymal stem cells. *Cell transplantation* **20**, 5-14 (2011).
- 113. M. Kennedy *et al.*, A common precursor for primitive erythropoiesis and definitive haematopoiesis. *Nature* **386**, 488-493 (1997).
- 114. H. Kobayashi *et al.*, Angiocrine factors from Akt-activated endothelial cells balance selfrenewal and differentiation of haematopoietic stem cells. *Nature cell biology* **12**, 1046-1056 (2010).
- 115. F. Shalaby *et al.*, Failure of blood-island formation and vasculogenesis in Flk-1-deficient mice. *Nature* **376**, 62-66 (1995).
- 116. P. L. Doan *et al.*, Epidermal growth factor regulates hematopoietic regeneration after radiation injury. *Nature medicine* **19**, 295-304 (2013).
- H. A. Himburg *et al.*, Pleiotrophin regulates the retention and self-renewal of hematopoietic stem cells in the bone marrow vascular niche. *Cell reports* 2, 964-975 (2012).
- 118. A. T. Hooper *et al.*, Engraftment and reconstitution of hematopoiesis is dependent on VEGFR2-mediated regeneration of sinusoidal endothelial cells. *Cell stem cell* **4**, 263-274 (2009).
- 119. Y. Kunisaki *et al.*, Arteriolar niches maintain haematopoietic stem cell quiescence. *Nature* **502**, 637-643 (2013).
- 120. S. Méndez-Ferrer, D. Lucas, M. Battista, P. S. Frenette, Haematopoietic stem cell release is regulated by circadian oscillations. *Nature* **452**, 442-447 (2008).
- 121. Y. Katayama *et al.*, Signals from the sympathetic nervous system regulate hematopoietic stem cell egress from bone marrow. *Cell* **124**, 407-421 (2006).
- 122. S. Yamazaki *et al.*, Nonmyelinating Schwann cells maintain hematopoietic stem cell hibernation in the bone marrow niche. *Cell* **147**, 1146-1158 (2011).
- 123. S. Yamazaki *et al.*, TGF- $\beta$  as a candidate bone marrow niche signal to induce hematopoietic stem cell hibernation. *Blood, The Journal of the American Society of Hematology* **113**, 1250-1256 (2009).
- 124. S. Y. Heazlewood *et al.*, Megakaryocytes co-localise with hemopoietic stem cells and release cytokines that up-regulate stem cell proliferation. *Stem cell research* **11**, 782-792 (2013).
- 125. I. Bruns *et al.*, Megakaryocytes regulate hematopoietic stem cell quiescence through CXCL4 secretion. *Nature medicine* **20**, 1315-1320 (2014).
- 126. M. Zhao *et al.*, Megakaryocytes maintain homeostatic quiescence and promote postinjury regeneration of hematopoietic stem cells. *Nature medicine* **20**, 1321-1326 (2014).
- 127. T. S. Olson *et al.*, Megakaryocytes promote murine osteoblastic HSC niche expansion and stem cell engraftment after radioablative conditioning. *Blood, The Journal of the American Society of Hematology* **121**, 5238-5249 (2013).

- 128. A. Chow *et al.*, Bone marrow CD169+ macrophages promote the retention of hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells in the mesenchymal stem cell niche. *Journal of Experimental Medicine* **208**, 261-271 (2011).
- 129. M. J. Christopher, M. Rao, F. Liu, J. R. Woloszynek, D. C. Link, Expression of the G-CSF receptor in monocytic cells is sufficient to mediate hematopoietic progenitor mobilization by G-CSF in mice. *Journal of Experimental Medicine* **208**, 251-260 (2011).
- 130. G. Andonegui *et al.*, Mice that exclusively express TLR4 on endothelial cells can efficiently clear a lethal systemic Gram-negative bacterial infection. *The Journal of clinical investigation* **119**, 1921-1930 (2009).
- 131. R. B. Day, D. Bhattacharya, T. Nagasawa, D. C. Link, Granulocyte colony-stimulating factor reprograms bone marrow stromal cells to actively suppress B lymphopoiesis in mice. *Blood, The Journal of the American Society of Hematology* **125**, 3114-3117 (2015).
- 132. Y. M. Ikushima *et al.*, Prostaglandin E2 regulates murine hematopoietic stem/progenitor cells directly via EP4 receptor and indirectly through mesenchymal progenitor cells. *Blood, The Journal of the American Society of Hematology* **121**, 1995-2007 (2013).
- 133. T. Itkin, K. B. Kaufmann, S. Gur-Cohen, A. Ludin, T. Lapidot, Fibroblast growth factor signaling promotes physiological bone remodeling and stem cell self-renewal. *Current opinion in hematology* **20**, 237-244 (2013).
- 134. M. Decker *et al.*, Leptin-receptor-expressing bone marrow stromal cells are myofibroblasts in primary myelofibrosis. *Nature cell biology* **19**, 677-688 (2017).
- 135. D. P. O'Malley, Benign extramedullary myeloid proliferations. *Modern Pathology* **20**, 405-415 (2007).
- 136. Y. Bao *et al.*, Extramedullary hematopoiesis secondary to malignant solid tumors: a case report and literature review. *Cancer Management and Research* **10**, 1461 (2018).
- S. Khalil, A. Ariel Gru, A. P. Saavedra, Cutaneous extramedullary haematopoiesis: Implications in human disease and treatment. *Experimental Dermatology* 28, 1201-1209 (2019).
- 138. N. Fan, S. Lavu, C. A. Hanson, A. Tefferi, Extramedullary hematopoiesis in the absence of myeloproliferative neoplasm: Mayo Clinic case series of 309 patients. *Blood cancer journal* **8**, 1-4 (2018).
- 139. C. A. Koch, C.-Y. Li, R. A. Mesa, A. Tefferi, in *Mayo Clinic Proceedings*. (Elsevier, 2003), vol. 78, pp. 1223-1233.
- 140. Y. Nagai *et al.*, Toll-like receptors on hematopoietic progenitor cells stimulate innate immune system replenishment. *Immunity* **24**, 801-812 (2006).
- 141. D. Regan-Komito *et al.*, GM-CSF drives dysregulated hematopoietic stem cell activity and pathogenic extramedullary myelopoiesis in experimental spondyloarthritis. *Nature communications* **11**, 1-15 (2020).
- M. Peters *et al.*, Extramedullary expansion of hematopoietic progenitor cells in interleukin (IL)-6–sIL-6R double transgenic mice. *The Journal of experimental medicine* 185, 755-766 (1997).
- 143. K. N. M. Khan *et al.*, Recombinant human interleukin-3 induces extramedullary hematopoiesis at subcutaneous injection sites in cynomolgus monkeys. *Toxicologic pathology* **24**, 391-397 (1996).
- 144. S. Dagdas *et al.*, Unusual extramedullary hematopoiesis in a patient receiving granulocyte colony-stimulating factor. *Acta haematologica* **116**, 198-202 (2006).
- 145. M. È. Blais, I. Louis, C. Perreault, T-cell development: an extrathymic perspective. *Immunological reviews* **209**, 103-114 (2006).
- 146. C. N. Inra *et al.*, A perisinusoidal niche for extramedullary haematopoiesis in the spleen. *Nature* **527**, 466-471 (2015).
- M. Mendt, J. E. Cardier, Role of SDF-1 (CXCL12) in regulating hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells traffic into the liver during extramedullary hematopoiesis induced by G-CSF, AMD3100 and PHZ. *Cytokine* 76, 214-221 (2015).
- 148. T. Kogame *et al.*, Presence of SCF/CXCL 12 double-positive large blast-like cells at the site of cutaneous extramedullary haematopoiesis. *Journal of the European Academy of Dermatology and Venereology* **32**, e465-e466 (2018).
- 149. A. Oda *et al.*, Niche-induced extramedullary hematopoiesis in the spleen is regulated by the transcription factor Tlx1. *Scientific reports* **8**, 1-16 (2018).
- 150. H. E. Broxmeyer *et al.*, Th1 cells regulate hematopoietic progenitor cell homeostasis by production of oncostatin M. *Immunity* **16**, 815-825 (2002).
- 151. J. H. Lee, C. Wang, C. H. Kim, FoxP3+ regulatory T cells restrain splenic extramedullary myelopoiesis via suppression of hemopoietic cytokine-producing T cells. *The Journal of Immunology* **183**, 6377-6386 (2009).
- 152. A. Chow *et al.*, CD169+ macrophages provide a niche promoting erythropoiesis under homeostasis and stress. *Nature medicine* **19**, 429-436 (2013).
- 153. M. Liu *et al.*, Macrophages support splenic erythropoiesis in 4T1 tumor-bearing mice. *PLoS One* **10**, e0121921 (2015).
- 154. P. Dutta *et al.*, Macrophages retain hematopoietic stem cells in the spleen via VCAM-1. *Journal of Experimental Medicine* **212**, 497-512 (2015).
- 155. T. Ulyanova, S. R. Phelps, T. Papayannopoulou, The macrophage contribution to stress erythropoiesis: when less is enough. *Blood, The Journal of the American Society of Hematology* **128**, 1756-1765 (2016).
- 156. M. C. Corporation, *Mammal Anatomy: An Illustrated Guide*. (Marshall Cavendish, 2010).
- 157. U. A. Gurkan, O. Akkus, The mechanical environment of bone marrow: a review. *Annals* of biomedical engineering **36**, 1978-1991 (2008).
- 158. B. Clarke, Normal bone anatomy and physiology. *Clinical journal of the American Society of Nephrology* **3**, S131-S139 (2008).
- 159. R. S. Taichman, Blood and bone: two tissues whose fates are intertwined to create the hematopoietic stem-cell niche. *Blood* **105**, 2631-2639 (2005).
- 160. R. E. Tomlinson, M. J. Silva, Skeletal blood flow in bone repair and maintenance. *Bone research* **1**, 311-322 (2013).
- 161. M. Marenzana, T. R. Arnett, The key role of the blood supply to bone. *Bone research* **1**, 203-215 (2013).
- 162. T. R. Arnett, Acidosis, hypoxia and bone. *Archives of biochemistry and biophysics* **503**, 103-109 (2010).
- 163. G. A. Thiel, The development of the mammalian spleen, with special reference to its hematopoietic activity. (1921).
- 164. J. Hecksher-Sørensen *et al.*, The splanchnic mesodermal plate directs spleen and pancreatic laterality, and is regulated by Bapx1/Nkx3. 2. (2004).
- 165. M. C. Green, A defect of the splanchnic mesoderm caused by the mutant gene dominant hemimelia in the mouse. *Developmental biology* **15**, 62-89 (1967).

- 166. A. Brendolan, M. M. Rosado, R. Carsetti, L. Selleri, T. N. Dear, Development and function of the mammalian spleen. *Bioessays* **29**, 166-177 (2007).
- 167. A. Brendolan *et al.*, A Pbx1-dependent genetic and transcriptional network regulates spleen ontogeny. (2005).
- 168. R. R. Rackley *et al.*, Expression of the Wilms' tumor suppressor gene WT1 during mouse embryogenesis. *Cell growth & differentiation: the molecular biology journal of the American Association for Cancer Research* **4**, 1023-1031 (1993).
- J. Lu, J. A. Richardson, E. N. Olson, Capsulin: a novel bHLH transcription factor expressed in epicardial progenitors and mesenchyme of visceral organs. *Mechanisms of development* 73, 23-32 (1998).
- 170. C. W. Roberts, J. R. Shutter, S. J. Korsmeyer, Hox11 controls the genesis of the spleen. *Nature* **368**, 747-749 (1994).
- 171. S. M. Lewis, A. Williams, S. C. Eisenbarth, Structure and function of the immune system in the spleen. *Science immunology* **4**, eaau6085 (2019).
- 172. V. Bronte, M. J. Pittet, The spleen in local and systemic regulation of immunity. *Immunity* **39**, 806-818 (2013).
- 173. C. A. Dinarello, Overview of the IL-1 family in innate inflammation and acquired immunity. *Immunological reviews* **281**, 8-27 (2018).
- 174. J. E. Towne *et al.*, Interleukin-36 (IL-36) ligands require processing for full agonist (IL-36α, IL-36β, and IL-36γ) or antagonist (IL-36Ra) activity. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 286, 42594-42602 (2011).
- 175. B. Kim *et al.*, The interleukin-1α precursor is biologically active and is likely a key alarmin in the IL-1 family of cytokines. *Frontiers in immunology* **4**, 391 (2013).
- 176. A. Malik, T. D. Kanneganti, Function and regulation of IL-1α in inflammatory diseases and cancer. *Immunological reviews* **281**, 124-137 (2018).
- A. Werman *et al.*, The precursor form of IL-1α is an intracrine proinflammatory activator of transcription. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* **101**, 2434-2439 (2004).
- 178. X. Wang, Y. Lin, Tumor necrosis factor and cancer, buddies or foes? 1. *Acta Pharmacologica Sinica* **29**, 1275-1288 (2008).
- M. F. Al Sayed *et al.*, T-cell–secreted TNFα induces emergency myelopoiesis and myeloid-derived suppressor cell differentiation in cancer. *Cancer research* **79**, 346-359 (2019).
- 180. N. A. Nicola, J. J. Babon, Leukemia inhibitory factor (LIF). *Cytokine & growth factor reviews* **26**, 533-544 (2015).
- 181. D. Metcalf, The unsolved enigmas of leukemia inhibitory factor. *Stem cells* **21**, 5-14 (2003).
- 182. E. Houben, N. Hellings, B. Broux, Oncostatin M, an underestimated player in the central nervous system. *Frontiers in immunology* **10**, 1165 (2019).
- 183. N. Stahl *et al.*, Association and activation of Jak-Tyk kinases by CNTF-LIF-OSM-IL-6 β receptor components. *Science* **263**, 92-95 (1994).
- 184. S. J. Rodig *et al.*, Disruption of the Jak1 gene demonstrates obligatory and nonredundant roles of the Jaks in cytokine-induced biologic responses. *Cell* **93**, 373-383 (1998).
- 185. Y. Takahashi *et al.*, Leukemia inhibitory factor regulates trophoblast giant cell differentiation via Janus kinase 1-signal transducer and activator of transcription 3-

suppressor of cytokine signaling 3 pathway. *Molecular endocrinology* **22**, 1673-1681 (2008).

- 186. B. M. Chung *et al.*, Jak2 and Tyk2 are necessary for lineage-specific differentiation, but not for the maintenance of self-renewal of mouse embryonic stem cells. *Biochemical and biophysical research communications* **351**, 682-688 (2006).
- 187. P. C. Heinrich *et al.*, Principles of interleukin (IL)-6-type cytokine signalling and its regulation. *Biochemical journal* **374**, 1-20 (2003).
- 188. A. Fahmi *et al.*, p42/p44-MAPK and PI3K are sufficient for IL-6 family cytokines/gp130 to signal to hypertrophy and survival in cardiomyocytes in the absence of JAK/STAT activation. *Cellular signalling* **25**, 898-909 (2013).
- 189. H. Oh *et al.*, Activation of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase through glycoprotein 130 induces protein kinase B and p70 S6 kinase phosphorylation in cardiac myocytes. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* **273**, 9703-9710 (1998).
- 190. H. Niwa, T. Burdon, I. Chambers, A. Smith, Self-renewal of pluripotent embryonic stem cells is mediated via activation of STAT3. *Genes & development* **12**, 2048-2060 (1998).
- 191. N. R. Paling, H. Wheadon, H. K. Bone, M. J. Welham, Regulation of embryonic stem cell self-renewal by phosphoinositide 3-kinase-dependent signaling. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* **279**, 48063-48070 (2004).
- 192. S. Meloche, F. D. Vella, L. Voisin, S.-L. Ang, M. Saba-El-Leil, Erk2 signaling and early embryo stem cell self-renewal. *Cell cycle* **3**, 239-241 (2004).
- 193. T. Burdon, C. Stracey, I. Chambers, J. Nichols, A. Smith, Suppression of SHP-2 and ERK signalling promotes self-renewal of mouse embryonic stem cells. *Developmental biology* **210**, 30-43 (1999).
- 194. C. L. Stewart *et al.*, Blastocyst implantation depends on maternal expression of leukaemia inhibitory factor. *Nature* **359**, 76-79 (1992).
- 195. R. Giess, I. Tanasescu, T. Steck, M. Sendtner, Leukaemia inhibitory factor gene mutations in infertile women. *Molecular human reproduction* **5**, 581-586 (1999).
- 196. D. Charnock-Jones, A. Sharkey, P. Fenwick, S. Smith, Leukaemia inhibitory factor mRNA concentration peaks in human endometrium at the time of implantation and the blastocyst contains mRNA for the receptor at this time. *Reproduction* **101**, 421-426 (1994).
- D. Metcalf, D. Gearing, Fatal syndrome in mice engrafted with cells producing high levels of the leukemia inhibitory factor. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 86, 5948-5952 (1989).
- 198. E. C. Walker *et al.*, Oncostatin M promotes bone formation independently of resorption when signaling through leukemia inhibitory factor receptor in mice. *The Journal of clinical investigation* **120**, 582-592 (2010).
- 199. B. E. Deverman, P. H. Patterson, Exogenous leukemia inhibitory factor stimulates oligodendrocyte progenitor cell proliferation and enhances hippocampal remyelination. *Journal of Neuroscience* **32**, 2100-2109 (2012).
- 200. T. Yoshida, M. Satoh, Y. Nakagaito, H. Kuno, M. Takeuchi, Cytokines affecting survival and differentiation of an astrocyte progenitor cell line. *Developmental brain research* **76**, 147-150 (1993).
- 201. S. Bauer, P. H. Patterson, Leukemia inhibitory factor promotes neural stem cell self-renewal in the adult brain. *Journal of Neuroscience* **26**, 12089-12099 (2006).

- 202. W. Barnard, J. Bower, M. Brown, M. Murphy, L. Austin, Leukemia inhibitory factor (LIF) infusion stimulates skeletal muscle regeneration after injury: injured muscle expresses lif mRNA. *Journal of the neurological sciences* **123**, 108-113 (1994).
- 203. L. Austin, A. Burgess, Stimulation of myoblast proliferation in culture by leukaemia inhibitory factor and other cytokines. *Journal of the neurological sciences* **101**, 193-197 (1991).
- 204. L. Wu *et al.*, HIF-2α mediates hypoxia-induced LIF expression in human colorectal cancer cells. *Oncotarget* **6**, 4406 (2015).
- 205. E. Huang *et al.*, The hematopoietic growth factor KL is encoded by the SI locus and is the ligand of the c-kit receptor, the gene product of the W locus. *Cell* **63**, 225-233 (1990).
- 206. C. Brannan *et al.*, Developmental abnormalities in Steel17H mice result from a splicing defect in the steel factor cytoplasmic tail. *Genes & development* **6**, 1832-1842 (1992).
- 207. E. S. Russell, Hereditary anemias of the mouse: a review for geneticists. *Advances in genetics* **20**, 357-459 (1979).
- 208. R. Kapur *et al.*, Signaling through the interaction of membrane-restricted stem cell factor and c-kit receptor tyrosine kinase: genetic evidence for a differential role in erythropoiesis. *Blood, The Journal of the American Society of Hematology* **91**, 879-889 (1998).
- 209. Y. Tajima *et al.*, Consequences of exclusive expression in vivo of Kit-ligand lacking the major proteolytic cleavage site. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* **95**, 11903-11908 (1998).
- 210. F. Qiu *et al.*, Primary structure of c-kit: relationship with the CSF-1/PDGF receptor kinase family–oncogenic activation of v-kit involves deletion of extracellular domain and C terminus. *The EMBO journal* **7**, 1003-1011 (1988).
- 211. Y. Yarden *et al.*, Human proto-oncogene c-kit: a new cell surface receptor tyrosine kinase for an unidentified ligand. *The EMBO journal* **6**, 3341-3351 (1987).
- 212. S. Lev, J. M. Blechman, D. Givol, Y. Yarden, Steel factor and c-kit protooncogene: genetic lessons in signal transduction. *Critical Reviews*<sup>™</sup> *in Oncogenesis* **5**, (1994).
- 213. R. Kapur, S. Chandra, R. Cooper, J. McCarthy, D. A. Williams, Role of p38 and ERK MAP kinase in proliferation of erythroid progenitors in response to stimulation by soluble and membrane isoforms of stem cell factor. *Blood, The Journal of the American Society of Hematology* **100**, 1287-1293 (2002).
- 214. K. Kurosawa *et al.*, Immobilized anti-KIT monoclonal antibody induces ligandindependent dimerization and activation of Steel factor receptor: biologic similarity with membrane-bound form of Steel factor rather than its soluble form. (1996).
- 215. L. A. Thorén *et al.*, Kit regulates maintenance of quiescent hematopoietic stem cells. *The Journal of Immunology* **180**, 2045-2053 (2008).
- 216. H. Wu, U. Klingmüller, A. Acurio, J. G. Hsiao, H. F. Lodish, Functional interaction of erythropoietin and stem cell factor receptors is essential for erythroid colony formation. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* **94**, 1806-1810 (1997).
- 217. T. Jahn *et al.*, Direct interaction between Kit and the interleukin-7 receptor. *Blood, The Journal of the American Society of Hematology* **110**, 1840-1847 (2007).
- 218. M. Zhu *et al.*, KIT oncoprotein interactions in gastrointestinal stromal tumors: therapeutic relevance. *Oncogene* **26**, 6386-6395 (2007).
- 219. L. J. Bendall, K. F. Bradstock, G-CSF: From granulopoietic stimulant to bone marrow stem cell mobilizing agent. *Cytokine & growth factor reviews* **25**, 355-367 (2014).

- 220. R. Fukunaga, E. Ishizaka-Ikeda, S. Nagata, Purification and characterization of the receptor for murine granulocyte colony-stimulating factor. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* **265**, 14008-14015 (1990).
- 221. M. Kawakami *et al.*, Levels of serum granulocyte colony-stimulating factor in patients with infections. (1990).
- 222. J. Cebon, J. E. Layton, D. Maher, G. Morstyn, Endogenous haemopoietic growth factors in neutropenia and infection. *British journal of haematology* **86**, 265-274 (1994).
- 223. F. Liu, H. Y. Wu, R. Wesselschmidt, T. Kornaga, D. C. Link, Impaired production and increased apoptosis of neutrophils in granulocyte colony-stimulating factor receptor–deficient mice. *Immunity* **5**, 491-501 (1996).
- 224. M. Tamura *et al.*, Induction of neutrophilic granulocytosis in mice by administration of purified human native granulocyte colony-stimulating factor (G-CSF). *Biochemical and biophysical research communications* **142**, 454-460 (1987).
- 225. A. Jemal, A. Thomas, T. Murray, M. Thun, Cancer statistics, 2002. *Ca-A Cancer Journal for Clinicians* **52**, 23-47 (2002).
- 226. D. Hanahan, R. A. Weinberg, Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation. *cell* **144**, 646-674 (2011).
- 227. D. S. Chen, I. Mellman, Elements of cancer immunity and the cancer–immune set point. *Nature* **541**, 321-330 (2017).
- 228. T. Bald, M. F. Krummel, M. J. Smyth, K. C. Barry, The NK cell–cancer cycle: advances and new challenges in NK cell–based immunotherapies. *Nature immunology* **21**, 835-847 (2020).
- 229. Y. Gong, R. G. Klein Wolterink, J. Wang, G. M. Bos, W. T. Germeraad, Chimeric antigen receptor natural killer (CAR-NK) cell design and engineering for cancer therapy. *Journal of hematology & oncology* **14**, 1-35 (2021).
- 230. S. Yu *et al.*, Chimeric antigen receptor T cells: a novel therapy for solid tumors. *Journal of hematology & oncology* **10**, 1-13 (2017).
- 231. E. García-Martínez *et al.*, Trial Watch: Immunostimulation with recombinant cytokines for cancer therapy. *Oncoimmunology* **7**, e1433982 (2018).
- J. N. Brudno, J. N. Kochenderfer, Toxicities of chimeric antigen receptor T cells: recognition and management. *Blood, The Journal of the American Society of Hematology* 127, 3321-3330 (2016).
- 233. G. Morad, B. A. Helmink, P. Sharma, J. A. Wargo, Hallmarks of response, resistance, and toxicity to immune checkpoint blockade. *Cell* **184**, 5309-5337 (2021).
- 234. D. R. Brenner *et al.*, Projected estimates of cancer in Canada in 2020. *Cmaj* **192**, E199-E205 (2020).
- 235. C. T. Guy, R. Cardiff, W. J. Muller, Induction of mammary tumors by expression of polyomavirus middle T oncogene: a transgenic mouse model for metastatic disease. *Molecular and cellular biology* **12**, 954-961 (1992).
- 236. S. Attalla, T. Taifour, T. Bui, W. Muller, Insights from transgenic mouse models of PyMT-induced breast cancer: recapitulating human breast cancer progression in vivo. *Oncogene* **40**, 475-491 (2021).
- A. D. Pfefferle *et al.*, Transcriptomic classification of genetically engineered mouse models of breast cancer identifies human subtype counterparts. *Genome biology* 14, 1-16 (2013).

- 238. E. T. Gross *et al.*, Immunosurveillance and immunoediting in MMTV-PyMT-induced mammary oncogenesis. *Oncoimmunology* **6**, e1268310 (2017).
- 239. S. Dadi *et al.*, Cancer immunosurveillance by tissue-resident innate lymphoid cells and innate-like T cells. *Cell* **164**, 365-377 (2016).
- 240. M. A. Meyer *et al.*, Breast and pancreatic cancer interrupt IRF8-dependent dendritic cell development to overcome immune surveillance. *Nature communications* **9**, 1-19 (2018).
- 241. A.-J. Casbon *et al.*, Invasive breast cancer reprograms early myeloid differentiation in the bone marrow to generate immunosuppressive neutrophils. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* **112**, E566-E575 (2015).
- 242. C. H. Kim, Homeostatic and pathogenic extramedullary hematopoiesis. *Journal of blood medicine* **1**, 13 (2010).
- 243. J. L. Schultze, E. Mass, A. Schlitzer, Emerging principles in myelopoiesis at homeostasis and during infection and inflammation. *Immunity* **50**, 288-301 (2019).
- 244. V. Fernández-García, S. González-Ramos, P. Martín-Sanz, A. Castrillo, L. Boscá, Contribution of extramedullary hematopoiesis to atherosclerosis. The spleen as a neglected hub of inflammatory cells. *Frontiers in immunology*, 2790 (2020).
- 245. J. Hoggatt *et al.*, Rapid mobilization reveals a highly engraftable hematopoietic stem cell. *Cell* **172**, 191-204. e110 (2018).
- 246. Y. Bao *et al.*, Extramedullary hematopoiesis secondary to malignant solid tumors: a case report and literature review. *Cancer Manag Res* **10**, 1461-1470 (2018).
- 247. C. Wu *et al.*, Spleen mediates a distinct hematopoietic progenitor response supporting tumor-promoting myelopoiesis. *J Clin Invest* **128**, 3425-3438 (2018).
- 248. V. Cortez-Retamozo *et al.*, Origins of tumor-associated macrophages and neutrophils. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* **109**, 2491-2496 (2012).
- 249. M. F. Al Sayed *et al.*, T-cell-Secreted TNFalpha Induces Emergency Myelopoiesis and Myeloid-Derived Suppressor Cell Differentiation in Cancer. *Cancer Res* **79**, 346-359 (2019).
- 250. E. M. Pietras *et al.*, Chronic interleukin-1 exposure drives haematopoietic stem cells towards precocious myeloid differentiation at the expense of self-renewal. *Nat Cell Biol* **18**, 607-618 (2016).
- 251. P. Schwarzenberger *et al.*, Requirement of endogenous stem cell factor and granulocytecolony-stimulating factor for IL-17-mediated granulopoiesis. *J Immunol* **164**, 4783-4789 (2000).
- 252. M. Nahrendorf, Myeloid cell contributions to cardiovascular health and disease. *Nature medicine* **24**, 711-720 (2018).
- 253. K. A. Oduro Jr *et al.*, Myeloid skewing in murine autoimmune arthritis occurs in hematopoietic stem and primitive progenitor cells. *Blood, The Journal of the American Society of Hematology* **120**, 2203-2213 (2012).
- 254. I. Corbeau, W. Jacot, S. Guiu, Neutrophil to lymphocyte ratio as prognostic and predictive factor in breast cancer patients: a systematic review. *Cancers* **12**, 958 (2020).
- 255. N. Iwai *et al.*, Neutrophil to lymphocyte ratio predicts prognosis in unresectable pancreatic cancer. *Scientific Reports* **10**, 1-7 (2020).
- 256. A. J. Templeton *et al.*, Prognostic role of neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio in solid tumors: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *JNCI: Journal of the National Cancer Institute* **106**, (2014).

- 257. Y. Zhang *et al.*, Prognostic value of neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio and platelet-to-lymphocyte ratio in gastric cancer. *Medicine* **97**, (2018).
- 258. G. M. Crane, E. Jeffery, S. J. Morrison, Adult haematopoietic stem cell niches. *Nature Reviews Immunology* **17**, 573-590 (2017).
- 259. Q. Wei, P. S. Frenette, Niches for hematopoietic stem cells and their progeny. *Immunity* **48**, 632-648 (2018).
- 260. N. Wolf, Dissecting the Hematopoietic Microenvironment: III. EVIDENCE FOR A POSITIVE SHORT RANGE STIMULUS FOR CELLULAR PROLIFERATION. *Cell Proliferation* **11**, 335-345 (1978).
- 261. J. Barker, Sl/Sld hematopoietic progenitors are deficient in situ. *Experimental hematology* **22**, 174-177 (1994).
- 262. J. Barker, Early transplantation to a normal microenvironment prevents the development of Steel hematopoietic stem cell defects. *Experimental hematology* **25**, 542-547 (1997).
- 263. T. Ulyanova *et al.*, VCAM-1 expression in adult hematopoietic and nonhematopoietic cells is controlled by tissue-inductive signals and reflects their developmental origin. *Blood* **106**, 86-94 (2005).
- 264. J. Isern *et al.*, Self-renewing human bone marrow mesenspheres promote hematopoietic stem cell expansion. *Cell reports* **3**, 1714-1724 (2013).
- 265. Y. Omatsu *et al.*, The essential functions of adipo-osteogenic progenitors as the hematopoietic stem and progenitor cell niche. *Immunity* **33**, 387-399 (2010).
- 266. D. D. Houlihan *et al.*, Isolation of mouse mesenchymal stem cells on the basis of expression of Sca-1 and PDGFR-α. *Nature protocols* **7**, 2103-2111 (2012).
- 267. T. M. Consortium, Single-cell transcriptomics of 20 mouse organs creates a Tabula Muris. *Nature* **562**, 367-372 (2018).
- M. T. Rojewski, B. M. Weber, H. Schrezenmeier, Phenotypic characterization of mesenchymal stem cells from various tissues. *Transfusion Medicine and Hemotherapy* 35, 168-184 (2008).
- 269. M. J. Kiel *et al.*, SLAM family receptors distinguish hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells and reveal endothelial niches for stem cells. *Cell* **121**, 1109-1121 (2005).
- 270. J. Cheng, G. Rosario, T. V. Cohen, J. Hu, C. L. Stewart, Tissue-specific ablation of the LIF receptor in the murine uterine epithelium results in implantation failure. *Endocrinology* **158**, 1916-1928 (2017).
- 271. M. D. Young, S. Behjati, SoupX removes ambient RNA contamination from dropletbased single-cell RNA sequencing data. *Gigascience* **9**, giaa151 (2020).
- 272. T. Stuart *et al.*, Comprehensive Integration of Single-Cell Data. *Cell* **177**, 1888-1902 e1821 (2019).
- 273. C. Hafemeister, R. Satija, Normalization and variance stabilization of single-cell RNAseq data using regularized negative binomial regression. *Genome biology* **20**, 1-15 (2019).
- 274. A. N. Tikhonova *et al.*, The bone marrow microenvironment at single-cell resolution. *Nature* **569**, 222-228 (2019).
- 275. C. A. Schneider, W. S. Rasband, K. W. Eliceiri, NIH Image to ImageJ: 25 years of image analysis. *Nature methods* **9**, 671-675 (2012).
- 276. D. Aran, Z. Hu, A. J. Butte, xCell: digitally portraying the tissue cellular heterogeneity landscape. *Genome biology* **18**, 1-14 (2017).

- J. R. Bethea, G. Y. Gillespie, E. N. Benveniste, Interleukin-1β induction of TNF-α gene expression: Involvement of protein kinase C. *Journal of cellular physiology* 152, 264-273 (1992).
- 278. M. Dagenais *et al.*, The Interleukin (IL)-1R1 pathway is a critical negative regulator of PyMT-mediated mammary tumorigenesis and pulmonary metastasis. *Oncoimmunology* **6**, e1287247 (2017).
- 279. J. M. Bernitz, M. G. Daniel, Y. S. Fstkchyan, K. Moore, Granulocyte colony-stimulating factor mobilizes dormant hematopoietic stem cells without proliferation in mice. *Blood, The Journal of the American Society of Hematology* **129**, 1901-1912 (2017).
- J.-L. Escary, J. Perreau, D. Duménil, S. Ezine, P. Brûlet, Leukaemia inhibitory factor is necessary for maintenance of haematopoietic stem cells and thymocyte stimulation. *Nature* 363, 361-364 (1993).
- 281. C. B. Ware *et al.*, Targeted disruption of the low-affinity leukemia inhibitory factor receptor gene causes placental, skeletal, neural and metabolic defects and results in perinatal death. *Development* **121**, 1283-1299 (1995).
- 282. Y. D. Ma *et al.*, Defects in osteoblast function but no changes in long-term repopulating potential of hematopoietic stem cells in a mouse chronic inflammatory arthritis model. *Blood, The Journal of the American Society of Hematology* **114**, 4402-4410 (2009).
- 283. C. Lowe, J. Cornish, K. Callon, J. T. Martin, I. R. Reid, Regulation of osteoblast proliferation by leukemia inhibitory factor. *Journal of Bone and Mineral Research* **6**, 1277-1283 (1991).
- 284. K. Chang *et al.*, The cancer genome atlas pan-cancer analysis project. *Nat Genet* **45**, 1113-1120 (2013).
- 285. E. Sahai *et al.*, A framework for advancing our understanding of cancer-associated fibroblasts. *Nature Reviews Cancer* **20**, 174-186 (2020).
- 286. A. Bagaev *et al.*, Conserved pan-cancer microenvironment subtypes predict response to immunotherapy. *Cancer Cell* **39**, 845-865. e847 (2021).
- 287. M. Yamashita, E. Passegué, TNF-α coordinates hematopoietic stem cell survival and myeloid regeneration. *Cell stem cell* **25**, 357-372. e357 (2019).
- 288. M. A. Florez *et al.*, Interferon gamma mediates hematopoietic stem cell activation and niche relocalization through BST2. *Cell reports* **33**, 108530 (2020).
- 289. M. Etzrodt *et al.*, Inflammatory signals directly instruct PU. 1 in HSCs via TNF. *Blood, The Journal of the American Society of Hematology* **133**, 816-819 (2019).
- 290. L. V. Kovtonyuk *et al.*, IL-1 mediates microbiome-induced inflammaging of hematopoietic stem cells in mice. *Blood, The Journal of the American Society of Hematology* **139**, 44-58 (2022).
- J. L. Zhao *et al.*, Conversion of danger signals into cytokine signals by hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells for regulation of stress-induced hematopoiesis. *Cell stem cell* 14, 445-459 (2014).
- 292. L. Cassetta, T. Kitamura, Targeting tumor-associated macrophages as a potential strategy to enhance the response to immune checkpoint inhibitors. *Frontiers in cell and developmental biology* **6**, 38 (2018).
- 293. L. Wu, S. Saxena, M. Awaji, R. K. Singh, Tumor-associated neutrophils in cancer: going pro. *Cancers* **11**, 564 (2019).
- 294. E. Orphanidou-Vlachou, C. Tziakouri-Shiakalli, C. S. Georgiades, in *Seminars in Ultrasound, CT and MRI*. (Elsevier, 2014), vol. 35, pp. 255-262.

- 295. A. E. Denton, E. W. Roberts, D. T. Fearon, Stromal cells in the tumor microenvironment. *Stromal Immunology*, 99-114 (2018).
- 296. D. Malhotra, A. L. Fletcher, S. J. Turley, Stromal and hematopoietic cells in secondary lymphoid organs: partners in immunity. *Immunological reviews* **251**, 160-176 (2013).
- 297. B. M. Owens, Inflammation, innate immunity, and the intestinal stromal cell niche: opportunities and challenges. *Frontiers in immunology* **6**, 319 (2015).
- 298. N. Habib *et al.*, Div-Seq: Single-nucleus RNA-Seq reveals dynamics of rare adult newborn neurons. *Science* **353**, 925-928 (2016).
- 299. H. C. Roh *et al.*, Simultaneous transcriptional and epigenomic profiling from specific cell types within heterogeneous tissues in vivo. *Cell reports* **18**, 1048-1061 (2017).
- 300. J. Hol, L. Wilhelmsen, G. Haraldsen, The murine IL-8 homologues KC, MIP-2, and LIX are found in endothelial cytoplasmic granules but not in Weibel-Palade bodies. *Journal of leukocyte biology* **87**, 501-508 (2010).
- 301. H. Kimura, J. I. Cohen, Chronic active Epstein–Barr virus disease. *Frontiers in immunology* **8**, 1867 (2017).
- 302. U. Klein, R. Dalla-Favera, Germinal centres: role in B-cell physiology and malignancy. *Nature Reviews Immunology* **8**, 22-33 (2008).
- 303. K. Ozaki *et al.*, Overexpression of interleukin 21 induces expansion of hematopoietic progenitor cells. *International journal of hematology* **84**, 224-230 (2006).
- 304. D. Zotos *et al.*, IL-21 regulates germinal center B cell differentiation and proliferation through a B cell–intrinsic mechanism. *Journal of Experimental Medicine* **207**, 365-378 (2010).
- 305. N. A. Manieri, T. S. Stappenbeck, Mesenchymal stem cell therapy of intestinal disease: are their effects systemic or localized? *Current opinion in gastroenterology* **27**, 119 (2011).
- 306. J. J. Minguell, A. Erices, P. Conget, Mesenchymal stem cells. *Experimental biology and medicine* **226**, 507-520 (2001).
- 307. S. Testa *et al.*, Skeletal muscle-derived Human Mesenchymal Stem Cells: influence of different culture conditions on proliferative and myogenic capabilities. *Frontiers in physiology*, 1123 (2020).
- 308. L. da Silva Meirelles, A. I. Caplan, N. B. Nardi, In search of the in vivo identity of mesenchymal stem cells. *Stem cells* **26**, 2287-2299 (2008).
- 309. T. Yamazaki, Y.-s. Mukouyama, Tissue specific origin, development, and pathological perspectives of pericytes. *Frontiers in Cardiovascular Medicine* **5**, 78 (2018).
- 310. S. Metcalfe, LIF in the regulation of T-cell fate and as a potential therapeutic. *Genes & Immunity* **12**, 157-168 (2011).
- 311. C. D. Richards, The enigmatic cytokine oncostatin m and roles in disease. *International Scholarly Research Notices* **2013**, (2013).
- 312. M. Albiero *et al.*, Diabetes-associated myelopoiesis drives stem cell mobilopathy through an OSM-p66Shc signaling pathway. *Diabetes* **68**, 1303-1314 (2019).
- 313. C. Langdon, J. Leith, C. D. Richards, F. Smith, Oncostatin M stimulates monocyte chemoattractant protein-1-and interleukin-1-induced matrix metalloproteinase-1 production by human synovial fibroblasts in vitro. *Arthritis & Rheumatism: Official Journal of the American College of Rheumatology* **40**, 2139-2146 (1997).
- 314. W. Hui, M. Bell, G. Carroll, Detection of oncostatin M in synovial fluid from patients with rheumatoid arthritis. *Annals of the rheumatic diseases* **56**, 184-187 (1997).

- 315. T. Cawston *et al.*, The role of oncostatin M in animal and human connective tissue collagen turnover and its localization within the rheumatoid joint. *Arthritis & Rheumatism: Official Journal of the American College of Rheumatology* **41**, 1760-1771 (1998).
- 316. N. R. West *et al.*, Oncostatin M drives intestinal inflammation and predicts response to tumor necrosis factor–neutralizing therapy in patients with inflammatory bowel disease. *Nature medicine* **23**, 579-589 (2017).
- 317. Y. Lee *et al.*, IL-1 signaling is critically required in stromal cells in Kawasaki disease vasculitis mouse model: role of both IL-1α and IL-1β. *Arteriosclerosis, thrombosis, and vascular biology* **35**, 2605-2616 (2015).
- 318. M. Friedrich *et al.*, IL-1-driven stromal–neutrophil interactions define a subset of patients with inflammatory bowel disease that does not respond to therapies. *Nature medicine* **27**, 1970-1981 (2021).
- 319. L. Karlsson, P. Lindahl, J. K. Heath, C. Betsholtz, Abnormal gastrointestinal development in PDGF-A and PDGFR-(alpha) deficient mice implicates a novel mesenchymal structure with putative instructive properties in villus morphogenesis. *Development* 127, 3457-3466 (2000).
- 320. G. Greicius *et al.*, PDGFRα+ pericryptal stromal cells are the critical source of Wnts and RSPO3 for murine intestinal stem cells in vivo. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* **115**, E3173-E3181 (2018).
- 321. L. Kirby *et al.*, Oligodendrocyte precursor cells present antigen and are cytotoxic targets in inflammatory demyelination. *Nature communications* **10**, 1-20 (2019).
- 322. Y. Kubota, M. Hirashima, K. Kishi, C. L. Stewart, T. Suda, Leukemia inhibitory factor regulates microvessel density by modulating oxygen-dependent VEGF expression in mice. *The Journal of clinical investigation* **118**, 2393-2403 (2008).
- 323. M. Pepper, N. Ferrara, L. Orci, R. Montesano, Leukemia inhibitory factor (LIF) inhibits angiogenesis in vitro. *Journal of cell science* **108**, 73-83 (1995).
- 324. T. Mohri *et al.*, Leukemia inhibitory factor induces endothelial differentiation in cardiac stem cells. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* **281**, 6442-6447 (2006).
- 325. X. Li *et al.*, LIF maintains progenitor phenotype of endothelial progenitor cells via Krüppel-like factor 4. *Microvascular research* **84**, 270-277 (2012).
- 326. P. Li *et al.*, LIF, a mitogen for choroidal endothelial cells, protects the choriocapillaris: implications for prevention of geographic atrophy. *EMBO molecular medicine* **14**, e14511 (2022).
- 327. L. Chen *et al.*, Dynamic changes in murine erythropoiesis from birth to adulthood: implications for the study of murine models of anemia. *Blood advances* **5**, 16-25 (2021).
- 328. Á. Sánchez *et al.*, Stress erythropoiesis in atherogenic mice. *Scientific reports* **10**, 1-12 (2020).
- 329. W. Jing *et al.*, G-CSF shifts erythropoiesis from bone marrow into spleen in the setting of systemic inflammation. *Life science alliance* **4**, (2021).
- 330. E. Lefrançais *et al.*, The lung is a site of platelet biogenesis and a reservoir for haematopoietic progenitors. *Nature* **544**, 105-109 (2017).
- 331. R. Ceredig, T. Rolink, A positive look at double-negative thymocytes. *Nature Reviews Immunology* **2**, 888-897 (2002).

- 332. Y. Kozuka, T. Nasu, T. Murakami, M. Yasuda, Comparative studies on the secondary lymphoid tissue areas in the chicken bursa of Fabricius and calf ileal Peyer's patch. *Veterinary immunology and immunopathology* **133**, 190-197 (2010).
- 333. I.-N. Lu *et al.*, Tumor-associated hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells positively linked to glioblastoma progression. *Nature communications* **12**, 1-16 (2021).
- 334. P. T. Went *et al.*, Prevalence of KIT expression in human tumors. *Journal of clinical oncology* **22**, 4514-4522 (2004).
- 335. M. Medinger *et al.*, c-kit (CD117) expression in human tumors and its prognostic value: an immunohistochemical analysis. *Pathology & Oncology Research* **16**, 295-301 (2010).
- 336. V. P. Balachandran, R. P. DeMatteo, Gastrointestinal stromal tumors: who should get imatinib and for how long? *Advances in surgery* **48**, 165-183 (2014).
- 337. S. W. Lane, D. T. Scadden, D. G. Gilliland, The leukemic stem cell niche: current concepts and therapeutic opportunities. *Blood, The Journal of the American Society of Hematology* **114**, 1150-1157 (2009).
- 338. F. Miraki-Moud *et al.*, Acute myeloid leukemia does not deplete normal hematopoietic stem cells but induces cytopenias by impeding their differentiation. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* **110**, 13576-13581 (2013).
- 339. E. Viadana, I. Bross, J. Pickren, An autopsy study of the metastatic patterns of human leukemias. *Oncology* **35**, 87-96 (1978).
- 340. E. Perez-Figueroa *et al.*, Strong inflammatory response and Th1-polarization profile in children with acute lymphoblastic leukemia without apparent infection. *Oncology Reports* **35**, 2699-2706 (2016).
- 341. L. A. Godley, R. A. Larson, in *Seminars in oncology*. (Elsevier, 2008), vol. 35, pp. 418-429.
- 342. M.-C. Le Deley *et al.*, Anthracyclines, mitoxantrone, radiotherapy, and granulocyte colony-stimulating factor: risk factors for leukemia and myelodysplastic syndrome after breast cancer. *Journal of clinical oncology* **25**, 292-300 (2007).
- 343. H. Xiong *et al.*, Spleen plays a major role in DLL4-driven acute T-cell lymphoblastic leukemia. *Theranostics* **11**, 1594 (2021).